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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013

or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-36075

Evoke Pharma, Inc.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Chagr)

Delaware 20-844788¢€
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)

505 Lomas Santa Fe Drive, Suite 27

Solana Beach, California 92075
(Address of Principal Executive Offices (Zip Code)

858-345-1494
(Registrant’'s Telephone Number, Including Area Codg

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of Each Clas: Name of Each Exchange on Which Register:
Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per shal The NASDAQ Capital Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) diie Act:

None




Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edBéturities Act.  Yed No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ord}5f the Act. Yes[O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranthég filed all reports required to be filed by Seweti3 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofah$or such shorter period that the registrans wemjuired to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementsie past 90 days. Ye&l No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥&eb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted auntsio Rule 405 of Regulation5¢8232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@grbnths
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files)XI Yes [ No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ aontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowtedig definitive proxy or information statementsamporated by reference in Part Il of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kl

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer or a smaller reporting
company. See definitions of “large accelerated™ifeaccelerated filer” and “smaller reporting coamp/” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
(Check one):

Large accelerated file [J Accelerated filel O

Non-accelerated file O Smaller reporting compar

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the 8tes Exchange Act of
1934). YesO No

As of March 20, 2014, the aggregate market valub@fegistrant’'s common stock held by non-affdgabf the registrant was
approximately $27,627,705, based on the closincpf the registrant’'s common stock on the NASDA#piEIl Market of $10.34 per share.

The number of outstanding shares of the regissamimmon stock, par value $0.0001 per share, B&ofh 20, 2014 was 6,099,547.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy stagnt to be filed with the Securities and Exchangen@ission pursuant to Regulation
14A in connection with the registrant's 2014 Anniveting of Stockholders, which will be filed sugsent to the date hereof, are

incorporated by reference into Part 111 of this fot0-K. Such proxy statement will be filed with tBecurities and Exchange Commission not
later than 120 days following the end of the regist's fiscal year ended December 31, 2013.
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PART |

Forward-Looking Statements and Market Data

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forwaabking statements” within the meaning of SectioA &7 the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21theoSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendetthedExchange Act. All statements other
than statements of historical facts contained im Amnual Report on Form 10-K, including statemeaetgarding our future results of operations
and financial position, business strategy, prospegroducts, product approvals, research and dpwent costs, timing and likelihood of
success, plans and objectives of management farefoperations, and future results of current anitipated products are forward-looking
statements. These statements involve known andowrknisks, uncertainties and other important facthat may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially déffefrom any future results, performance or achiexats expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statement. The forward-looking staents are contained principally in the sectioniled “Risk Factors,” “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &websults of Operations” and “Business.” In some sageu can identify forward-looking
statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “sholltéxpect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend;, “target,” “project,” “contemplates,”
“believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” dcontinue” or the negative of these terms or other similaresgions. Although we believe t
expectations reflected in these forward-lookingesteents are reasonable, such statements are itlgenginject to risk and we can give no
assurances that our expectations will prove todpeect. Given these risks, uncertainties and didmetors, you should not place undue reliance
on these forward-looking statements, which spedk as of the date of this Annual Report on FormKLO¢ou should read this Annual Report
on Form 10-K completely. As a result of many fastancluding without limitation those set forth wndRisk Factors” under Item 1A of this
Part | below, and elsewhere in this Annual ReporEForm 10-K, our actual results may differ matdyifdlom those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements. Except as requiredfplieable law, we undertake no obligation to updhgse forward-looking statements to
reflect events or circumstances after the datisfreport or to reflect actual outcomes. For aiard-looking statements, we claim the
protection of the safe harbor for forward-lookingtements contained in the Private Securities afitign Reform Act of 1995.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K also contains eatés, projections and other information concermngindustry, our business, and the
markets for EVKO01, including data regarding the estimated sizba$e markets, their projected growth rates,nib@leénce of certain medic
conditions, statements that certain drugs, clasdsigs are the most widely prescribed in the &thibtates or other markets, the perceptions
and preferences of patients and physicians regauagirtain therapies and other prescription, presciand patient data, as well as data
regarding market research, estimates and forepespared by our management. Information that isdas estimates, forecasts, projections,
market research or similar methodologies is inhfresubject to uncertainties and actual eventsroumstances may differ materially from
events and circumstances reflected in this infolonatJnless otherwise expressly stated, we obtatinedndustry, business, market and other
data from reports, research surveys, studies anithsidata prepared by market research firms ahdrdhird parties, industry, medical and
general publications, government data and simdarces

We use our registered trademark, EVOKE PHARMA his Annual Report on Form 10-K. This Annual ReportForm 10-K also includes
trademarks, tradenames and service marks thateagoperty of other organizations. Solely for camence, trademarks and tradenames
referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K agopeithout the® and ™ symbols, but those references are not intetwimdicate, in any
way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extantler applicable law, our rights or that the aggilie owner will not assert its rights, to these
trademarks and tradenames.

Unless the context requires otherwise, referentdsis Annual Report on Form 10-K to “Evoke,” “wélis” and “our” refer to Evoke Pharma,
Inc.

Item 1. Business
OVERVIEW

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company focusathgly on the development of drugs to treat gaistestinal, or Gl, disorders and
diseases. We are developing EVK-001, a metocloglamasal spray for the relief of symptoms assatiaiéh acute and recurrent diabetic
gastroparesis in women with diabetes mellitus. Bli@tgastroparesis is a Gl disorder afflicting rils of sufferers worldwide in which the
stomach takes too long to empty its contents riegpilh serious digestive system symptoms. Metoelopde is the only product currently
approved in the United States to treat gastropgrasd is currently available only in oral andawgnous forms. EVK-001 is a novel
formulation of this drug, designed to provide systedelivery of metoclopramide through intranasdthinistration.

Gastroparesis is a condition of delayed gastrictgimg in the absence of mechanical obstruction.ti@paresis results in food remaining in the
stomach for a longer time than normal, yieldingaaety of symptoms. Gastroparesis is a common pmlih individuals with diabetes, but a

is observed in patients with prior gastric surgerpreceding infectious iliness, pseudo-obstructiotiagen vascular disorders and anorexia
nervosa. According to the American Motility Socidtgsk Force on Gastroparesis, the prevalence tfogasesis is estimated to be up to 49
the United States population. Symptoms of gastegsinclude nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain,thigaearly satiety, lack of appetite, and
weight loss. The disorder can lead to considerphie and discomfort, poor nutrition, impaired glgge control and diminished quality of life.
According to a 2008 study published in #hmerican Journal of Gastroenterologit is estimated that hospitalization costs assedi with
gastroparesis exceed $3.5 billion annuz



We believe intranasal administration has the pé@ktt offer our target gastroparesis patientsedgured treatment option because, unlike oral
metoclopramide which might be delayed in absorptioa to gastroparesis itself, EVK-001 is desigmeeffectively bypass the digestive
system and allow for more predictable drug admiai&in across the thin mucosa in the nasal caFity patients suffering from nausea and

vomiting who might not be able to absorb therapsutia oral delivery, EVK-001 is designed to alltaw rapid and predictable drug
administration through the nasal route.
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We have evaluated EVK-001 in a multicenter, randemj double-blind, placebo-controlled parallel grodose-ranging Phase 2b clinical trial
in 287 patients with diabetic gastroparesis whé&r&#B01 was observed to be effective in improving thost prevalent and clinically relevant
symptoms associated with gastroparesis in womelewkhibiting a favorable safety profile. We planiitiate a Phase 3 trial of EVK-001 in
female patients with symptoms associated with aaanterecurrent diabetic gastroparesis in the tiast of 2014. We anticipate receiving topl
data from this trial in mid-2015. We will need tacsessfully complete this trial, as well as a thiglo QT, or TQT, study, which is an
evaluation of cardiac safety, before we are abkutimit a new drug application, or NDA, to the Ur8od and Drug Administration, or FDA,
for EVK-001. FDA approval of the NDA is required amder for us to commercially market EVK-001 in teited States. In addition, based or
our discussions with the FDA, we plan to condusingilar study for safety and efficacy in male pateewith symptoms associated with acute
and recurrent diabetic gastroparesis to assesathgy and efficacy of EVK-001 in men. We anticg#iis trial will be conducted concurrently
with the Phase 3 trial in women. The completiothef male companion trial is not required for sutsiois of the NDA for EVK-001 for
women; however, we expect to include safety damnfthis trial in our NDA submission for EVK-001.

At this time, due to the risks inherent in the ddeyelopment process, we are unable to estimakeaniyj certainty the costs we will incur in 1
continued development of EVK-001 for potential coeraialization. However, we currently estimate thets to complete our Phase 3 clinical
trial in women, our companion clinical trial in mand a TQT study of EVK-001 will be approximateli550 million.

Business Strategy

Our objective is to develop and bring to marketdoicis to treat acute and chronic Gl motility disedthat are not satisfactorily treated with
current therapies and that represent significamketapportunities. Our business strategy is to:

» Continue development and pursue regulatory approraEVK-001.We are currently preparing to initiate a Phasead of EVK-
001 in female patients suffering from diabetic ggsaresis in the first half of 201

e Seek partnerships to accelerate and maximize ttenpal for EVK-001As we continue to generate data on EVK-001, we seifik
partnering opportunities with pharmaceutical conipsauthat have established development and salesiarigeting capabilities to
potentially enhance and accelerate the developar@htommercialization of EV-001.

» Explore building irhouse capabilities to potentially commercializeke®01 in the United StateAs EVK-001 progresses through
its Phase 3 clinical program, in addition to paritmg opportunities, we intend to evaluate the depeient of our own specialty sa
force and marketing capabilities to allow us teedily market EVI-001 in the United States, if approved by the FI

» Explore regulatory approval of E\-001 outside the United State®/e will initially seek approval of EVK-001 in tHénited States
and evaluate the market opportunity in other coesu

» Evaluate the development and/or commercializatifootioer therapies for GI motility disorde. Similar to our initial focus on
gastroparesis, we will evaluate opportunities tiidanse or acquire other product candidates, disaseeommercial products, to
treat patients suffering from predominantly Gl disers, seeking to identify areas of high unmet wedieeds with limited
treatment options

The Gastrointestinal Market

The health of the GI system has a major effectroimdividual’s daily activities and quality of lifé retrospective review published by the
National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive andrigy Diseases estimated that in 2004 there were than 72 million ambulatory care vis
with a diagnosis of a Gl disorder in the Unitedt&aalone. The annual cost of these Gl disorde28@4, not including digestive cancers and
viral diseases, was estimated to be greater tha# Billion in direct and indirect expenditures,luding hospital, physician and nursing serv
as well as over-the-counter and prescription drugs.

In 2004, the total cost of Gl prescription drugshia United States was $12.3 billion, and over béthis cost ($7.7 billion) was associated v
drugs prescribed for Gastroesophageal Reflux DiseasGERD. Peptic Ulcer disease, hepatitis Gabie bowel syndrome, or IBS, and
inflammatory bowel disease were major contributorthe remaining drug cost. Historically Gl proddetvelopment efforts have focused on
indications with the largest patient populationstsas GERD, constipation, peptic ulcers and IBSaAasult, limited innovation has occurred
in other segments of the Gl market, such as uppendlity disorders, even though these disordéfsca several million patients worldwide.
Consequently, due to the limited treatment optibrailable for upper Gl motility disorders, we bgbethere is a substantial market opportunity
for us to address significant unmet medical nemitially for diabetic gastroparesis.

Gl Motility Disorders

Motility disorders are one of the most common Glodders. Motility disorders affect the orderly aaations or relaxation of the Gl tract whi
move contents forward and prevent backwards egféssis important in the normal movement of fobtbugh the Gl tract. Motility disorders
are sometimes referred to as functional Gl disartiehighlight that many abnormalities in stomaahction can occur even when anatomic
structures appear normal. Functional Gl disordfexthe upper and lower Gl tract and include ggsresis, GERD, functional dyspepsia,
constipation and IBS. It has been estimated byriteznational Foundation for Functional Gastroitited Disorders that one in four people in
the United States suffer from functional Gl disasjldaving symptoms such as abdominal pain, nausedting, constipation, diarrhea,
bloating, decreased appetite, early satiety, swallg difficulties, heartburn and/or incontinen:
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Gastroparesis

Gastroparesis is a debilitating, chronic conditivet has a significant impact on patients’ livéss icharacterized by slow or delayed gastric
emptying and evidence of gastric retention in theeace of mechanical obstruction. Muscular coritrastin the stomach, which move food
into the intestine, may be too slow, out of rhytbntease altogether. The following graph depiastithning associated the emptying of solids
in patients with diabetic gastroparesis compareatbtoal individuals:

M —

emptying
of solids

solids

emplying
al ligquids

Liguids ar Sallds In Stemach (% of total consumad)

&

Hairs

Camillers M. Mew Englamd Joumal of Medwcime 2007

The stomach is a muscular sac between the esophadubke small intestine where the digestion ofifoegins. The stomach makes acids anc
enzymes referred to as gastric juices which aredwith food by the churning action of the stomaulscles. Peristalsis is the contraction anc
relaxation of the stomach muscles to physicallyakdewn food and propel it forward. The crushed mmixed food is liquefied to form chyme
and is pushed through the pyloric canal into thalsmtestine in a controlled and regulated manner.

In gastroparesis, the stomach does not perforne thegtions normally causing characteristic symtahat include nausea, vomiting, early
satiety, bloating, and abdominal pain. As a restthese symptoms, patients may limit their food &quid intake leading to poor nutrition and
dehydration with the patient ultimately requiringsipitalization. If left untreated or not adequatedated, gastroparesis causes significant acu
and chronic medical problems, including additiotiabetic complications resulting from poor glucasatrol.

Gastroparesisin the Hospital Setting

When patients experience a flare of their gastegiarsymptoms that cannot be adequately managedhbgedications, they may be
hospitalized for hydration, parenteral nutritiondacorrection of abnormal blood glucose or elegteolevels. In this setting, intravenous
metoclopramide is the first line of treatment. Toglly, these diabetic patients with severe gastegis symptoms remain in the hospital until
they are stabilized and able to be effectivelytadavith oral metoclopramide. These hospitalizegiare costly and expose patients to increase
risks, including hospital-acquired infections. Tiember of patients with gastroparesis that reduiigpitalization due to their disease is
growing, according to a study published in the Aicaar Journal of Gastroenterology in 2008. Additibnahe study reported, from 1995 to
2004, total hospitalizations with a primary diagisa¥ gastroparesis increased 158%. Hospital adomis$or patients with gastroparesis as the
secondary diagnosis increased 136%. The averagthlefistay for a patient is approximately six dayan estimated cost of approximately
$22,000. Compared to the other four most commoru@b admission diagnoses (GERD, gastric ulcettrigigsor nonspecific
nausea/vomiting), gastroparesis had the longegthesf stay and one of the highest total chargestag. Additionally, the study estimates that
costs associated with gastroparesis as the priovagcondary diagnosis for admission exceededisiticn in 2004.

A study of patients in clinics at the UniversityRittsburgh Medical Center between January 20040swdmber 2008 published in the Journal
of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, showed thaepet with diabetic or post-surgical gastroparésid significantly more emergency room
visits than other gastroparesis groups. The steihfarced the view that gastroparesis constitutgigrificant burden for patients and the
healthcare system, with more than one-third ofgoéisi requiring hospitalization. The number of eraany room visits and annual days of
inpatient treatment were comparable to patients ®iohn’s disease. The study indicated that patieteived an average of 6.7 prescriptions
on admission. Eighty percent of the patients idieatiin the University of Pittsburgh study were wem

3
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Etiology

Gastroparesis can be a manifestation of many sysi#nesses, arise as a complication of seleagisat procedures, or develop due to
unknown causes. Any disease inducing neuromusdytdunction of the Gl tract can result in gastr@s#s, with diabetes being one of the
leading known causes. In a 2007 study publishecliment Gastroenterology Reports, 29% of gastrgimmases were found in association
with diabetes, 13% developed as a complicationugfery and 36% were due to unknown causes. Acoptdithe American Motility Society
Task Force on Gastroparesis, up to 4% of the LbBulation experiences symptomatic manifestatiorgastroparesis. As the incidence of
diabetes rises worldwide, the prevalence of gaategis is expected to rise correspondingly.

The most common identified cause of gastroparssisabetes mellitus. The underlying mechanism albeliic gastroparesis is unknown;
although, it is thought to be related in part tanopathic changes in the vagus nerve and/or thentesie plexus. Prolonged elevated serum
glucose levels are also associated with vagus ramege. The vagus nerve controls the movemewbadfthrough the digestive tract and
when it is damaged, forward movement of food thiotlge Gl tract is delayed. The prevalence of diebat the United States is rapidly rising,
with the Centers for Disease Control estimating ¢ime in ten adults currently suffer from the dismaSedentary lifestyles, poor dietary habits
and a consequent rising prevalence of obesity)greated to cause this number to grow substantially.

According to a study published in the Journal o§tBantestinal and Liver Diseases in July 2010ween 25% and 55% of Type 1 and 15%
and 30% of Type 2 diabetics suffer from symptonsoemted with the condition and diabetics are 29% e total gastroparesis population. A
2007 study published in Current Gastroenterologydrs states that approximately 36% of gastropsuesients suffer from idiopathic
gastroparesis. The development of idiopathic gpatesis is thought to be related to loss of my@ntamnglion cells in the distal large bowel
(myenteric hypoganglionosis) and reduction in titeristitial cells of Cajal, which help control coatttion of the smooth muscle in the Gl tract.
Post-surgical gastroparesis is a smaller subg&eabtal patient pool and accounts for approxifgat8% of all cases of the disease, according
to a 2007 study published in Current GastroentgsoReports. Posturgical gastroparesis is often associated withigefcer surgery, bariatr
procedures or esophageal procedures and is thaugigult from damage/desensitization of the vamarse.

Prevalence

In 2011, the American Diabetes Association estich#ttat diabetes affects approximately 26 millioogle of all ages in the United States,
equating to about 8.3% of the U.S. population. Base prevalence data, the potential gastroparesisnt pool in the United States is
approximately 12 to 16 million adults with womenkimey up 82% of this population, according to a 28&y published in Current
Gastroenterology Reports. There are 2.3 milliobeliw patients with moderate or severe gastropasysnptoms who are seeking treatment in
the United States by a health care professionafrding to a recent study presented at the Digefigease Week 2013 conference in Orla
Florida. When patients do receive treatment fotrgaaresis, multiple medications are frequentlyduseaddress the individual symptoms of
gastroparesis. For example, patients may receitreearetics for nausea and vomiting and opioidsatmominal pain, which can exacerbate
delayed gastric emptying in patients with gastrepi:

Unmet Needs in Gastroparesis Treatment

Market research and physician interviews demoresthatt existing treatment options for diabetic ggxiresis are inadequate and there is a
level of interest in effective outpatient optiolms managing patients with gastroparesis symptoie.rifarket is currently served by oral and
intravenous metoclopramide, and the oral disintaggaablet, or ODT, formulation of metoclopramidetozolv® ODT), with approximately

5 million prescriptions in the United States pearyeccording to IMS Health. Due to the limited itadzility of FDA-approved treatments for
gastroparesis, physicians resort to using meditatioff-label” in an attempt to address individsgmptoms experienced by patients. Off-labe
therapies are pharmaceuticals prescribed by playsidor an unapproved indication or in an unappit@ge group, unapproved dose or
unapproved form of administration. Examples of druged without FDA approval in gastroparesis inejuaythromycin, domperidone, and
Botox®injected via endoscopic procedure directly intoldveer gastric sphincter. Previously-approved drsgeh as cisapride and tegaserod,
are no longer commercially available in the Unigtdtes because of safety concerns.

EVK-001 is a non-oral, promotility and anti-emettieatment that we believe has the potential toifogmtly improve the standard of care for
female gastroparesis patients. If metoclopramidmingpray is approved for diabetic gastroparesigomen, patients and physicians will have
access to an outpatient therapy that could be ast®ind and absorbed even when patients are erpirienausea and vomiting.

Our Solution: EVK-001 (Metoclopramide Nasal Spray)

We are developing EVK-001, a dopamine antagoniskéd 5-HT3 antagonist / 5-HT4 agonist with prortigtiand anti-emetic effects, for the
relief of symptoms associated with acute and reciiiabetic gastroparesis in women with diabetellitors. Since its approval in 1980, oral
and intravenous metoclopramide have been the antjuets approved in the United States to treargpatesis. EVK-001 is a novel
formulation of metoclopramide offering systemicidety by intranasal administration.

We are developing the intranasal formulation ofounketpramide to provide our targeted patients withte or recurrent symptoms of diabetic
gastroparesis with a product that can be systelyidalivered as an alternative to the oral or imérgous routes of administration. Intranasal
delivery is possible because the mucosa of thd pasdty is a single epithelial cell layer whichviell vascularized and allows metoclopramide
molecules to be transferred directly to the systezitculation. There is no first pass liver metédol required prior to onset of action. Sir



gastroparesis is a disease that blocks or slowmstwvement of the contents of the stomach to thdl sntestine, oral drug administration is
often compromised. Unlike the oral tablet formudatdf metoclopramide, we believe that EVK-001 maytdierated even when patients are
experiencing nausea and vomiting. The intranasalditation may also provide a predictable and caestasmeans of delivering
metoclopramide in patients with delayed gastric ging and/or frequent vomiting.

4
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We believe that if approved EVK-001 could also pHe alternative route of administration for fempégients with severe symptoms of
diabetic gastroparesis, who typically receive titeavenous formulation of metoclopramide. A nagadg formulation of metoclopramide cor
offer an alternative route of administration fomi@e patients with severe symptoms of diabeticrgpatesis receiving the parenteral
formulation of metoclopramide. Following hospitaliion for intravenous metoclopramide, a nasal sfweyulation would also provide a non-
oral option for the transition to an outpatientatreent.

Phase 2b Clinical Trial

We have evaluated EVK-001 in a multicenter, randeuh double-blind, placebo-controlled parallel grodose-ranging Phase 2b clinical trial
in 287 subjects (79% female) with diabetic gastresis. Subjects in the trial were between the a§é&8 and 75, with a history of diabetes
(type | and type Il) and diabetic gastroparesisp Wwad a baseline modified Gastroparesis Cardinapfym Index Daily Diary, or mGCSI-DD,
of > 2 and < 4 for the seven days prior to randativn on the drug or placebo.

In this trial, EVK-001 demonstrated effectivenassaducing the most common and clinically relevemptoms associated with gastroparesis
in women, while exhibiting a favorable safety plofiEVK-001 was shown to provide a statisticallgrgficant clinical benefit as defined by a
reduction in the symptoms of gastroparesis as meddy the mGCSI-DD in womernp(<0.025). Male subjects treated with EVK-001 showed
some improvement in gastroparesis symptoms, butatidhow a statistically significant differencergmared to placebo. Due to these resul
men, the primary objective of statistical significa in the overall population was not achieved=0.15).

We believe this Phase 2b trial is the largest evaducted in a diabetic gastroparesis populatioarfy approved metoclopramide dosage fc
(oral tablet, orally disintegrating tablet and awenous). Previous metoclopramide studies enrsheall numbers of subjects and did not
evaluate gender. Fewer than 150 subjects wereledi@tross all studies included in the NDA for RegIThe results of the Phase 2b trial are
consistent with what is known about gender effectsther GI motility disorders. Gl motility and fational Gl disorders, including
gastroparesis, are more common in females tharaleanAlso, healthy females generally have slovestrgc emptying rates. In a study
conducted at Temple University (Parkman, et alyrgaemptying of solid food in normal young womeassshown to be slower than in age-
matched men, even in the first 10 days of the mealstycle when estrogen and progesterone levellar, and the delay in gastric emptying
of solids in women appears to be primarily duelterad distal gastric motor function. One explamatinay be that less vigorous antral
contractions may contribute to slower breakdowfootl particles and thus delay the rate of emptying.

Gastrointestinal disorders present differently mles and females and responses to therapy vargrideg There is general consensus among
thought leaders in Gl motility that women have ghleir prevalence of symptoms, their neural and sgmathways differ, and hormones, such
as estrogen and progesterone, play a role. Whl&K-001 Phase 2b trial is the first report ofemder-based difference in response to
metoclopramide among subjects with diabetic gastegs, gender effects have been reported in dudies for other Gl disorders, such as
IBS. For example, products such as Lotrofiéalosetron), Zelnor® (tegaserod) and Amitiz&(lubiprostone) were approved by FDA base(
effectiveness in women, but not in men.

Phase 2b Trial Design

The Phase 2b clinical trial consisted of up to ala@ screening period and a seven-day washoutdyddlbowed by 28 days of treatment with
study drug. We evaluated two dosage strengths ¢-B¥1: 10 mg and 14 mg; as well as placebo. Theystinug was administered for the 28-
day treatment period as a single intranasal spraytimes daily, 30 minutes before meals and atitmed Subjects recorded the severity of tl
gastroparesis symptoms in a telephonic diary usinmteractive voice response system once eachlth@ysymptoms were analyzed using a
patient reported outcomes instrument, the GastegmaCardinal Symptom Index Daily Diary, or GCSI-Di2veloped for collecting and
analyzing data to evaluate the effectiveness atrments for gastroparesis. The GCSI-DD contains aymptoms (nausea, retching, vomiting,
stomach fullness, not able to finish a normal sizedl, feeling excessively full after meal, lossappetite, bloating, and stomach or belly
visibly larger) grouped in three subscales. Théydsiore is calculated as a mean of three subsoaéms. Additional symptoms collected in the
daily diary included abdominal pain, abdominal diséort, number of hours of nausea, number of egisad vomiting, and overall severity of
gastroparesis symptoms. In close collaboration thighFDA and its Study Endpoint and Labeling Dietsithese additional symptom data w
used to further refine the patient reported outcomerument. The result is a mGCSI-DD compriseébaf symptoms (nausea, early satiety,
bloating, and upper abdominal pain) rated from Zeome) to five (very severe). The instrument hasrboptimized to detect symptom
variability on a severity continuum from nauseadmiting.

Phase 2b Efficacy Results

Two patient reported outcome endpoints (MGCSI-D® @ SI-DD) were examined in the intention-to-trpapulation based the protocol
design and FDA communications:

e The primary efficacy endpoint was the changenfseven-day baseline to Week 4 of the treatmetdga the mGCSI-DD total
score (mean of four symptom

e The second efficacy endpoint analyzed was llamge from seven-day baseline to Week 4 of thénterat period in the GCSI-DD
total score (mean of three subset means with hdbtane symptoms)

Although an overall improvement in symptoms waseobsd in EVK-001-treated patients with diabetic gastroparesis coatptr placebo, th



difference was not statistically significant dueatbigh placebo response among male subjects. Howaatistically significant improvement
gastroparesis symptoms was observed in femalectahjdth diabetic gastroparesis as measured bsn€SI-DD and GCSI-DD total scores
for both doses of EVK-001 compared to the placdtne beneficial effect of treatment in females appéa be uniform. The results are
consistent across the overall endpoints, the iddal components, and the two dose groups.
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The observed differences in efficacy were basedamuer and were not due to severity of baselireadis or other demographic characteristic:
No statistically significant differences were ohsat in efficacy between the 10 mg and 14 mg I-001 doses; thus the 10 mg dose was
considered the lowest effective dose in this stddie table below summarizes thevalues observed for both doses of EVK-001 comp#oed
placebo in the Phase 2b clinical trial acrossuijexcts and for male and female patients separately

EVK-001 Phase 2b Clinical Trial
Gastroparesis Study Endpoint Points -Value Summary
(EVK-001 vs. Placebo: Change from Baseline to WeeR

EVK-001 EVK-001
10 mg 14 mg
p -values p -values
MGCSI-DD Total Score (per FDA guidance) (1
All Subjects 0.150¢ 0.300¢
Females 0.024" 0.021¢
Males 0.449; 0.217¢
GCSI-DD Total Score (per trial protocol) (2)
All Subjects 0.227; 0.526¢
Females 0.048¢ 0.043"
Males 0.405¢ 0.097:

P -values for pairwise comparisons are obtained fammANCOVA model with effects for treatment grougldaseline value as a covariate.

(1) The mGCSI-DD was comprised of 4 symptoms ctdiéon a severity rating scale of O to 5. Baselas 7 days prior to treatment or
qualifying days during washout and Week 4 was @dy® 27 of treatmen

(2) The GCSI-DD was comprised of 9 symptoms calldain a severity rating scale of 0 to 5. Baseliae Wdays prior to treatment or
qualifying days during washout and Week 4 was @dyt 27 of treatmen
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The table below summarizes the key data from thkacross all subjects and for female and malengesgs separately:

EVK-001 Phase 2b Clinical Trial

Primary Endpoint: Mean mGCSI-DD Total Score Change
from Baseline to Week 4 by All Subjects and Gender
(intent-to-treat, last observation carried forward on treatment)

Metoclopramide

Metoclopramide

Time Placebo 10 mg IN 14 mg IN
Point (N=95) (N=96) (N=96)
ALL SUBJECTS
Baseline (1
N 95 96 96
Mean (SD) 2.8 (0.57) 2.9 (0.60) 2.8 (0.62)
Week 4
N 95 96 96
Mean (SD) 1.8 (1.00) 1.6 (1.06) 1.7 (0.90)
Change from Baseline to Weel
N 95 96 96
Mean (SD) -1.0 (0.89 -1.2 (1.18) -1.2 (0.94)
Difference of Least Square Means (95% -0.20 -0.47, 0.07,  -0.14 -0.42, 0.13
Pairwisep -value vs. Placebo (: 0.1504 0.3005
Difference of Least Square Means (95% 0.06 +~0.22, 0.33
Pairwisep -value vs. Metoclopramide 10 mg ( 0.6830
FEMALES
Baseline (1
N 68 65 70
Mean (SD) 2.7 (0.54) 2.9 (0.62) 2.9 (0.62)
Week 4
N 68 65 70
Mean (SD) 1.9 (1.02) 1.6 (1.08) 1.7 (0.94)
Change from Baseline to Weel
N 68 65 70
Mean (SD) -0.8 (0.79 -1.2 (1.18) -1.3(0.98)
Difference of Least Square Means (95% -0.38 +0.71,-0.05) -0.38 -0.71,-0.06)
Pairwisep -value vs. Placebo (: 0.0247 0.0215
Difference of Least Square Means (95% -0.00 -0.33, 0.32
Pairwisep -value vs. Metoclopramide 10 mg ( 0.9864
MALES
Baseline (1
N 27 31 26
Mean (SD) 2.9 (0.63) 2.8 (0.54) 2.5 (0.56)
Week 4
N 27 31 26
Mean (SD) 1.4 (0.84) 1.6 (1.05) 1.7 (0.79)
Change from Baseline to Weel
N 27 31 26
Mean (SD) -1.4 (0.98 -1.2 (1.21) -0.9 (0.78)
Difference of Least Square Means (95% 0.18 +0.30, 0.66 0.32 +0.19, 0.83
Pairwisep -value vs. Placebo (: 0.4497 0.2174
Difference of Least Square Means (95% 0.14(-0.35, 0.63
Pairwisep -value vs. Metoclopramide 10 mg ( 0.5805

(1) Baseline is defined as the mean mG-DD total score during the washout per
(2) p-values for pairwise comparisons are obtained fabnanalysis of covariance, or ANCOVA, model witfeefs for treatment group and
baseline value as a covari
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Phase 2b Safety Observations

In the Phase 2b clinical trial, EVK-001 10 mg addmg doses were well-tolerated and no differencdke safety profiles were observed
between the two doses administered. No seriougse&levents occurred related to study treatmeraddiition, there were no clinically-
meaningful differences observed in clinical laborgtparameters, physical examination findings,lecteocardiogram recordings. Adverse
events that occurred more commonly in both EVK-00Ing and 14 mg doses compared to placeb®d% wlifference between treated
compared to placebo groups) were dysgeusia, headaabal discomfort, rhinorrhea, throat irritatifatigue, hypoglycemia and
hyperglycemia. The majority of adverse events wneitd to moderate and transient in nature.

Treatment-Emergent Adverse Events Reported by Mor¢han 2 Subjects in Any Treatment Group

All Subjects

System Organ Class Preferre( Placebo EVK-00110 m¢ EVK-001 14 mq
Term (N = 95) (N = 95) (N = 95)
Nervous System Disorde

Dysgeusic 4 (4.2% 12 (12.6% 13 (13.7%

Headach 4 (4.2% 7 (7.4% 8 (8.4%

Dizziness 2(21% 3(32% 3(3.2%
Gastrointestinal Disorde

Diarrhea 9 (9.5% 3 (3.2% 2(2.1%

Nause: 4 (4.2% 1(1.1% 4 (4.2%

Gastroesophageal reflux disei 1(1.1% 4 (4.2% 0 (0.0%
Respiratory, Thoracic, and Mediastinal Disorc

Epistaxis 2(2.1% 2(2.1% 3(3.2%

Cough 2 (2.1% 0 (0.0% 3(3.2%

Nasal discomfor 0 (0.0% 3(32% 2(2.1%

Rhinorrhee 1(1.1% 1(1.1% 3 (3.2%

Throat irritation 1(1.1% 0 (0.0% 3(3.2%
Infections and Infestatior

Upper respiratory tract infectic 4 (4.2% 0 (0.0% 2(2.1%

Nasopharyngiti 1(1.1% 3(3.2% 1(1.1%
General Disorders and Admin Site Conditit

Fatigue 1(1.1% 5 (5.3% 6 (6.3%
Metabolism & Nutrition Disorder

Hyperglycemie 1(1.1% 1(1.1% 3 (3.2%

Hypoglycemia 1(1.1% 1(1.1% 3(3.2%
Psychiatric Disorder

Depressior 3(3.2% 0 (0.0% 0 (0.0%

Phase 1 Comparative Bioavailability Bridging Stt

Our Phase 1 clinical trial of EVK-001 was an opehéll, four-treatment, four-period, four-sequenassover study conducted at a single stud
center. Forty healthy volunteers were enrolled rmdlomly assigned to one of four treatment sequemdféer an overnight fast, subjects
received a single dose of each of the metoclopraitn@htments (10 mg EVK-001, 20 mg EVK-001, 10 g tablet, and 5 mg/mL injection)

in random sequence with a seven-day washout pbatwieen doses. Thirty nine subjects received at mze dose of metoclopramide. The
pharmacokinetic analysis population consisted ofdjects who received all four treatments andsulgjects who received three of the four
treatments.

After intranasal administration of the 10 mg andn2§ doses of EVK-001, mean plasma metoclopramideerations increased in a dose-
related manner, as did mean values for C max an@ fAhf). The absolute bioavailability of EVK-001taf intranasal administration was
comparable for the 10 mg (47.4%) and 20 mg (52.886ks as were the bioavailabilities relative todtes tablet (60.1% and 66.5%,
respectively). The graphs below illustrate the mglasma concentrations of the active ingrediethétwo doses of EVK-001 as well as the
oral and injection forms.
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EVK-001 Phase 1 Clinical Trial
Mean Plasma Concentrations of Metoclopramide
(15 minute intervals 0-2h)

- 10mg ™

a5 S, - 200mg M
'-,,_M._
Al 4 " & {mg Oira

. 364 o ,. I " : - ) i k. R

ofe [ngiml)
L
-

Fy

Prior Developmen

From 1985 to present, we, or our predecessors, taviducted 24 clinical studies to evaluate thetgafad pharmacokinetic profile of nasal
spray formulations of metoclopramide in healthywdéers and the safety, efficacy, pharmacokineticgharmacodynamic profile of
metoclopramide nasal spray in patients. A totdl,0685 patients have been dosed in these studiesntiainasal formulations of
metoclopramide at doses ranging from 10 mg to 80Imgne study, a Phase 2, multicenter, randomizpen-label, parallel design study,
Questcor Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or Questcor, coadpdue efficacy and safety of two doses of metaelopde nasal spray, 10 mg and 20 mg,
with the FDA-approved 10 mg metoclopramide taliet. the primary efficacy endpoint in the per praigeopulation analysis, a statistically
significant difference in the total symptom scoetveen baseline and week 6 for both the nasal 1Qpmg0.026) and nasal 20 mg (p = 0.008)
cohorts compared to the oral 10 mg group was obdeMetoclopramide nasal spray was initially depelibby Nastech Pharmaceutical
Company, Inc. in precursor formulations to EVK-Gid subsequently acquired and developed by Questcor

We acquired rights to this product candidate frooefcor in 2007. We then optimized the acquirethtdation of metoclopramide nasal spray
to improve stability and remove inactive ingredgettt improve the palatability and tolerability o¥E-001 for patients. We also developed the
current formulation with excipients that are abetow the levels listed in the FDA'’s Inactive Indient Database for intranasal products. We
evaluated the current formulation of EVK-001 in 328ients in our completed Phase 1 and Phasei2atlirials and intend to evaluate the
same formulation in our proposed Phase 3 cliniiall tSimilarly, the nasal spray pump used in completed Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical 1
was identical and will also be used in our propd3kdse 3 clinical trial.

The primary container closure system for EVK-00tamprised of an amber glass vial directly attadioeal pre-assembled spray pump unit
with a protection cap. Each multi dose sprayeresystomes preassembled and capable of deliverif@gdaysupply (120 doses at 4 doses per
day.) The sprayer is a standardized metered sptagienology utilized in other nasal spray prodactsvell as the amber vial.

Our Planned Four-Week Phase 3 Clinical Trial in FdenSubjects with Diabetic Gastroparesis

Based on discussions with the FDA, we plan to cohdoe Phase 3 trial in women, which we believsuifcessful, will be sufficient for NDA
submission. We plan to initiate the four-week, riceliter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-contiliparallel Phase 3 clinical trial to
evaluate the efficacy, safety and population phaokiaetics of EVK-001 in adult female subjects wdlilabetic gastroparesis in the first half of
2014. We plan to enroll approximately 200 patiexitapproximately 60 sites across the United States trial population will consist of feme
diabetic patients with gastroparesis, identifiedhiy presence of relevant symptoms and delayed@astptying. Female subjects with diab:
gastroparesis meeting the protocol-specified esritgria will be studied in a parallel-group desigith randomization in a 1:1 ratio to EVK-
001 10 mg or placebo administered as a singlenasal spray four times daily; 30 minutes beforelmaad at bedtime.

Based on our discussions with the FDA, we planst® specific symptoms from a composite score, tr@rGaaresis Symptom Assessment, or
GSA, as a patient-reported outcomes instrumendégess efficacy in this patient population. The priyrefficacy endpoint for this Phase 3
clinical trial will be based upon a change fromddare in total composite score of the specific syoms included in the GSA. We anticipate
receiving topline data from this trial in m2B15. Also based on discussions with FDA, and sesssafety in men, we plan to conduct a sir
and concurrent companion study for safety and&dfidn diabetic men with gastroparesis. The trégign will include an early stop for futilit
The FDA has indicated that completion of the malmpanion study is not required for submission effMDA seeking approval of EVK-001
for use in women. Whether the male study stopy darlfutility or continues to enroll, we plan todlude safety data from the male companior
study in the NDA seeking approval for the drugdse in women. We also plan to conduct the requi@d study of EVK-001 prior to NDA
submission.
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Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights
Overview

We are building an intellectual property portfolay EVK-001 in the United States and abroad. Wé g@dent protection in the United States
and internationally for our product candidate pitsthods of use and processes for its manufactndefoa other technologies, where
appropriate. Our policy is to actively seek to pabtour proprietary position by, among other thjfiing patent applications in the United
States and abroad relating to proprietary technesoiipat are important to the development of owiress. We also rely on trade secrets, knov
how, continuing technological innovation andicensing opportunities to develop and maintain gnaprietary position. We cannot be sure
patents will be granted with respect to any of pemding patent applications or with respect to gamgnt applications filed by us in the future,
nor can we be sure that any of our existing patengny patents that may be granted to us in thedwill be commercially useful in

protecting our technology.

Our success will depend significantly on our apili obtain and maintain patent and other propmygpaotection for the technologies we
consider important to our business, defend oumpst@reserve the confidentiality of our trade sexand operate our business without
infringing the patents and proprietary rights afdtparties.

Patent Portfolio

Our patent portfolio currently includes the followgi patents and applications:
e U.S. Patent 6,770,2—Nasal Administration of Agents for the TreatmenGafstroparesis. This patent expires in 2(
e U.S. Patent 5,760,0—Nasal Administration for the Treatment of Delayeas@& Emesis. This patent expires in 2(
* U.S. Patent 8,334,2—Nasal Formulations of Metoclopramide. This pateqires in 2030

* Non-Provisional Patent Application No. PCT/US2012/08@8-Treatment of Symptoms of Associated with FemaletiGparesis. |
granted, this patent would expire in 20

We have also been granted patents in the Europe#m Ebr the method of use of metoclopramide vigah@elivery for gastroparesis. These
patents provide protection through 2021. We hase sdceived patents in the European Union covehiegntranasal use of metoclopramide
delayed onset emesis. These patents offer protetttiough 2016.

The United States patent system permits the fidihgrovisional and non-provisional patent applioas. A nonprovisional patent application
examined by the U.S. Patent and Trademark OfficelSPTO, and can mature into a patent once the @SdTermines that the claimed
invention meets the standards for patentabilityprévisional patent application is not examineddatentability, and automatically expires

12 months after its filing date. As a result, ayisimnal patent application cannot mature into #&p& The requirements for filing a provisional
patent application are not as strict as thoseilfagfa non-provisional patent application. Prowisal applications are often used, among other
things, to establish an earlier filing date foudsequent non-provisional patent application. Enmtof individual patents depends upon the
legal term of the patents in the countries in whigdy are obtained. In most countries in which il the patent term is 20 years from the
earliest date of filing a non-provisional patenplgation. In the United States, a patent’s terny ina lengthened by patent term adjustment, o
PTA, which compensates a patentee for adminiseaelays by the USPTO in granting a patent. In \aéa recent court decision, the USPTO
is under greater scrutiny regarding its calculatiotmere the USPTO erred in calculating the patant adjustment for the patents in question
denying the patentee a portion of the patent termttich it was entitled. Alternatively, a patenterm may be shortened if a patent is termit
disclaimed over another patent.

The effective filing date of a non-provisional pattapplication is used by the USPTO to determinatvififormation is prior art when it
considers the patentability of a claimed inventibicertain requirements are satisfied, a non-giowvial patent application can claim the benefi
of the filing date of an earlier filed provisiorgdtent application. As a result, the filing dateaded by the provisional patent application may
supersede information that otherwise could precthdepatentability of an invention.

Other Intellectual Property Rights
We currently have a registered trademark for EVGMEARMA in the United States.

Confidential I nformation and I nventions Assignment Agreements

We require our employees and consultants to exeanfdentiality agreements upon the commencemieainployment, consulting or
collaborative relationships with us. These agredmprovide that all confidential information deveéal or made known during the course of
the relationship with us be kept confidential andl disclosed to third parties except in specificuwmstances.

In the case of employees, the agreements provatathinventions resulting from work performed fes, utilizing our property or relating to
our business and conceived or completed by theithdal during employment shall be our exclusivepamy to the extent permitted by
applicable law. Our consulting agreements alsoigeofor assignment to us of any intellectual propegsulting from services performed



us.

Sales and Marketing

We are initially seeking to commercialize EVK-00ilthe United States alone, or in partnership withrmaceutical companies that have
established development and sales and marketirapi#ies. Our strategy for EVK-001, if approvedile to establish EVK-001 as the
prescription product of choice for diabetic gastn@sis in women. If the product candidate is apgdpwur expectation is that EVK-001 would
initially be sold to gastrointestinal and internadicine specialists, primary care physicians abecs health care providers. We may also
utilize contract sales forces to assist in the rei@mky of EVK-001 to approved patient populations.
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Manufacturing

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesthe production of EVK-001, nor do we have plemdevelop our own manufacturing
operations in the foreseeable future. We curratelyend on third-party contract manufacturers foofabur required raw materials, drug
substance and finished product for our preclinieakarch and clinical trials. We do not have anyeru contractual relationships for the
manufacture of commercial supplies of EVK-001. \fk=001 is approved by any regulatory agency, wendtto enter into agreements with
third-party contract manufacturers for the comnangroduction at that time. We currently utilizéhard-party consultant, which we engage on
an as-needed, hourly basis, to manage our mantfagontractors.

Competition

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgrisé competition and rapid innovation. Our potértapetitors include large
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, sggghbrmaceutical and generic drug companies, agiadastitutions, government agenc
and research institutions. We believe the key cditiveefactors that will affect the development as@mmercial success of our product
candidates are efficacy, safety and tolerabilityfife, reliability, convenience of dosing, coverggécing and reimbursement.

Many of our potential competitors have substantigteater financial, technical and human resoutitas we do and significantly greater
experience in the discovery and development ofyrbdandidates, obtaining FDA and other regulaggmprovals of products and the
commercialization of those products. Accordinglyr oompetitors may be more successful than we reag bbtaining FDA approval for
drugs and achieving widespread market acceptangec@npetitors’ drugs may be more effective, or eneifectively marketed and sold, than
any drug we may commercialize and may render ceatysrt candidates obsolete or non-competitive bef@ean recover the expenses of
developing and commercializing any of our prodwididates. We anticipate that we will face intesuse increasing competition as new drugs
enter the market and advanced technologies becwailalale. Finally, the development of new treatmmethods for the diseases we are
targeting could render our drugs non-competitivelisolete.

We expect that, if approved, EVK-001 will competeedtly with metoclopramide oral, erythromycin aghimperidone as a treatment for
gastroparesis. Metoclopramide is the only productently approved in the United States to treatrgpsresis. Metoclopramide is available
from a number of generic pharmaceutical manufacsuae well in branded form in the United Stateseurible tradename Regl&rfrom Ani
Pharmaceuticals.

Previously, Propulsi@ (cisapride) and Zelnori® (tegaserod) were prescribed off-label by physictartseat gastroparesis. Propul8id
(cisapride) was approved for use in the treatmédyspepsia and GERD. Zelnofi{tegaserod) was approved for use in IBS and idiopat
chronic constipation. Both of these products haaenbwithdrawn from the market because of carditetyséssues.

Salix Pharmaceuticals launched an orally dissolw@det formulation of metoclopramide in 2009. Gtheograms in the gastroparesis pipeline
include new chemical entities in earlier-stageicéhtrials. In addition to our EVK-001 product chdate, we are aware of three other
development candidates. All are in Phase 2 clirdegklopment.

Gastroparesis Treatment Development Pipeline

Product Class Route Company Status
EVK-001 dopamine antagonist /mixed intranasal Evoke Pharma Phase 3
5-HT3 antagonist-HT4 agonisi Ready
RM-131 ghrelin agonis sut-cutaneou:  Rhythm Pharmaceutica Phase 2
GSK96204C motilin agonisi oral GlaxoSmithKline Phase 2
TD-5108 5-HT4 receptor agonis oral Theravanct Phase 2

RM-131 is a smalpeptide analog of ghrelin, a hormone producedérstomach that stimulates gastrointestinal actidibe compound is bei
developed for Gl motility disorders and has shoWfic&cy in surgical and opiate-induced ileus inraal models due to a direct prokinetic
effect. RM-131 reverses body weight loss in cachexodels.

Two other ghrelin analogs that were previously beleveloped by Tranzyme Pharma, an intravenoudiglagonist, ulimorelin, in post-
operative ileus and a different oral ghrelin ag@&i?-102, in diabetic gastroparesis. Developmeriodii product candidates has been
discontinued after ulimorelin was unsuccessfulio Phase 3 studies and TZP-102 was unsuccessfubiRPhase 2b trials.

GSK962040 is a selective non-peptide motilin reaepgonist under development for the treatmenbafitions associated with slow rates of
gastric emptying. Motilin is an endogenous pepteduced mainly in the duodenum, whose physiokdgiction is mediated by motilin
receptors located on enteric neurons, periphemalin@ls of the vagus, and on the smooth musclaettomach. Motilin and non-peptide
agonists of motilin receptors increase gastric gingtand may offer a new approach to the treatrn&delayed gastric emptying conditions.

Erythromycin is a motilin receptor agonist andragiuently used off-label in the treatment of ggsiresis. Erythromycin is well known to
induce nausea and vomiting across all indicationbia particularly associated with exacerbated eawghen used in gastroparesis. Repeated
administration of macrolides is also linked to destization of the motilin receptor and tachyphysaExtended dosing with antibiotics can |



to the development of resistant organisms as watlaghologic changes in intestinal flora.

TD-5108, also called Velusetrag, is a 5-HT4 receptwnist compound under development for the treatrof gastroparesis by Theravance in
collaboration with Alfa Wassermann S.p.A. Previgu3ID-5108 was under development for chronic cquagton.
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Tegaserod, another 5-HT4 agonist, was approvdueituhited States and other countries for treatreahronic idiopathic constipation and
IBS-C. In 2007, Tegaserod was removed from the gtarkthe United States by the FDA for cardiac safencerns.

One additional medication, Motilium (domperidong)opamine receptor modulator, is not FDA-approbeid js available in the United States
through various compounding pharmacies under afspE®A restricted-access program. The safety effidacy of Motilium as a promotility
agent is not fully established.

Questcor Acquisition Agreement

We acquired all worldwide rights, data, patents attér related assets associated with EMK-from Questcor in June 2007. We paid Que
$650,000 in the form of an upfront payment and b&lrequired to make additional milestone paymaing up to $52,000,000. These
milestones include up to $5,000,000 in paymenE/iK-001 achieves the following development targets:

»  $500,000 upon the initiation of the first patiensthg in our planned Phase 3 clinical trial for E-001;
* $1,500,000 upon the FL's acceptance for review of an NDA for E-001; anc
¢ $3,000,000 upon the FC's approval of EVI-001.

The remaining $47,000,000 in milestone paymentedémpn EVK-001's commercial success and will ondplg if EVK-001 receives
regulatory approval. In addition, we will be reaqdrto pay to Questcor a low single digit royaltyrat sales of EVK301. Our obligation to pe
such royalties will terminate upon the expiratidrte last patent right covering EVK-001, whicheigected to occur in 2030.

Government Regulation
FDA Approval Process

In the United States, pharmaceutical products abgest to extensive regulation by the FDA. The FabEood, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or
FFDCA, and other federal and state statutes andatgns, govern, among other things, the reseaebelopment, testing, manufacture,
storage, recordkeeping, approval, labeling, proomoéind marketing, distribution, pospproval monitoring and reporting, sampling, angant
and export of pharmaceutical products. Failureotmgly with applicable FDA or other requirements nsapject a company to a variety of
administrative or judicial sanctions, such as tb&\B refusal to approve pending applications, aichl hold, warning letters, recall or seizure
of products, partial or total suspension of proaugtwithdrawal of the product from the marketuingtions, fines, civil penalties or criminal
prosecution.

FDA approval is required before any new unappraired) or dosage form, including a new use of a ey approved drug, can be marketec
in the United States. The process required by bws Before a drug may be marketed in the UnitedeStgenerally involves:

» completion of pre-clinical laboratory and anlresting and formulation studies in compliancetmifie FDA’s good laboratory
practice, or GLP, regulation

e submission to the FDA of an Investigational Newug Application, or IND, for human clinical testj which must become effective
before human clinical trials may begin in the Udi&tates

« approval by an independent institutional reviewrtdoar IRB, at each clinical trial site before eagal may be initiated

» performance of adequate and walhtrolled human clinical trials in accordance wgthod clinical practices, or GCP, to establist
safety and efficacy of the proposed drug produce&zh intended us

» satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approwvapection of the facility or facilities at whiche product is manufactured to assess
compliance with the FDA current good manufacturing practices, or cGM@ulaions, and for devices and device componeimg
Quality System Regulations, or QSR, and to as$atethe facilities, methods and controls are adeguepreserve the drug’s
identity, strength, quality and purit

» submission to the FDA of an ND;
» satisfactory completion of an FDA advisory commatteview, if applicable; an

» FDA review and approval of the ND;

The pre-clinical and clinical testing and apprgwadcess requires substantial time, effort and firelmesources, and we cannot be certain that
any approvals for our product candidates will benggd on a timely basis, if at all. Pre-clinicatteinclude laboratory evaluation of product
chemistry, formulation, stability and toxicity, a®ll as animal studies to assess the characterestid potential safety and efficacy of the
product. The results of piical tests, together with manufacturing infotioa, analytical data and a proposed clinical tpiadtocol and othe
information, are submitted as part of an IND to FfiA. Some pre-clinical testing may continue evitaraghe IND is submitted. The IND
automatically becomes effective 30 days after mdaj the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 30-dawdiperiod, raises concerns or questions
relating to one or more proposed clinical trialgl @faces the clinical trial on a clinical hold, imding concerns that human research subjects
will be exposed to unreasonable health risks. &t sucase, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolyeoutstanding concerns before



clinical trial can begin. As a result, our submigsdf an IND may not result in FDA authorizationdmmmence a clinical trial. A separate
submission to an existing IND must also be made#&woh successive clinical trial conducted durirgdpct development.

Further, an independent IRB covering each site @ing to conduct the clinical trial must review approve the plan for any clinical trial and
informed consent information for subjects before tittal commences at that site, and it must moniterstudy until completed. The FDA, the
IRB or the sponsor may suspend a clinical triarat time on various grounds, including a findingttthe subjects or patients are being exp
to an unacceptable health risk or for failure tompty with the IRB’s or regulatory requirements for other reasons, or the FDA or IRB may
impose other conditions.
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Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational new drug to human subjects undestpervision of qualified investigators in
accordance with GCP requirements, which included¢lj@irement that all research subjects providi thiermed consent in writing for their
participation in any clinical trial. Sponsors oinital trials generally must register and reportha National Institutes of Health-maintained
website ClinicalTrials.gov, key parameters of dertdinical trials. For purposes of an NDA submissand approval, human clinical trials are
typically conducted in the following sequential pha, which may overlap or be combined:

» Phase 1The drug is initially introduced into healthy humsurbjects or patients and tested for safety, dulseaince, absorption,
metabolism, distribution and excretion and, if pllss to gain an early indication of its effectivess.

* Phase 2The drug is administered to a limited patient pafioh to identify possible adverse effects andtgaieks, to preliminaril
evaluate the efficacy of the product for specifiggeted indications and to determine dose tolerandeoptimal dosage. Multiple
Phase 2 clinical trials may be conducted by thexspoto obtain information prior to beginning larged more extensive Phase 3
clinical trials.

» Phase 3These are commonly referred to as pivotal studfidsen Phase 2 evaluations demonstrate that a doge cd the product
appears to be effective and has an acceptable safdile, Phase 3 trials are undertaken in largept populations to further
evaluate dosage, to obtain additional evidencdimital efficacy and safety in an expanded patoyulation at multiple,
geographically-dispersed clinical trial sites, stablish the overall risk-benefit relationship loé tdrug and to provide adequate
information for the labeling of the dru

* Phase 4In some cases, the FDA may condition approval dllB for a product candidate on the sponsor’s aged to conduct
additional clinical trials to further assess thagls safety and effectiveness after NDA approvattSpost-approval trials are
typically referred to as Phase 4 stud

The results of product development, pre-clinicatlsts and clinical trials are submitted to the F&spart of an NDA. NDAs must also contain
extensive information relating to the product’s hacology, chemistry, manufacturing and controtSCMC, and proposed labeling, among
other things.

Under federal law, the submission of most NDAsuisjsct to a substantial application user fee, &dhtanufacturer and/or sponsor under an
approved NDA are also subject to annual productestablishment user fees. The FDA has 60 days itoraceipt of an NDA to determine
whether the application will be accepted for filibgsed on the agency’s threshold determinationttigsufficiently complete to permit
substantive review. The FDA may request additiam@rmation rather than accept an NDA for filing. this event, the NDA must be
resubmitted with the additional information andigject to payment of additional user fees. Thelmstted application is also subject to
review before the FDA accepts it for filing.

Once the submission has been accepted for fillrgFDA begins an in-depth substantive review. UtlkdePrescription Drug User Fee Act, or
PDUFA, the FDA agrees to specific performance gtml$DA review time through a two-tiered class#imon system, Standard Review and
Priority Review. Standard Review NDAs have a gddleing completed within a ten-month timeframe. #oRty Review designation is given
to drugs that offer major advances in treatmenprovide a treatment where no adequate therapyseXise goal for completing a Priority
Review is six months. However, the FDA does notagisvcomplete its review within these timelines HrelAgency’s review can take
substantially longer.

It is likely that our product candidates will beagted a Standard Review. The review process mayteaded by the FDA for three additional
months to consider certain information or obtaarification regarding information already providedhe submission. The FDA may refer
applications for novel drug products or drug prddwehich present difficult questions of safety fifcacy to an advisory committee for revie
evaluation and recommendation as to whether thkcagipn should be approved and under what conatidhe FDA is not bound by the
recommendation of an advisory committee, but itsiders such recommendations carefully when makawgsebns. In addition, for
combination products, the FDA's review may inclulde participation of both the FDA's Center for Dridgaluation and Research and the
FDA's Center for Devices and Radiological Healtfhjethn may complicate or prolong the review.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA may inspect thalfig or facilities where the product is manufaetd. The FDA will not approve an
application unless it determines that the manufagjuprocesses and facilities are in compliancéw®&MP, for the device component of the
product, QSR requirements and are adequate toeassuosistent production of the product within regdispecifications. Additionally, the FC
will typically inspect one or more clinical sites assure compliance with GCP before approving adND

After the FDA evaluates the NDA and, in some cafesrelated manufacturing facilities, it may issueapproval letter or a Complete
Response Letter, or CRL, to indicate that the redgcle for an application is complete or that dpglication is not ready for approval. CRLs
generally outline the deficiencies in the submissiad may require substantial additional testinopfarmation in order for the FDA to
reconsider the application. Even with submissiothf additional information, the FDA ultimately sndecide that the application does not
satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval. Ifdawhen the deficiencies have been addressed ©0Aé&s satisfaction, the FDA will typically
issue an approval letter. An approval letter audesrcommercial marketing of the drug with spedggfiescribing information for specific
indications.

Once issued, the FDA may withdraw product apprdwahgoing regulatory requirements are not mef safety problems are identified after
the product reaches the market. In addition, thé& Riay require po-approval testing, including Phase 4 studies, amgedlance programs t



monitor the effect of approved products which hbgen commercialized, and the FDA has the poweraegnt or limit further marketing of a
product based on the results of these puatketing programs. Drugs may be marketed onlyiferapproved indications and in accordance
the provisions of the approved label, and, eveéhafFDA approves a product, it may limit the apgaindications for use for the product or
impose other conditions, including labeling or disition restrictions or other risk-management naegébms. Further, if there are any
modifications to the drug, including changes iniégations, labeling, or manufacturing processesoilifies, we may be required to submit and
obtain FDA approval of a new or supplemental NDAjak may require us to develop additional dataaordeict additional pre-clinical studies
and clinical trials.
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Post-Approval Requirements

Once an NDA is approved, a product will be subjegiervasive and continuing regulation by the Fidbw|uding, among other things,
requirements relating to drug/device listing, relk@eping, periodic reporting, product sampling disdribution, advertising and promotion &
reporting of adverse experiences with the product.

In addition, drug manufacturers and other entitieslved in the manufacture and distribution of epy@d drugs are required to register their
establishments with the FDA and state agenciesaendubject to periodic unannounced inspectiorthdy¥DA and these state agencies for
compliance with cGMP requirements. Changes to theufacturing process are strictly regulated anag@ly require prior FDA approval
before being implemented. FDA regulations also ireguvestigation and correction of any deviatiéresn cGMP and impose reporting and
documentation requirements upon us and any thiry-paanufacturers that we may decide to use. Adoghg, manufacturers must continue to
expend time, money, and effort in the area of petidn and quality control to maintain cGMP comptian

Once an approval is granted, the FDA may suspesttjct or withdraw the approval, require a prodectll, or impose additional restrictions
or limitations if compliance with regulatory regeinents and standards is not maintained or if prnobleccur after the product reaches the
market. Later discovery of previously unknown peshé with a product, including adverse events ohtioipated severity or frequency, or
with manufacturing processes, or failure to comith regulatory requirements, may result in, amotiger things:

» restrictions on the marketing or manufacturinghaf product, complete withdrawal of the product fribia market or product reca
» fines, warning letters or holds on g-approval clinical trials

» refusal of the FDA to approve pending applimasi or supplements to approved applications, gresusson or revocation of product
license approvals

» product seizure or detention, or refusal to pethdtimport or export of products;

e injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimingknalties

The FDA may require post-approval studies and @dinirials if the FDA finds that scientific dataciuding information regarding related
drugs, deem it appropriate. The purpose of sudtieguwould be to assess a known serious risk aals@f serious risk related to the drug c
identify an unexpected serious risk when availaali indicate the potential for a serious risk. FB& may also require a labeling change if it
becomes aware of new safety information that iielvels should be included in the labeling of a drug.

The Food and Drug Administration Amendments Ac2@®7, or the FDAAA, gave the FDA the authority éguire a Risk Evaluation and
Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, from manufactureretwsure that the benefits of a drug outweigh #ssriln determining whether a REMS is
necessary, the FDA must consider the size of tipalption likely to use the drug, the seriousnesthefdisease or condition to be treated, the
expected benefit of the drug, the duration of tremtt, the seriousness of known or potential advevsets, and whether the drug is a new
molecular entity. If the FDA determines a REMS éz@ssary, the drug sponsor must agree to the REMSapthe time of approval. A REMS
may be required to include various elements, sschmedication guide or patient package insemnancunication plan to educate health care
providers of the drug’s risks, limitations on whaymprescribe or dispense the drug, or other messhia¢ the FDA deems necessary to assure
the safe use of the drug. In addition, the REMStrimedude a timetable to assess the strategy atdri@hs, three years, and seven years aft
strategy’s approval. The FDA may also impose a RE&ffiirement on a drug already on the market ifbA determines, based on new
safety information, that a REMS is necessary taenthat the drug’s benefits outweigh its risks.

In March 2009, the FDA informed drug manufactuttbet it will require a REMS for metoclopramide dnoigpducts. The FDA'’s authority to
take this action is based on risk management asdrparket safety provisions within the FDAAA. ThERS consists of a Medication Guide,
elements to assure safe use (including an edugattmram for prescribers and materials for presesitto educate patients), and a timetable fc
submission of assessments of at least six mon2hsdhths, and annually after the REMS is approWe intend to submit a proposed REMS
at the time of the NDA submission for EVK-001.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, adising and promotion of products that are plamedhe market, and the FDA imposes a
number of complex regulations on entities that atibe and promote pharmaceuticals, which includerag others, standards for direct-to-
consumer advertising, off-label promotion, industponsored scientific and educational activitiesl promotional activities involving the
internet. While physicians may prescribe for offdhuses, manufacturers may only promote for thgayed indications and in accordance
with the provisions of the approved label. The F&#l other agencies actively enforce the laws agala&ons prohibiting the promotion of
off-label uses, and a company that is found to hiangeoperly promoted off-label uses may be subjestgnificant liability. Indeed, the FDA
has very broad enforcement authority under the F&DADd failure to abide by these regulations caultén penalties, including the issuance
of a warning letter directing entities to correewations from FDA standards, a requirement thatrluadvertising and promotional materials
are pre-cleared by the FDA, and state and fedarbbnd criminal investigations and prosecutions.

The distribution of prescription pharmaceuticaldurots is also subject to the Prescription Drug Mérig Act, or PDMA, which regulates the
distribution of drugs and drug samples at the falderel and sets minimum standards for the reagistn and regulation of drug distributors by
the states. Both the PDMA and state laws limitdistribution of prescription pharmaceutical prodsamples and impose requirements to
ensure accountability in distribution, includingliaug pedigree which tracks the distribution of prggion drugs



Section 505(b)(2) New Drug Applications

As an alternate path to FDA approval for modifioat to formulations or uses of products previoaglgroved by the FDA, an applicant may
submit an NDA under Section 505(b)(2) of the FFDG&ction 505(b)(2) was enacted as part of the Prige Competition and Patent Term
Restoration Act of 1984, also known as the Hatch«an Amendments, and permits the filing of an NDiiere at least some of the
information required for approval comes from stgdiet conducted by or for the applicant and foraitthe applicant has not obtained a right
of reference. The
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applicant may rely upon published literature ar&lFIDA’s findings of safety and effectiveness basedertain pre-clinical or clinical studies
conducted for an approved product. The FDA may @gaire companies to perform additional studiesieasurements to support the change
from the approved product. The FDA may then apptbeenew product candidate for all or some of gl indications for which the
referenced product has been approved, as welranfonew indication sought by the Section 505(baf#plicant.

To the extent that a Section 505(b)(2) NDA reliasstudies conducted for a previously approved grnogluct, the applicant is required to
certify to the FDA concerning any patents listedtfe approved product in the FDA Orange Book. FBé& Orange Book is where patents
associated with a FDA-approved product are lisigbcifically, the applicant must certify for eaddtdd patent that (1) the required patent
information has not been filed; (2) the listed pateas expired; (3) the listed patent has not expibut will expire on a particular date and
approval is sought after patent expiration; ortl#) listed patent is invalid, unenforceable or wil be infringed by the new product. A
certification that the new product will not infriaghe already approved product’s listed patenhat such patent is invalid is known as a
Paragraph IV certification. If the applicant do@s challenge the listed patents through a Paragiapkrtification, the Section 505(b)(2) NDA
application will not be approved until all the &st patents claiming the referenced product haveaexkprhe Section 505(b)(2) NDA applicat
also will not be accepted or approved until any-patent exclusivity, such as exclusivity for obtagapproval of a New Chemical Entity,
listed in the Orange Book for the referenced prothas expired.

If the 505(b)(2) NDA applicant has provided a Paapt 1V certification to the FDA, the applicant nhasso send notice of the Paragraph IV
certification to the referenced NDA and patent koddonce the 505(b)(2) NDA has been acceptedliiog foy the FDA. The NDA and patent
holders may then initiate a legal challenge toRheagraph IV certification. Under the FFDCA, tHa§ of a patent infringement lawsuit with
45 days of their receipt of a Paragraph 1V cetfizn in most cases automatically prevents the Fios approving the Section 505(b)(2) NI
for 30 months, or until a court decision or setéatrfinding that the patent is invalid, unenfordeadr not infringed, whichever is earlier. The
court also has the ability to shorten or lengthen30-month stay if either party is found not tar&asonably cooperating in expediting the
litigation. Thus, the Section 505(b)(2) applicarayninvest a significant amount of time and expangbe development of its product only tc
subject to significant delay and patent litigattmfore its product may be commercialized.

The 505(b)(2) NDA applicant also may be eligible ifs own regulatory exclusivity period, such asetityear exclusivity. Specifically, a
product may be granted three-year Hatch-Waxmarusiy if one or more clinical studies, other thHainavailability or bioequivalence
studies, was essential to the approval of the egijtin and was conducted/sponsored by the appliSaould this occur, the FDA would be
precluded from making effective any other applimatior the same condition of use or for a changbeadrug product that was granted
exclusivity until after that three-year exclusivgggriod has expired. Additional exclusivities masoaapply.

Additionally, the 505(b)(2) NDA applicant may hasedevant patents in the Orange Book, and if scaiit initiate patent infringement litigation
against those applicants that challenge such patehtch could result in a 30-month stay delayimgse applicants.

Manufacturing Requirements

We and our third-party manufacturers must compynapplicable FDA regulations relating to the FDAGMP regulations and, if applicable,
QSR requirements. The cGMP regulations includeirements relating to, among other things, orgaivoradf personnel, buildings and
facilities, equipment, control of components angigdproduct containers and closures, productionparodess controls, packaging and labeling
controls, holding and distribution, laboratory awtg, records and reports, and returned or salvpgedlicts. The manufacturing facilities for
our products must meet cGMP requirements to thsfaetion of the FDA pursuant to a pre-approvapettion before we can use them to
manufacture our products. We and our third-partpurfecturers are also subject to periodic unannalimspections of facilities by the FDA
and other authorities, including procedures andaifmns used in the testing and manufacture opooducts to assess our compliance with
applicable regulations. Failure to comply with staty and regulatory requirements subjects a matwfer to possible legal or regulatory
action, including, among other things, warningdetf the seizure or recall of products, injunctjammsent decrees placing significant
restrictions on or suspending manufacturing openatand civil and criminal penalties.

Other Regulatory Requirements

We are also subject to various laws and regulatiegarding laboratory practices, the experimergal af animals, and the use and disposal of
hazardous or potentially hazardous substancesimemtion with our research. In each of these aesaabove, the FDA has broad regulatory
and enforcement powers, including, among otheghithe ability to levy fines and civil penaltissispend or delay issuance of approvals,

or recall products, and withdraw approvals, any anmore of which could have a material adverseatfbn us.

Coverage and Reimbursement

Sales of our products, if approved, will dependpaint, on the extent to which our products willdmeered by third-party payors, such as
government health care programs, commercial inggrand managed healthcare organizations. Thesepthity payors are increasingly
limiting coverage and reducing reimbursements fedital products and services. In addition, the ddvernment, state legislatures and
foreign governments have continued implementing-costainment programs, including price controéstrictions on coverage and
reimbursement and requirements for substitutiogenferic products. Adoption of price controls andt@mntainment measures, and adoptic
more restrictive policies in jurisdictions with sting controls and measures, could further limitoet revenue and results. Decreases in third-
party reimbursement for our drug candidates orcsa® by a thir-party payor to not cover our drug candidates coedilice physicia



utilization of our products and have a materialexde effect on our sales, results of operationdiaadcial condition.
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Other Healthcare Laws

Although we currently do not have any productstenmarket, if our drug candidates are approvedambegin commercialization, we will be
subject to healthcare regulation and enforcememh&yederal government and the states and fogagarnments in which we conduct our
business. These laws include, without limitatidatesand federal anti-kickback, fraud and abudsefaaims and physician sunshine laws and
regulations.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, amanger things, any person from knowingly and willjubffering, soliciting, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, itaduce either the referral of an individual, foritam or service or the purchasing or ordering
of a good or service, for which payment may be mautter federal healthcare programs such as thedsledand Medicaid programs. The
Anti-Kickback Statute is subject to evolving integtations. In the past, the government has enfateednti-Kickback Statute to reach large
settlements with healthcare companies based on sbasulting and other financial arrangements withisicians. Further, the recently enactec
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as airedrby the Health Care and Education Reconciliatiorn or collectively, the Health Care
Reform Law, among other things, amends the integquiirement of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute #ma criminal statute governing
healthcare fraud statutes. A person or entity ngdo needs to have actual knowledge of these statuitspecific intent to violate them. In
addition, the Health Care Reform Law provides thatgovernment may assert that a claim includiegpét or services resulting from a viola
of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutefalae or fraudulent claim for purposes of the fati€ialse Claims Act or federal civil money
penalties statute. The majority of states also laekickback laws which establish similar prohidms and in some cases may apply to items
or services reimbursed by any third-party payasluding commercial insurers.

Additionally, the False Claims Act prohibits knowglg presenting or causing the presentation of sefdictitious or fraudulent claim for
payment to the U.S. government. Actions under @ileg=Claims Act may be brought by the Attorney Gaiher as a qui tam action by a priv
individual in the name of the government. Violasaf the False Claims Act can result in very sigaifit monetary penalties and treble
damages. The federal government is using the EA&ms Act, and the accompanying threat of sigaifidiability, in its investigation and
prosecution of pharmaceutical and biotechnologymames throughout the country, for example, in emtion with the promotion of products
for unapproved uses and other sales and marketaugiges. The government has obtained multi-milkow multi-billion dollar settlements
under the False Claims Act in addition to indivitlo@minal convictions under applicable criminadisttes. Given the significant size of actual
and potential settlements, it is expected thagthesrnment will continue to devote substantial veses to investigating healthcare providers’
and manufacturers’ compliance with applicable frand abuse laws.

In addition, there has been a recent trend of aseré federal and state regulation of payments teepleysicians and other healthcare
providers. The Health Care Reform Law, among athieigs, imposes new reporting requirements on dragufacturers for payments made
them to physicians and teaching hospitals, asagetiwnership and investment interests held by plays and their immediate family
members. Failure to submit required information mesult in civil monetary penalties of up to an eggte of $150,000 per year (or up to an
aggregate of $1 million per year for “knowing fa@s”), for all payments, transfers of value or ovghé or investment interests that are not
timely, accurately and completely reported in anuah submission. Drug manufacturers were requivdzbgyin collecting data on August 1,
2013 and submit reports to the government by M&dg2014 and the 90day of each subsequent calendar year. Certairs stie mandate
implementation of commercial compliance programmpase restrictions on drug manufacturer marketiagtices and/or require the tracking
and reporting of gifts, compensation and other meenation to physicians.

The shifting commercial compliance environment #relneed to build and maintain robust and expaedajdtems to comply with different
compliance and/or reporting requirements in mudtjprisdictions increase the possibility that altheare company may violate one or more of
the requirements. If our operations are found ttbaolation of any of such laws or any other gowraental regulations that apply to us, we
may be subject to penalties, including, withoutitation, civil and criminal penalties, damagesgefinthe curtailment or restructuring of our
operations, exclusion from participation in fedezall state healthcare programs and imprisonmeynfanhich could adversely affect our
ability to operate our business and our finan@alits.

About Evoke

We were formed as a Delaware corporation on Jar2@rg007. Our principal executive offices are tedsat 505 Lomas Santa Fe Drive, Suite
270, Solana Beach, California 92075, and our telapmumber is (858) 345-1494.

Employees

We currently have seven full-time employees anasaconsultants in the regulatory, clinical, mamtdiring and finance areas, which we
engage on an as-needed, hourly basis. We expéet thanber of consultants previously engaged irdthelopment of EVK-001 will
participate in the ongoing clinical and manufactgrdevelopment for the product candidate. Noneuofemnployees are represented by a
collective bargaining arrangement, and we beliawerelationship with our employees is good.

Financial Information about Segments

We operate only in one business segment, whideigiévelopment of pharmaceutical products. See[Bpte our consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Fo8-K. For financial information regarding our businesse*Managemer' s Discussion an



Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Gytiems” and those financial statements and relatdels.
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Research and Development

We invested approximately $957,000, $1,166,000,%in844,000 in research and development in thesyerated December 31, 2013, 2012
and 2011, respectively.

Available Information

We file electronically with the Securities and Eaolge Commission, or SEC, our annual reports on Bdrid, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q
and current reports on Form 8-K pursuant to Sesti8(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Adi934, as amended. We make available
copies of these reports, free of charge, on ousiteehtwww.evokepharma.copas soon as reasonably practicable after we etactlly file
such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Tgublic may read or copy any materials we file wiita SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference
Room at 100 F Street NE, Washington, D.C. 2054@. dublic may obtain information on the operatiorthaf Public Reference Room by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SE@330. The SEC maintains a website that containsrtgproxy and information statements, and othfarimatior
regarding issuers that file electronically with ®EC. The address of that website is www.sec.ddwe information in or accessible through
SEC and our website are not incorporated into,aaadot considered part of, this report. Further,references to the URLSs for these website:
are intended to be inactive textual references.only
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in a dynamic and rapidly changing envinent that involves numerous risks and uncertan@rtain factors may have a matel
adverse effect on our business prospects, finawoiadlition and results of operations, and you staarefully consider them. Accordingly, in
evaluating our business, we encourage you to censiegt following discussion of risk factors, inétstirety, in addition to other information
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and atlner public filings with the Securities and Eaolge Commission, or SEC. Other event:
that we do not currently anticipate or that we anmtly deem immaterial may also affect our busingssspects, financial condition and results
of operations.

Risks Related to our Business, including the Devgdment, Regulatory Approval and Potential Commercialzation of our Product
Candidate, EVK-001

Our businessis entirely dependent on the success of a single product candidate, EVK-001, which has not yet entered a Phase 3 clinical trial.
We cannot be certain that we will be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize, EVK-001.

We have only one product candidate: EVK-001, a siepyamide nasal spray to treat female patients syimptoms associated with acute anc
recurrent diabetic gastroparesis. We are entirepeddent on successful continued development gudatery approval of this product
candidate for our future business success. We inaested, and will continue to invest, a signifitportion of our time and financial resources
in the development of EVK-001. We will need to seesfully enroll and complete our planned Phaséng&al trial of EVK-001, which we
intend to commence in the first half of 2014, ahdgquired, raise sufficient funds for the comatof this trial. The future regulatory and
commercial success of this product candidate igesutp a number of risks, including the following:

e we may not have sufficient financial and other teses to complete the Phase 3 clinical t
e we may not be able to provide acceptable evidehsafety and efficacy for EV-001;

» the results of our planned clinical trials nmeot confirm the positive results of earlier clidit@als, particularly because we will
utilize a modified patient report outcomes, or PR®{rument for our planned Phase 3 clinical t@ihpared to our Phase 2b
clinical trial;

« variability in patients, adjustments to clinicabtmprocedures and inclusion of additional clinitriél sites;

» the results of our clinical trial may not méee level of statistical or clinical significanoequired by the FDA, for marketing
approval;

* we may be required to undertake additionalicdintrials and other studies of EVK-001 before ea@ submit a NDA, to the FDA or
receive approval of the ND/

» patients in our clinical trials may die or srfbther adverse effects for reasons that may grmoaibe related to EVK-001, such as
dysgeusia, headache, diarrhea, nasal discomfempi, myoclonus, somnolence, rhinorrhea, throdaiion, and fatigue

» if approved, EVK-001 will compete with well-eflished products already approved for marketinthbyFDA, including oral and
intravenous forms of metoclopramide, the same adgtigredient in the nasal spray for E-001,;

* we may not be able to obtain, maintain and enfortoepatents and other intellectual property rightsj

e we may not be able to obtain and maintain comimkemanufacturing arrangements with third-partgnufacturers or establish
commercie-scale manufacturing capabilitie

Of the large number of drugs in development in ithikistry, only a small percentage result in thensission of an NDA to the FDA and even
fewer are approved for commercialization. Furtheleneven if we do receive regulatory approval tokeeEVK-001, any such approval may
be subject to limitations on the indicated usesabich we may market the product.

We will require substantial additional funding and may be unable to raise capital when needed, which would force us to suspend our Phase 3
clinical trial and otherwise delay, reduce or eliminate our development program for EVK-001.

Our operations have consumed substantial amourmsdf since inception. To date, our operations baea primarily financed through the
proceeds from the sale of our common and prefesteak, and borrowings under our loan and finaneiggeements with Silicon Valley Bank
and a prior lender. We believe, based on our ctioperating plan, that the net proceeds from oitialrpublic offering and our existing cash
and cash equivalents, together with interest threnedl be sufficient to fund our operations forppximately the next 18 months as of
December 31, 2013, although there can be no assunarthat regard. Because we expect our plannadePBiclinical trial of EVK-001 to
commence in the first half of 2014 with an approaiety 12-month enroliment period, we may need taiobadditional funds to complete this
trial as well as finance any additional developnrequirements requested by the FDA.

Our estimates of the amount of cash necessanntbdur activities may prove to be wrong, and wedepend our available financial
resources much faster than we currently expectf@ure funding requirements will depend on margtdes, including, but not limited to:

» the rate of progress and cost of our Phase 3 alitrial and any other clinical requirements fork-001;



the timing of regulatory approval, if granted, 6f€-001 or any other product candidat

the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending @mdorcing any patent claims and other intellechraperty rights associated with
EVK-001;

the costs and timing of completion of outsourceshicercial manufacturing supply arrangements for -001;
costs associated with any other product candidatgsve may develop, -license or acquire
the effect of competing technological and markefettgoments; an

the terms and timing of any collaborative, licegsioc-promotion or other arrangements that we may estal
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The results observed in female patients with symptoms associated with acute and recurrent diabetic gastroparesisin our Phase 2b clinical
trial of EVK-001 may not be predictive of the safety and efficacy resultsin our planned Phase 3 clinical trial.

A number of companies in the pharmaceutical antebimology industries have suffered significanbaeks in late-stage clinical trials even
after achieving promising results in earlier-stdgegelopment. We currently plan to commence onedBadinical trial in female patients with
symptoms associated with acute and recurrent déafp@stroparesis in the first half of 2014. Our &hab clinical trial of EVK-001 for the
treatment of diabetic gastroparesis showed stilbtisignificant improvement in clinically meaniiod endpoints in female patients. This we
pre-specified analyses of the primary efficacy amlipperformed on a gender subgroup of the intefitetat, or ITT population. Due to a large
placebo response in male patients, EVK-001 didachteve the primary endpoint in the ITT populationall subjects in this Phase 2b clinical
trial.

This risk may be particularly significant for usda@se the primary endpoint in our planned Phadmi8al trial is not identical to the primary
endpoint used in our Phase 2b trial. In our Phasdigical trial, the primary endpoint was the Gaparesis Cardinal Symptom Index Daily
Diary, or GCSI-DD, a PRO instrument. The GCSI-Daisomposite of clinically relevant diabetic gaptaesis symptoms which patients rate
according to severity. Based on our discussions thi¢ FDA, the primary endpoint for our Phase & tniill be the Gastroparesis Symptom
Assessment, or GSA, which is a PRO instrument ddrftom the GCSI-DD. We have analyzed our Phas#agdb utilizing the GSA'’s
methodology. Although we observed statisticallyngfigant and nearly identical statistical improverha the GSA compared to the GCSI-DD
in females in our Phase 2b trial, we cannot asgomethat our Phase 3 trials will achieve positigsults.

A number of factors could contribute to a lackafdrable safety and efficacy results in our planBkdse 3 trial. For example:
« amulticenter trial could result in increased viitity due to varying site characteristics, suchaasl standards of car

e a multicenter trial could result in increasediability due to varying patient characteristiosluding demographic factors, health
status, underlying reason for disease state antbogitant medications; ar

» diagnosis of diabetic gastroparesis by physgiimcluding use of gastric emptying tests, cadldct for a patient population that
differs from those patients included within pre\salinical trials.

If we are not able to obtain regulatory approval for EVK-001, we will not be able to commercialize this product candidate and our ability to
generate revenue will be limited.

We have not submitted an NDA or received regulagggroval to market any product candidates in angdiction. We are not permitted to
market EVKOOL1 in the United States until we receive apprafan NDA for the product candidate in a particuratication from the FDA. T
date, we have completed one Phase 2b clinicalftridtVK-001 in diabetic subjects with gastropasemnd acquired the results from a separat
Phase 2 clinical trial in diabetic patients witlsggaparesis. In the Phase 2b clinical trial thap@egormed ourselves, which concluded in 2011,
EVK-001 failed to meet the primary endpoint for thal. Although an overall improvement in symptomas observed in EVK-001-treated
patients with diabetic gastroparesis compareddogtio in this Phase 2b clinical trial, the differemvas not statistically significant due to a
high placebo response among male subjects. ThereRase 2 clinical trial performed by Questcoswanulticenter, randomized, open-label,
parallel design study. This head-to-head study @etbthe efficacy and safety of two doses of mefwelmide nasal spray, 10 mg and 20 mg,
with the FDA-approved 10 mg metoclopramide tabAdhough data from the earlier Phase 2 clinicalltwill be referenced in the EVK-001
NDA, the ope-label study design limits the importance of thiécaty results in the NDA.

We currently plan to commence one Phase 3 clitiiizdlin female patients with symptoms associatét acute and recurrent diabetic
gastroparesis in the first half of 2014. Thereagynarantee that this Phase 3 clinical trial or @timgr future trials will be successful or that
regulators will agree with our assessment of threaal trials for EVK-001 conducted to date. In &udh, we have only limited experience in
filing the applications necessary to gain regulatguprovals and expect to rely on consultants kind party contract research organizations to
assist us in this process. The FDA and other régnsldave substantial discretion in the approvatess and may refuse to accept any
application or may decide that our data are insigffit for approval and require additional clinit@ls, or preclinical or other studies.

Varying interpretation of the data obtained froraginical and clinical testing could delay, limit prevent regulatory approval of a product
candidate. Furthermore, we have acquired our righEs/K-001 from Questcor, who acquired its righitam a predecessor. Thus, much of the
preclinical and a portion of the clinical data talg to EVK-001 that we would expect to submit mMDA for EVK-001 was obtained from
studies conducted before we owned the rights tprtbduct candidate and, accordingly, was prepanéd@anaged by others. These
predecessors may not have applied the same resandegiven the same attention to this developmegram as we would have if we had
been in control from inception.

EVK-001 and the activities associated with its depment and potential commercialization, includitsgtesting, manufacture, safety, efficacy,
recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, adsiagi promotion, sale and distribution, are subjectomprehensive regulation by the FDA
other regulatory agencies in the United Statestgntbmparable authorities in other countries. Faito obtain regulatory marketing approval
for EVK-001 will prevent us from commercializingetiproduct candidate, and our ability to generatemae will be materially impaired.

The FDA may impose requirements on our clinical trials that are difficult to comply with, which could harm our business.



The requirements that the FDA may impose on clirtitgas for EVK-001 are uncertain. We currenthaplto conduct one Phase 3 trial in adult
female subjects with diabetic gastroparesis, whietbelieve will be sufficient for NDA submissioneséng an indication of treatment of
symptoms associated with diabetic gastroparesi®omen. We plan to initiate the four-week, multi@mmrandomized, double-blind, placebo-
controlled, parallel Phase 3 clinical trial to exate the efficacy, safety and population pharmamatids of EVK-001 in adult female subjects
with diabetic gastroparesis in the first half ofl2Z0Although we believe successful results frora ingle Phase 3 clinical trial will be suffici

to allow us to submit an NDA for EVK-001, it is fsilsle the FDA will require additional clinical té@sg) before submission or approval of the
NDA. In addition, based on discussions with the Fiu& also plan to conduct a similar study for saéetd efficacy in adult male subjects w

diabetic gastroparesis. If we are unable to comilly the FDA's requirements, we will not be ableotatain approval for EVK-001 and our
business will suffer.
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Any termination or suspension of, or delaysin the commencement or completion of, our planned Phase 3 clinical trial could resultin
increased costs to us, delay or limit our ability to generate revenue and adversely affect our commercial prospects.

Delays in the commencement or completion of ounqéa Phase 3 clinical trial for EVK-001 could siigantly affect our product
development costs. We do not know whether our @dnrial will begin on time or be completed on siie, if at all. The commencement and
completion of clinical trials can be delayed fananber of reasons, including delays related to:

» the FDA failing to grant permission to proceed atating the clinical trial on holc
* subjects failing to enroll or remain in our tridlthe rate we expec

* subjects choosing an alternative treatmenttferindication for which we are developing EVK-00t participating in competing
clinical trials;

* subjects experiencing severe or unexpected-related adverse effect

» afacility manufacturing EVK-001 or any of temponents being ordered by the FDA or other gawent or regulatory authorities
to temporarily or permanently shut down due toatioins of cGMP or other applicable requirementsnfactions or cross-
contaminations of product candidate in the manufawg process

» any changes to our manufacturing process that raayebessary or desire

» third-party clinical investigators losing théizense or permits necessary to perform our dintigals, not performing our clinical
trials on our anticipated schedule or consistett tie clinical trial protocol, GCP and regulatoeguirements, or other third part
not performing data collection and analysis imaely or accurate manne

» inspections of clinical trial sites by the FDA betfinding of regulatory violations by the FDA ar ERB that require us to underta
corrective action, result in suspension or ternigmabf one or more sites or the imposition of aiclal hold on the entire trial, or tt
prohibit us from using some or all of the datauport of our marketing applicatior

» third-party contractors becoming debarred @psnded or otherwise penalized by the FDA or ajogernment or regulatory
authorities for violations of regulatory requirertgrin which case we may need to find a substitatéractor, and we may not be
able to use some or any of the data produced by soratractors in support of our marketing applmasi or

« one or more IRBs refusing to approve, suspandirterminating the trial at an investigationa¢ sprecluding enrollment of
additional subjects, or withdrawing its approvatloé trial.

Product development costs will increase if we hdelays in testing or approval of EVK-001 or if weed to perform more or larger clinical
trials than planned. Additionally, changes in regoity requirements and policies may occur and wg mead to amend clinical trial protocols
to reflect these changes. Amendments may requite iesubmit our clinical trial protocols to IRBsrfreexamination, which may impact the
costs, timing or successful completion of a clihtdal. If we experience delays in completion ofibwe, the FDA or other regulatory
authorities, the IRB, or other reviewing entities any of our clinical trial sites suspend or teraie any of our clinical trials, the commercial
prospects for our product candidate may be harmddar ability to generate product revenues wilbetayed. In addition, many of the factors
that cause, or lead to, termination or suspendioor@ delay in the commencement or completiortijcal trials may also ultimately lead to
the denial of regulatory approval of a product é¢datk. Also, if one or more clinical trials are agtd, our competitors may be able to bring
products to market before we do, and the commev@aility of EVK-001 could be significantly redude

Final marketing approval for EVK-001 by the FDA or other regulatory authorities for commercial use may be delayed, limited, or denied,
any of which would adversely affect our ability to generate operating revenues.

After the completion of our Phase 3 clinical tidald, assuming the results of the trial are sucekdbe submission of an NDA, we cannot
predict whether or when we will obtain regulatoppeoval to commercialize EVK-001 and we cannotrefare, predict the timing of any
future revenue. Because EVK-001 is our only prodactdidate this risk is particularly significant fess. We cannot commercialize EVK-001
until the appropriate regulatory authorities hasdewed and approved marketing applications far pinoduct candidate. We cannot assure yo
that the regulatory agencies will complete theiiee processes in a timely manner or that we viatein regulatory approval for EVK-001. In
addition, we may experience delays or the appboatiay be rejected based upon additional governnegntation from future legislation or
administrative action or changes in FDA policy darihe period of product development, clinicall&riand FDA regulatory review. For
example, in 2009 following an FDA review of metqmlamide spontaneous safety reports, the FDA redjaitgoxed warning be added to the
metoclopramide product label concerning the chafi¢ardive dyskinesia, or TD, for patients takihgse products. The FDA requires a boxec
warning (sometimes referred to as a “Black Box” Wiflag) for products that have shown a significask of severe or life-threatening adverse
events. Recently, the European Medicines Agencgim@ittee on Medicinal Products for Human Use, oI has reviewed and has
proposed labeling changes for marketed metocloglimioducts in the European Union based on agégigsidelines or indications. Based
on their assessment of the limited efficacy andtgadata currently available to the CHMP, the CHMBommended to the European Medic
Agency that indications with limited or inconclusiefficacy data, including GERD, dyspepsia andrgparesis, be removed from the apprc
product label in the European Union. There candbagsurance as to whether the FDA will re-reviepraped metoclopramide product labels
as a result of any such regulatory actions in tiifgean Union or otherwise. If marketing approealEVK-001 is delayed, limited or denied,
our ability to market the product candidate, andahility to generate product sales, would be askigraffected.
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Even if we obtain marketing approval for EVK-001, it could be subject to restrictions or withdrawal from the market and we may be subject
to penaltiesif we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problemswith our product candidate, when
and if EVK-001 is approved.

Even if U.S. regulatory approval is obtained, ti®ARmay still impose significant restrictions on EMI01's indicated uses or marketing or
impose ongoing requirements for potentially coathg time consuming post-approval studies, post-atakrveillance or clinical trials. EVK-
001 will also be subject to ongoing FDA requirensegdverning the labeling, packaging, storage, itligtion, safety surveillance, advertising,
promotion, recordkeeping and reporting of safety ather post-market information. In addition, mawérers of drug products and their
facilities are subject to continual review and pdit inspections by the FDA and other regulatoharities for compliance with cGMP
requirements relating to quality control, qualigsarance and corresponding maintenance of recotldauments. If we or a regulatory
agency discovers previously unknown problems wipincaluct, such as adverse events of unanticipaestity or frequency, or problems with
the facility where the product is manufacturedegutatory agency may impose restrictions on thadlyet, the manufacturing facility or us,
including requesting recall or withdrawal of th@guct from the market or suspension of manufacgurin

If we or the manufacturing facilities for EVK-00aifFto comply with applicable regulatory requirertgra regulatory agency may:
» issue warning letters or untitled lette
» seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal pkieg or monetary fines
» suspend or withdraw regulatory appro\
e suspend any ongoing clinical tria
» refuse to approve pending applications or supplésn@napplications filed by u
» suspend or impose restrictions on operations, dieguicostly new manufacturing requirements

* seize or detain products, refuse to permit the inmoexport of product, or request us to initiatproduct recall
The occurrence of any event or penalty describegaimay inhibit our ability to commercialize ouioducts and generate revenue.

The FDA has the authority to require a risk evatiratind mitigation strategy or REMS plan as a coowliof approval of an NDA or following
approval, which may impose further requirementsestrictions on the distribution or use of an apprbdrug, such as limiting prescribing to
certain physicians or medical centers that havergahe specialized training, limiting treatmenptdients who meet certain safe-use criteria
and requiring treated patients to enroll in a regisn March 2009, the FDA informed drug manufaets that it will require a REMS for
metoclopramide drug products. The FDA'’s authomtyake this action is based on risk managemenpastimarket safety provisions within
the Food and Drug Administration Amendments Acte REMS for metoclopramide drug products consist liedication Guide, elements to
assure safe use (including an education programréscribers and materials for prescribers to gduzatients), and a timetable for submissior
of assessments of at least six months, 12 montldsaanually after the REMS is approved. We intenslubmit a proposed REMS at the time
of the NDA submission for EVK-001.

In addition, if EVK-001 is approved, our produdbéding, advertising and promotion would be subfeategulatory requirements and
continuing regulatory review. The FDA strictly rdgtes the promotional claims that may be made ap@gcription products. In particular, a
product may not be promoted for uses that are pyatoared by the FDA as reflected in the product’sraped labeling. If we receive marketing
approval for EVK-001, physicians may neverthelegsgribe it to their patients in a manner thah&nsistent with the approved label. If we
are found to have promoted such off-label usesnag become subject to significant liability. The &ABnd other agencies actively enforce the
laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion fiflabel uses, and a company that is found to haygoperly promoted offabel uses may |
subject to significant sanctions. The federal goent has levied large civil and criminal finesiagacompanies for alleged improper
promotion and has enjoined several companies fragaging in off-label promotion. The FDA has alsquested that companies enter into
consent decrees or permanent injunctions underhwggecified promaotional conduct is changed or deda

Even if we receive regulatory approval for EVK-001, we still may not be able to successfully commercialize it and the revenue that we
generate from its sales, if any, will be limited.

EVK-001's commercial success will depend upon tteeptance of the product candidate by the medaahaunity, including physicians,
patients and health care payors. The degree ofehadceptance of our product candidate will depend number of factors, including:

» demonstration of clinical efficacy and safety congobto other morestablished product

« the limitation of our targeted patient populationstomer-only;

» limitations or warnings contained in any FDApapved labeling, including the potential boxed viagnon all metoclopramide
product labels concerning the chance of TD forgras taking these products, or any limitations wétspect to metoclopramide
product labels in the European Unit

» acceptance of a new formulation by health careigers and their patient



» the prevalence and severity of any adverse eff

* new procedures or methods of treatment thatlmeayore effective in treating or may reduce tloédiences of diabetic
gastroparesis

» pricing and co«-effectiveness
» the effectiveness of our or any future collabors’ sales and marketing strategi

« our ability to obtain and maintain sufficiehtrd-party coverage and reimbursement from govemirhealth care programs,
including Medicare and Medicaid, private healthuiress and other thi-party payors; an

« the willingness of patients to pay -of-pocket in the absence of th-party coverage

If EVK-001 is approved, but does not achieve armjadée level of acceptance by physicians, health payors and patients, we may not
generate sufficient revenue, and we may not betaldehieve or sustain profitability. Our effortsdducate the medical community and third-
party payors on the benefits of EVK-001 may regsigmificant resources and may never be succedsfatldition, our ability to successfully
commercialize our product candidate will dependuonability to manufacture our products, differaiei our products from competing prodt
and defend the intellectual property of our product
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It will be difficult for usto profitably sell EVK-001 if coverage and reimbursement are limited.

Market acceptance and sales of our product caredigiéitdepend on coverage and reimbursement pslaie may be affected by healthcare
reform measures. Government authorities and thartlygpayors, such as private health insurers aatthhmaintenance organizations, decide
which medications they will pay for and establisimbursement levels. A primary trend in the U.Saltheare industry and elsewhere is cost
containment. Government authorities and these-fhartly payors have attempted to control costsritilig coverage and the amount of
reimbursement for particular medications. Increglginthird-party payors have been challenging thegs charged for products. They may als
refuse to provide any coverage of uses of apprpveducts for medical indications other than thagenfhich the FDA has granted marketing
approval. This trend may impact the reimbursementréatments for Gl disorders especially, inclgdit\VK-001, as physicians typically focus
on symptoms rather than underlying conditions wineating patients with these disorders and drug®#ien prescribed for uses outside of
their approved indications. In instances whereaadtive products are available, it may be requihed those alternative treatment options are
tried before coverage and reimbursement are avaifabEVK-001. Although EVK-001 is a novel nasaray formulation of metoclopramide,
this is the same active ingredient that is alremdjilable in other formulations approved for treatment of gastroparesis that are already
widely available at generic prices. We cannot bie sliat coverage will be available for EVK-001 aifidtoverage is available, the level of
reimbursement. Reimbursement may impact the derfwaindr the price of, this product candidate. Inligidn, in certain foreign countries,
particularly the countries of the European Unitw pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is scibje governmental control. If
reimbursement is not available or is available daliimited levels, we may not be able to succdgsbommercialize our product candidate.

We rely and will continueto rely on outsourcing arrangements for many of our activities, including clinical development and supply of EVK-
001.

We have only seven full-time employees and, asaltieve rely on outsourcing arrangements for aifigant portion of our activities,
including clinical research, data collection andlgsis and manufacturing, as well as functioning asiblic company. We may have limited
control over these third parties and we cannotantee that they will perform their obligations im effective and timely manner.

We have retained SynteractHCR, a contract resemganization, or CRO, to conduct our planned PBadlical trial of EVK-001. We will be
required to reach agreement on acceptable terrhsthgtclinical trial sites, the terms of which damsubject to extensive negotiation and may
vary significantly among trial sites. We will neassistance from our CRO in obtaining IRB approvaeaah clinical trial site and will rely on
our CRO to recruit suitable patients to participatéhe proposed trial.

The manufacture of pharmaceutical products requigrsficant expertise and capital investment,udahg the development of advanced
manufacturing techniques and process controls. dtlown or operate manufacturing facilities fog production of any component of EVK-
001, including metoclopramide, the nasal sprayaewr associated bottle, nor do we have plansuelde our own manufacturing operations
in the foreseeable future. We currently depenchod-{party contract manufacturers for all of ouquéed raw materials, drug substance and
drug product for our clinical trials. For EVK-00de are currently using, and relying on, single $igpp and single manufacturers for starting
materials, the final drug substance and nasal gehyery device. Although potential alternativeppliers and manufacturers for some
components have been identified, we have not gedlihese vendors to date. If we were requirechémge vendors, it could result in a failure
to meet regulatory requirements or projected tinesiand necessary quality standards for succemafulifacturing of the various required lots
of material for our development and commercialmagfforts.

We do not have any current contractual relatiorsfop the manufacture of commercial supplies of EQKL. If EVK-001 is approved for sale
by any regulatory agency, we intend to enter iigiceaments with third-party contract manufacturercbmmercial production. The number of
third-party manufacturers with the expertise, reggiiregulatory approvals and facilities to manufeebulk drug substance on a commercial
scale is limited. We have identified one manufaatdior potentially providing commercial suppliesE¥K-001; however no alternative
providers have been identified to date. If we arehle to come to terms on becoming our commerajgblger with this manufacturer, we woi
have to find replacements, which could delay tharoercialization of our product candidate.

In addition, our reliance on third party CROs andtcact manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, ésfarther risks including:
* nor-compliance by third parties with regulatory andlgyaontrol standards
e breach by third parties of our agreements with tt
* termination or no-renewal of an agreement with third parties;
» sanctions imposed by regulatory authoritieoihpounds supplied or manufactured by a third paupplier or manufacturer fail to
comply with applicable regulatory standar

We face substantial competition, which may result in others selling their products more effectively than we do, and in others discovering,
developing or commercializing product candidates before, or more successfully, than we do.

Our future success depends on our ability to detratesand maintain a competitive advantage witheesto the design, development and
commercialization of EVK-001. We anticipate thati&@01, if approved, would compete directly with mebpramide, erythromycin and
domperidone, each of which is available under varipade names sold by several major pharmacectoapanies, including generic
manufacturers. Metoclopramide is the only moleculeently approved in the United States to treatrgparesis. Metoclopramide



genericallyavailable and indicated for the relief of symptoessociated with acute and recurrent diabetic gaestesis, without the limitation
use in women only.

Many of our potential competitors have substantigteater financial, technical and personnel resgaithan we have. In addition, many of
these competitors have significantly greater conciakinfrastructures than we have. We will not Ideato compete successfully unless we
successfully:

» assure health care providers, patients and healéhpayors that EV-001 is beneficial compared to other products inntlaeket;
» obtain patent and/or other proprietary protectomEVK-001;

» obtain and maintain required regulatory approvats=VK-001; anc

» collaborate with others to effectively market, seitl distribute EVI-001.
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Established competitors may invest heavily to qyickscover and develop novel compounds that cowddéte our product candidate obsolete.
In addition to our EVK-001 product candidate, we aware of other development candidates in clirdeaklopment. Any of these product
candidates could advance through clinical developrfaster than EVK-001 and, if approved, couldiatfaster and greater market acceptance
than our product candidate. If we are not ableotoete effectively against our current and futwmnpetitors, our business will not grow and
our financial condition and operations will suffer.

We have no sales, marketing or distribution capabilities currently and we will have to invest significant resources to develop these
capabilities.

Currently, we have no internal sales, marketindisiribution capabilities. If EVK-001 ultimately ceives regulatory approval, we may not be
able to effectively market and distribute the pradrandidate. We will have to invest significantamts of financial and management
resources to develop internal sales, distributiwh marketing capabilities, some of which will beraitted prior to any confirmation that
EVK-001 will be approved. We may not be able teldonsultants or external service providers tesassiin sales, marketing and distribution
functions on acceptable financial terms or atBlen if we determine to perform sales, marketing @istribution functions ourselves, we co
face a number of additional related risks, inclgdin

» inability to attract and build an effective marketidepartment or sales for¢

» the cost of establishing a marketing departroeisales force may exceed our available finamesdurces and the revenues
generated by EV-001 or any other product candidates that we magldpyir-license or acquire; ar

» our direct sales and marketing efforts may notuseassful

If wefail to attract and retain senior management and key commercial personnel, we may be unable to successfully complete the
development of EVK-001 and commercialize this product candidate.

Our success depends in part on our continuedyatmliattract, retain and motivate highly qualifisénagement, clinical and commercial
personnel. We are highly dependent upon our semémragement team composed of three individuals:daviGonyer, R.Ph., our President
and Chief Executive Officer, Matthew J.@nofrio, our Executive Vice President and ChiefiBass Officer, and Marilyn Carlson, DMD, M
RAC, our Chief Medical Officer. The loss of sendagf any of these individuals could delay or preitae successful development of E\IKAL
or the commercialization of this product candidétapproved.

We will need to hire and retain qualified personiéé could experience problems in the future afiiigeand retaining qualified employees.
example, competition for qualified personnel in bhetechnology and pharmaceuticals field is intepseticularly in the San Diego, California
area where we are headquartered. We may not béoahiizact and retain quality personnel on acd#pteerms who have the expertise we r
to sustain and grow our business.

We may encounter difficultiesin managing our growth and expanding our operations successfully.

Because we currently have only seven fulle employees, we will need to grow our organ@asubstantially to continue the development
pursue the potential commercialization of EVK-08%.we seek to advance EVK-001, we will need to expaur development, regulatory,
manufacturing, marketing and sales capabilitiesontract with third parties to provide these caliidds for us. As our operations expand, we
expect that we will need to manage additional iefaships with various strategic partners, supplérd other third parties. Future growth will
impose significant added responsibilities on memloémanagement and require us to retain additioteinal capabilities. Our future financ
performance and our ability to commercialize EVKE@GNhd to compete effectively will depend, in part,our ability to manage any future
growth effectively. To that end, we must be ablentinage our development efforts and clinical trédisctively and hire, train and integrate
additional management, clinical and regulatoryafiicial, administrative and sales and marketinggreral. We may not be able to accomplish
these tasks, and our failure to accomplish angeitcould prevent us from successfully growingeaampany.

Recently enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for usto obtain marketing approval of and commercialize EVK-
001 and affect the prices we may obtain.

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictiohere have been a number of legislative and a#gyl changes and proposed changes
regarding the healthcare system that could premedéelay marketing approval for EVK-001, restrictregulate post-approval activities and
affect our ability to profitably sell our producardidate, assuming we obtain marketing approval.

Legislative and regulatory proposals have been n@md&pand post-approval requirements and resiets and promotional activities for
pharmaceutical products. We are not sure whethditiaial legislative changes will be enacted, oethler the FDA regulations, guidance or
interpretations will be changed, or what the imgEctuch changes on the marketing approvals of BJK-if any, may be. In addition,
increased scrutiny by the U.S. Congress of the Elaproval process may significantly delay or pnéwearketing approval, as well as sub
us to more stringent product labeling and post-etamg testing and other requirements.

In the United States, the Medicare Modernizatioh, Ac MMA, changed the way Medicare covers and gaypharmaceutical products. The
legislation expanded Medicare coverage for outpatieug purchases by Medicare beneficiaries undmvwaPart D and introduced a n



reimbursement methodology based on average sabes fior Medicare Part B physician-administeredydrun addition, this legislation
authorized Medicare Part D prescription drug plangse formularies where they can limit the nundfedrugs that will be covered in any
therapeutic class. As a result of this legislatiod the expansion of federal coverage of drug misdwe expect that there will be additional
pressure to contain and reduce costs. These chgitien initiatives and other provisions of thigilation could decrease the coverage and
price that we receive for any approved productsamdd seriously harm our business. While the MMplées only to drug benefits for
Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follMedicare coverage policy and payment limitationsetting their own reimbursement rates,
and any reduction in Medicare reimbursement mayltr@sa similar reduction in payments from privatgyors.
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In early 2010, President Obama signed into lawPdgent Protection and Affordable Care Act, as afedrby the Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act, or collectively, the Health @dReform Law, a sweeping law intended to broadersscto health insurance, reduce or
constrain the growth of healthcare spending, erhammedies against fraud and abuse, add new tramsyarequirements for healthcare and
health insurance industries, impose new taxes eggldn the health industry and impose additioraltih@olicy reforms. The Health Care
Reform Law, among other things, increased the Medirebates owed by manufacturers under the Metigaig Rebate Program for both
branded and generic drugs and revised the definitidaverage manufacturer price” for reporting mses, which could further increase the
amount of Medicaid drug rebates to states. Furthernew law imposes a significant annual fee anganies that manufacture or import
branded prescription drug products, increased tineber of entities eligible for discounts under 3B program and included a 50% discoun
on brand name drugs for Medicare Part D benefesarn the coverage gap, or “donut hole.” Substhnéw provisions affecting compliance
have also been enacted, which may require us tafynmar business practices with healthcare praeigrs. Although it is too early to
determine the full effect of the Health Care Refdraw, the new law appears likely to continue thespure on pharmaceutical pricing,
especially under the Medicare program, and mayiatsease our regulatory burdens and operatingcost

In addition, other legislative changes have beep@sed and adopted in the United States since e¢hélHCare Reform Law was enacted. In
August 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011 amotigeothings, created the Joint Select CommitteBeficit Reduction to recommend
proposals in spending reductions to Congress. dim¢ Select Committee did not achieve its targeteficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion 1
the years 2013 through 2021, triggering the letieies automatic reduction to several governmengpams. This includes aggregate
reductions to Medicare payments to providers of pecent per fiscal year, which went into effectApril 1, 2013. On January 2, 2013,
President Obama signed into law the American TaapRglief Act of 2012, which, among other thingsttier reduced Medicare payments to
several providers, including hospitals, imagingteexand cancer treatment centers. These new faviha regulations and policies
implementing them, as well as other healthcarermefmeasures that may be adopted in the future,raag a material adverse effect on our
industry generally and on our ability to succedgfdevelop and commercialize our products, if apph

If we market productsin a manner that violates healthcare fraud and abuse laws, or if we violate government price reporting laws, we may
be subject to civil or criminal penalties.

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pimaceutical products, several other types of statefederal healthcare fraud and abuse lav
have been applied in recent years to restrict icemarketing practices in the pharmaceutical ingu&these laws include false claims, anti-
kickback and physician payment transparency lawisragulations. Because of the breadth of these $adghe narrowness of the safe harbor:
it is possible that some of our business activitimsld be subject to challenge under one or mothesfe laws.

The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, amantger things, knowingly and willfully offering, payg, soliciting or receiving remuneration
to induce, or in return for, purchasing, leasingleving or arranging for the purchase, lease oeroflany healthcare item or service
reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or other feltiefinanced healthcare programs. This statuteleen interpreted to apply to
arrangements between pharmaceutical manufactuneteeane hand and prescribers, purchasers andimymmanagers on the other.
Although there are several statutory exceptionsragdlatory safe harbors protecting certain comandivities from prosecution, the
exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowlypaactices that involve remuneration intended thuge prescribing, purchasing or
recommending may be subject to scrutiny if theyndbqualify for an exception or safe harbor. Owgtices may not in all cases meet all of
criteria for safe harbor protection from anti-kieldk liability. Further, the Health Care Reform Laanong other things, amends the intent
requirement of the federal Anti-Kickback Statutel dime criminal healthcare fraud statutes that fmibkixecuting a scheme to defraud any
federal healthcare benefit program or making fatatements relating to healthcare matters. A pess@mtity no longer needs to have actual
knowledge of these statutes or specific intentistate them. In addition, the Health Care Reformvl@ovides that the government may asser
that a claim including items or services resulfiregn a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Stétconstitutes a false or fraudulent claim for
purposes of the federal False Claims Act.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person flarawingly presenting, or causing to be presentddlsa claim for payment to the federal
government or knowingly making, or causing to belea false statement to get a false claim paidlations of the False Claims Act can
result in very significant monetary penalties amdble damages. Over the past few years, severahpleautical and other healthcare compe
have been prosecuted under these laws for a varfietyeged promotional and marketing activitiag;ts as: allegedly providing free trips, free
goods, sham consulting fees and grants and otheetawy benefits to prescribers; reporting to pgcservices inflated average wholesale pi
that were then used by federal programs to setagisement rates; engaging in off-label promotiat ttaused claims to be submitted to
Medicaid for non-covered, off-label uses; and subing inflated best price information to the Medit&ebate Program to reduce liability for
Medicaid rebates. Most states also have statutesgatations similar to the federal anti-kickbaalvland false claims laws, which apply to
items and services reimbursed under Medicaid amer gtate programs, or, in several states, apghrdéess of the payor.

In addition, the Health Care Reform Law included thderal Physician Payment Sunshine Act, whichireg manufacturers of drugs, devices
biologics and medical supplies for which paymeravailable under Medicare, Medicaid or the Childséfealth Insurance Program (with
certain exceptions) to report annually to the goment information related to payments or othémansfers of valué made to physicians
(defined to include doctors, dentists, optometristaliatrists and chiropractors) and teaching hakpiand applicable manufacturers and grouj
purchasing organizations to report annually togbeernment ownership and investment interests elchysicians (as defined above) and
their immediate family members. Manufacturers weiguired to begin data collection on August 1, 2848 will be required to report such
data to the government by March 31, 2014 and b@€iecalendar day of each year thereafter. There apesalgeral states with similar laws
that require drug manufacturers to report inforpratielated to payments and other transfers of valydysicians and other healthc



providers or marketing expenditures, and/or recpir@amaceutical companies to comply with the phasutical industry’s voluntary
compliance guidelines and the relevant complianddamnce promulgated by the federal governmentlogratise restrict payments that may be
made to healthcare providers.
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The risk of our being found in violation of thesevs and regulations is increased by the fact tlzatynof them have not been fully interpreted
by the regulatory authorities or the courts, aredrthrovisions are open to a variety of interpiietad. If our operations are found to be in
violation of any of the laws described above or ather governmental regulations that apply to usywvay be subject to penalties, including
civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, egidn from governmental health care programs, aadtintailment or restructuring of our
operations, any of which could adversely affectahitity to operate our business and our finanealilts.

Federal legislation and actions by state and local governments may permit re-importation of drugs from foreign countriesinto the United
States, including foreign countries where the drugs are sold at lower pricesthan in the United States, which could materially adversely affect
our operating results and our overall financial condition.

We may face competition in the United States foKE)O01, if approved, from lower priced products frémneign countries that have placed
price controls on pharmaceutical products. This msyy be particularly applicable to drugs such ¥&®01. The MMA contains provisions
that may change U.S. importation laws and expardrphcists’ and wholesalers’ ability to import loweiced versions of an approved drug
and competing products from Canada, where therg@amernment price controls. These changes to thoitation laws will not take effect
unless and until the Secretary of Health and HuBemwvices certifies that the changes will pose riitachal risk to the public’s health and
safety and will result in a significant reductionthe cost of products to consumers. The Secrefdrgalth and Human Services has not yet
announced any plans to make this required cettiifica

A number of federal legislative proposals have made to implement the changes to the U.S. impontdaws without any certification and
broaden permissible imports in other ways. Evahdfchanges do not take effect, and other charrgesoé enacted, imports from Canada and
elsewhere may continue to increase due to markkpalitical forces, and the limited enforcemenbrgses of the FDA, U.S. Customs and
Border Protection and other government agenciesekample, Pub. L. No. 111-83, which was signed latv in October 2009 and provides
appropriations for the Department of Homeland Sgctor the 2010 fiscal year, expressly prohibitsSUCustoms and Border Protection from
using funds to prevent individuals from importingrh Canada less than a 90-day supply of a presmrigtug for personal use, when the drug
otherwise complies with the Federal Food, Drug, @odmetic Act, or FDCA. Further, several stateslandl governments have implemented
importation schemes for their citizens and, indbeence of federal action to curtail such actisjtige expect other states and local governr
to launch importation efforts.

The importation of foreign products that competehwiiVK-001 could negatively impact our revenue anafitability, possibly materially.

If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and may be required to limit commercialization of
EVK-001.

We face an inherent risk of product liability aseault of the clinical testing of EVK-001 and wiégice an even greater risk if we commercialize
the product candidate. For example, we may be $lEedK-001 allegedly causes injury or is found te btherwise unsuitable during product
testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any spidduct liability claims may include allegationsdefects in manufacturing, defects in
design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent eghoduct candidate, negligence, strict liabilitylaa breach of warranties. Claims could also b
asserted under state consumer protection acts.

In particular, products containing metoclopramid&édnbeen reported to cause side effects, inclubiingt is possible that a patient taking
EVK-001 will be found to experience a variety adeieffects. In 2009, the FDA required a boxed waymn all metoclopramide product labels
concerning the chance of TD for patients takingéhgroducts. We expect that the label for EVK-00approved, will likely contain a similar
warning regarding TD. Several manufactures of mepramide products have been sued by patientsdegai D.

If we cannot successfully defend ourselves agairaduct liability claims, we may incur substantiabilities or be required to limit
commercialization of our product candidate. Eveccsessful defense would require significant finahared management resources. Regardles
of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claimay result in:

» decreased demand for E-001,;

* injury to our reputation

» withdrawal of clinical trial participant:

» costs to defend the related litigatic

« adiversion of manageme¢s time and our resource

» substantial monetary awards to trial participamtpatients

» product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketargpromotional restriction:
* loss of revenue

« the inability to commercialize EV-001; anc

e adecline in our stock pric



We may form strategic alliances in the future, and we may not realize the benefits of such alliances.

We may form strategic alliances, create joint veggior collaborations or enter into licensing ageanents with third parties that we believe
will complement or augment our existing businessluding for the continued development or commdmzation of EVK-001. These
relationships or those like them may require us¢ar non-recurring and other charges, increasaear- and long-term expenditures, issue
securities that dilute our existing stockholderslisrupt our management and business. In additferface significant competition in seeking
appropriate strategic partners and the negotigtioness is time-consuming and complex. Moreovemag not be successful in our efforts to
establish a strategic partnership or other alteraarrangements for EVK-001 because third partiag view the risk of success in our plannec
Phase 3 clinical trial as too significant or thenteercial opportunity for our product candidateaslimited. We cannot be certain that,
following a strategic transaction or license, wé achieve the revenues or specific net incomejtistifies such transaction.
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Our business and operations would suffer in the event of system failures.

Despite the implementation of security measuresjraarnal computer systems and those of our ctiaed any future CROs and other
contractors and consultants and collaborators alreexable to damage from computer viruses, unaizthdaccess, natural disasters, terrorism
war and telecommunication and electrical failuk&sile we have not experienced any such materiaésy$ailure, accident or security breach
to date, if such an event were to occur and causeruptions in our operations, it could resulaimaterial disruption of our development
program for EVKO01 and our business operations. For examplep#sedf clinical trial data from completed or futwtmical trials could resu

in delays in our regulatory approval efforts arghgficantly increase our costs to recover or repoadthe data. Likewise, we rely on third
parties to manufacture EVK-001 and conduct clinidals, and similar events relating to their congpsystems could also have a material
adverse effect on our business. To the extenttiatisruption or security breach were to result lnss of, or damage to, our data or
applications, or inappropriate disclosure of coafitial or proprietary information, we could inciatility and the further development and
commercialization of our product candidate couldiblyed.

Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenues and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses.

Our operations could be subject to earthquakesepstortages, telecommunications failures, watertages, floods, hurricanes, typhoons,
fires, extreme weather conditions, medical epidsraitd other natural or manmade disasters or bussim@esruptions, for which we are
predominantly self-insured. The occurrence of afiphese business disruptions could seriously harmoperations and financial condition and
increase our costs and expenses. We rely on thirty-manufacturers to produce our EVK-001. Ourigbib obtain clinical supplies of EVK-
001 could be disrupted, if the operations of ttegepliers are affected by a man-made or naturaktis or other business interruption. Our
operations are located in Solana Beach, Califarae& major earthquake faults and fire zones. Ttmate impact on us, our significant
suppliers and our general infrastructure of bedwgted near major earthquake faults and fire zand$eing consolidated in certain
geographical areas is unknown, but our operatiadgiaancial condition could suffer in the eventeofnajor earthquake, fire or other natural
disaster.

If wefail to develop and commercialize other product candidates, we may be unable to grow our business.

As part of our growth strategy, we plan to evaluhtedevelopment and/or commercialization of otherapies for GI motility disorders.
Similar to our initial focus on gastroparesis, wi# evaluate opportunities to in-license or acquither product candidates as well as
commercial products to treat patients sufferingnfiaredominantly Gl disorders, seeking to identifgas of high unmet medical needs with
limited treatment options. These other product @atds will require additional, time-consuming deyenent efforts prior to commercial sale,
including preclinical studies, extensive clinicaals and approval by the FDA and applicable fangiggulatory authorities. All product
candidates are prone to the risks of failure thatrzherent in pharmaceutical product developmanhyiding the possibility that the drug
candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safel/or effective for approval by regulatory autties. In addition, we cannot assure you that
any such products that are approved will be manufed or produced economically, successfully contimabzed or widely accepted in the
marketplace or be more effective than other comiagy@vailable alternatives.

If we engage in an acquisition, reorganization or business combination, we will incur a variety of risksthat could adversely affect our
business operations or our stockholders.

From time to time we have considered, and we wilitmue to consider in the future, strategic bussnaitiatives intended to further the
development of our business. These initiatives melyde acquiring businesses, technologies or misdor entering into a business
combination with another company. If we do pursuwehsa strategy, we could, among other things:

» issue equity securities that would dilute our caristockholder percentage ownershi
» incur substantial debt that may place strains aroperations
» spend substantial operational, financial and mamagé resources in integrating new businesses, téofies and products; ai

e assume substantial actual or contingent liabili
We may be unable to maintain sufficient product liability insurance.

Our inability to obtain and retain sufficient praduiability insurance at an acceptable cost tdgubagainst potential product liability claims
could prevent or inhibit the commercialization obgucts we develop. We currently carry productilighinsurance covering our clinical
studies. Although we maintain such insurance, daiyncthat may be brought against us could resudt @gourt judgment or settlement in an
amount that is not covered, in whole or in partphy insurance or that is in excess of the limitewr insurance coverage. If we determine that
it is prudent to increase our product liability eoage due to the commercial launch of any produetnay be unable to obtain such increased
coverage on acceptable terms or at all. Our ingeraolicies also have various exclusions, and we easubject to a product liability claim
which we have no coverage. We will have to pay ampunts awarded by a court or negotiated in aesedtht that exceed our coverage
limitations or that are not covered by our insusgrand we may not have, or be able to obtain,Sefft capital to pay such amounts.

Risks Relating to Our Intellectual Property



It isdifficult and costly to protect our intellectual property rights, and we cannot ensure the protection of these rights. Any impairment of our
intellectual property rights would materially affect our business.

We place considerable importance on obtaining patertection for new technologies, products anadtesses because our commercial succes
will depend, in large part, on obtaining patenttpection for new technologies, products and procgsseccessfully defending these patents
against third-party challenges and successfullgreifg our patents against third party competitdmsthat end, we have acquired and will file
applications for patents covering formulations eimihg or uses of EVK-001 or our proprietary pra@ssas well as other intellectual property
important to our business. One of our patentsedltd EVK-001 was acquired from Questcor. This métbf use patent was not written by us
or our attorneys, and we did not have control aéerdrafting and prosecution of these patentsheurQuestcor and other predecessors migh
not have given the same attention to the draftimy@osecution of these patents and applicatiomgeasould have if we had been the owners
of the patent and application and had control ¢lverdrafting and prosecution.
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The patent position of biotechnology and pharmacautompanies generally is highly uncertain antines complex legal and factual
questions for which legal principles remain unresdl In recent years patent rights have been thiesuof significant litigation. As a result,
the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability anchmercial value of our patent rights are highlyentain. Our pending and future patent
applications may not result in patents being issmieidh protect our technology or products or whffectively prevent others from
commercializing competitive technologies and praguChanges in either the patent laws or interfiogtaf the patent laws in the United
States and other countries may diminish the valwippatents or narrow the scope of our patertegtmn. The laws of foreign countries may
not protect our rights to the same extent as the (& the United States. Publications of discoseniethe scientific literature often lag behind
the actual discoveries, and patent applicationkérlnited States and other jurisdictions are gipiaot published until 18 months after filing,
or in some cases not at all. Therefore, we canaa@gltain that we or our predecessors were thadirmake the inventions claimed in our
owned and licensed patents or pending patent apiolits, or that we or our predecessors were thetéirfile for patent protection of such
inventions One or more of these factors could bgsesult in findings of invalidity or unenforceitity of one or more of the patents we own.

The patent rights we own covering EVK-001 are ladito specific methods of use and formulations efatiopramide. As a result, our ability
to market EVK-001 may be limited by the lack ofgqatprotection for the active ingredient itself aitder metoclopramide formulations may
be developed by competitors. The active ingredieEEVK-001 is metoclopramide. No patent protecti®available for metoclopramide itself.
As a result, competitors who develop and receigeired regulatory approval for competing produdimg the same active ingredient as EVK-
001 may market their competing products so lontiheg do not infringe any of the method or formwatpatents owned by us.

Others have filed, and in the future are likel¥ik®, patent applications covering products andhtedogies that are similar, identical or
competitive to ours, or important to our busin&¥s. cannot be certain that any patent applicationesirby a third party will not have priority
over patent applications filed or in-licensed by arsthat we will not be involved in interferen@gposition or invalidity proceedings before
U.S. or foreign patent offices.

We have focused our intellectual property efforighee United States. To the extent that our paderifolio differs from country to country
outside the United States, this may make protedwi-001 as a product outside the United States evere difficult and unpredictable.
Various countries maintain their own standardsiatefpretation of intellectual property law, potally creating additional patent risk beyond
even that experienced within the United States.

We also rely on trade secrets to protect technologyses when we believe patent protection isapptopriate or obtainable. However, trade
secrets are difficult to protect. While we requeéraployees, consultants and other contractors & @rtb confidentiality agreements, we may
not be able to adequately protect our trade secreagther proprietary information. Our researcHatmbrators and scientific advisors may have
rights to publish data and information in which gve rights. If we cannot maintain the confideitifadf our technology and other confiden
information in connection with our collaboratordaadvisors, our ability to receive patent protatiio protect our proprietary information may
be imperiled.

Claims by third parties that weinfringe their proprietary rights may result in liability for damages or prevent or delay our developmental and
commercialization efforts.

The biotechnology industry has been characterigeddguent litigation regarding patent and otheeliectual property rights. Because patent
applications are maintained in secrecy until thgliaption is published, we may be unaware of tipiadty patents that may be infringed by
commercialization of EVK-001. In addition, identiéition of third party patent rights that may bevaht to our technology is difficult because
patent searching is imperfect due to differencesiiminology among patents, incomplete databasgshendifficulty in assessing the meaning
of patent claims. Any claims of patent infringemasserted by third parties would be time consuramgjcould likely:

» resultin costly litigation
« divert the time and attention of our technical parel and managemel
» cause development dela

e prevent us from commercializing EVK-001 unkietasserted patent expires or is held finally iavat not infringed in a court of
law;

e require us to develop n-infringing technology; o

e require us to enter into royalty or licensing agneats.

Although no third party has asserted a claim afmgiement against us, others may hold proprietights that could prevent EVK-001 from
being marketed. Any patent-related legal actionregaus claiming damages or seeking to enjoin coroi@leactivities relating to our product
candidate or processes could subject us to potdiabéity for damages and could require us toaibta license to continue to manufacture or
market EVK-001, or, if no such license were avdédain commercially viable terms, could require uséase manufacturing and marketing of
EVK-001. We cannot predict whether we would preirainy such actions or that any license requiratku any of these patents would be
made available on commercially acceptable termet, dll. In addition, we cannot be sure that weldoedesign our product candidate or
processes to avoid infringement, if necessary. Atiogly, an adverse determination in a judiciabdministrative proceeding, or the failure to
obtain necessary licenses, could prevent us froraldging and commercializing EVK-001, which coularim our business, financial condition
and operating results. Whatever the outcome, atgnpétigation would be costly and time consumioguld be distracting to our managem



and could have a material adverse effect on ounbss.
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We may be subject to claims that we have wrongfully hired an employee from a competitor or that we or our employees have wrongfully used
or disclosed alleged confidential information or trade secrets of their former employers.

As is commonplace in our industry, we employ andseidt with individuals who were previously employetdbther biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies, including our competibongotential competitors. Although no claims agaims are currently pending, we may be
subject in the future to claims that our employ@esonsultants are subject to a continuing obligato their former employers or clients (such
as non-competition or non-solicitation obligations)claims that our employees, our consultants@heve inadvertently or otherwise used or
disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary inédion of their former employers or clients. Litigat may be necessary to defend against thes
claims. Even if we are successful in defendingragahese claims, litigation could result in subttd costs and be a distraction to
management.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foCapital

We have incurred significant losses since our itioagand have never been profitable, and it is ipssve will never achieve profitability. We
have devoted our resources to developing our ptariuadidate, but it cannot be marketed until reipujeapprovals have been obtained. Base
upon our currently expected level of operating exiierres following the completion of our initial plic offering, we expect to be able to fund
our operations for approximately the next 18 momthef December 31, 2013. This period could betshed if there are any significant
increases in planned spending on our EVK-001 deweémt program or more rapid progress of our plarittease 3 clinical trial than
anticipated. There is no assurance that other dingrwill be available when needed to allow usdatmue as a going concern. The perceptior
that we may not be able to continue as a goingeronmay cause others to choose not to deal withuago concerns about our ability to meet
our contractual obligations.

We have incurred significant operating losses since inception, and we expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future. We may never become
profitable or, if achieved, be able to sustain profitability.

We have incurred significant operating losses simeeavere founded in 2007 and expect to incur sicgnift losses for the next several years as
we begin our Phase 3 clinical trial for EVK-001.rOwet loss for the year ended December 31, 2018 approximately $2.8 million. As of
December 31, 2013, we had an accumulated defieippfoximately $22.7 million. Losses have resufigdcipally from costs incurred in our
clinical trials, research and development prograntsfrom our general and administrative expensethd future, we intend to continue to
conduct research and development, clinical testemylatory compliance activities and, if EVK-0Glaipproved, sales and marketing activities
that, together with anticipated general and adrrative expenses, will likely result in our incungi further significant losses for the next
several years.

We currently generate no revenue from sales, anchayenever be able to commercialize EUB1 or other marketable drugs. As a result, t
can be no assurance that we will ever generateoegeor achieve profitability, which could impairr@bility to sustain operations or obtain
any required additional funding. If we achieve gadfility in the future, we may not be able to suistprofitability in subsequent periods.

If wefail to obtain the capital necessary to fund our operations, we will be unable to successfully develop and commercialize EVK-001.

We will require substantial future capital in ordercomplete the remaining clinical developmentBEMK-001 and to potentially commerciali
this product candidate. The amount and timing gfexpenditure needed to implement our developmetitammercialization programs will
depend on numerous factors, including:

» the initiation, progress, costs, results of amdng of our clinical development program for EMI1, including our planned Phas
clinical trial;

» the need for, and the progress, costs andtsesfiilany additional clinical trials of EVK-001 vmeay initiate based on the results of
our planned clinical trials or discussions with Ei@A, including any additional trials the FDA oher regulatory agencies may
require evaluating the safety of E-001;

» the outcome, costs and timing of seeking and oisiguregulatory approvals from the FDA, and any famiegulatory agencie

» the timing and costs associated with manufaggueVK-001 for clinical trials and other studiesda if approved, for commercial
sale;

« our need and ability to hire additional managemeéenelopment and scientific personr

* the cost to maintain, expand and defend thpesod our intellectual property portfolio, includitthe amount and timing of any
payments we may be required to make, or that wemagive, in connection with licensing, filing, gezution, defense and
enforcement of any patents or other intellectuapprty rights;

» the timing and costs associated with establishagssand marketing capabilitie
* market acceptance of E\-001;

» the extent to which we are required to pay stdee or other payments under our Questcor assgligae agreement and the timing
of such payment:



» the costs of acquiring, licensing or investing duiional businesses, products, product candidatdgechnologies; ar

e our need to implement additional internal systenwsiafrastructure, including financial and repogtisystems

Some of these factors are outside of our contr@.cdhnot provide any assurance that our existipgataesources, which include the proce
from our initial public offering, will be sufficierto enable us to fund the completion of our Pl&asknical trial and remaining development

program, and, in any event, we will need to radditional capital to submit marketing applicatidosand prepare for commercialization of

EVK-001 should we receive product approval. We megd to raise additional funds in the near futareodmplete development activities for
EVK-001.

We may seek additional funding through collaboratgreements and public or private financings. Aadidal funding may not be available to
us on acceptable terms or at all. In additiontémms of any financing may adversely affect thedimgls or the rights of our stockholders. In
addition, the issuance of additional shares byuthe possibility of such issuance, may causertaeket price of our shares to decline.

If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely bagirequired, we will be unable to complete thenped Phase 3 clinical trial for EVK-001
and may be required to significantly curtail allafr activities. We also could be required to sieekis through arrangements with collabora
partners or otherwise that may require us to reistgrights to our product candidate or some oftednnologies or otherwise agree to terms
unfavorable to us.
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The terms of our secured debt facility require usto meet certain operating and financial covenants and place restrictions on our operating
and financial flexibility. If we raise additional capital through debt financing, the terms of any new debt could further restrict our ability to
operate our business.

We have a $3.0 million loan and security agreeméihit Silicon Valley Bank that is secured by a liewvering substantially all of our assets,
excluding intellectual property. As of December 2@13, the outstanding principal balance of the®&il Valley Bank loan was $3.0 million.
The loan agreement contains customary affirmatindereegative covenants and events of default. Tivenaftive covenants include, among
others, covenants requiring us to maintain ourllegstence and governmental approvals, delivemgefinancial reports and maintain
insurance coverage. The negative covenants incirdeng others, restrictions on transferring colidteehanging our business, incurring
additional indebtedness, engaging in mergers anisitipns, paying dividends or making other digttibns, making investments and creating
other liens on our assets, in each case subjecstomary exceptions. If we default under the lagreement, the lender may accelerate all of
our repayment obligations and take control of dadged assets, potentially requiring us to renag@thur agreement on terms less favorable
us or to immediately cease operations. Furtheveifare liquidated, the lendsrtight to repayment would be senior to the rigtitthe holders ¢
our common stock to receive any proceeds fromithedation. The lenders could declare a defaultugh@ occurrence of any event that they
interpret as a material adverse change as definger uhe loan agreement, thereby requiring uspgay¢he loan immediately or to attempt to
reverse the declaration of default through negotiadr litigation. Any declaration by the lenderaf event of default could significantly harm
our business and prospects and could cause threegiraur common stock to decline. If we raise addglittonal debt financing, the terms of st
additional debt could further restrict our opergtand financial flexibility.

Our ability to use net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and certain built-in losses to reduce future tax paymentsis limited by
provisions of the I nternal Revenue Code, and may be subject to further limitation asaresult of the transactions completed in connection
with our initial public offering.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code€9861as amended, if a corporation undergoes anémship change"generally defined as
greater than 50% change (by value) in its equitpenship over a three year period), the corporagiaiility to use its pre-change net operating
loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax at&#to offset its post-change income may be limifesda result of our initial public offering,
our most recent private placement and other traiogsecthat have occurred over the past three yasrsnay have experienced an “ownership
change.” We may also experience ownership chamgiifuture as a result of subsequent shifts irstack ownership. As of December 31,
2013, we had federal and state net operating kExsgforwards of approximately $21.2 million and $2nillion, respectively, and federal
research and development credits of approximat@®f 00 which could be limited if we experience'awnership change.”

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock
An active trading market for our common stock may not develop.

Prior to our initial public offering in SeptembedI3, there was no public market for our commonistéa active trading market may never
develop or be sustained. If an active trading ntaitkes not develop or is not sustained, it mayifieult to sell shares of our common stock at
a price that is desirable or at all. In additiom,jmactive market may impair our ability to raispital by selling shares and may impair our
ability to acquire other companies or technolodpgsising our shares as consideration, which, in, ttould materially adversely affect our
business. Since the commencement of trading inexdimm with our initial public offering in Septemb2013 through March 20, 2014, the sale
price per share of our common stock on The NASDA#ital Market has ranged from a low of $6.75 toghlof $14.25.

The price of the shares of our common stock could be highly volatile, and purchasers of our common stock could incur substantial losses.

Our stock price is likely to be volatile and cobilel subject to wide fluctuations in response toateifactors, some of which are beyond our
control. The stock market in general and the maideiotechnology companies in particular haveezignced extreme volatility that has often
been unrelated to the operating performance ofcodait companies. As a result of this volatilitgyestors may not be able to sell their comi
stock at or above the price at which they purchéiseghares. The market price for our common steay be influenced by many factors,
including:

« our ability to enroll patients in our planned Phas#inical trial;

» results of the clinical trial, and the results mdls of our competitors or those of other compaiieour market secto

» regulatory developments in the United States aneida countries

» variations in our financial results or those of gamies that are perceived to be similar tc

» changes in the structure of healthcare paymenessstespecially in light of current reforms to th&. healthcare syster

e announcements by us or our competitors of signmifiegquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint vees$ or capital commitment

« market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biagtetdgy sectors and issuance of securities an/’ reports or recommendatior
» sales of our stock by insiders and 5% stockholc

» trading volume of our common stoc



* general economic, industry and market conditiohgioévents or factors, many of which are beyondcoatrol;

» additions or departures of key personnel;

» intellectual property, product liability or othétigation against us

In addition, in the past, stockholders have intiatlass action lawsuits against biotechnologymramaceutical companies following periods
of volatility in the market prices of these compeiistock. Such litigation, if instituted against gould cause us to incur substantial costs anc
divert management’s attention and resources, wdocid have a material adverse effect on our busjriggncial condition and results of

operations.
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Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly.

We expect our operating results to be subject totgtly fluctuations. Our net loss and other opegatesults will be affected by numerous
factors, including:

» variations in the level of expenses related toEMK-001 development prograr
» addition or termination of clinical trial:

e any intellectual property infringement lawsuit ifmish we may become involve
» regulatory developments affecting E-001; anc

» our execution of any collaborative, licensirrgsmilar arrangements, and the timing of paymeargsnay make or receive under
these arrangemen

If our quarterly operating results fall below theectations of investors or securities analysts pitice of our common stock could decline
substantially. Furthermore, any quarterly fluctoas in our operating results may, in turn, causeptiice of our stock to fluctuate substantially.

Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant control over
matters subject to stockholder approval.

As of March 20, 2014, our executive officers, diogs and greater than 5% stockholders, in the aggee owned approximately 56.2% of our
outstanding common stock. As a result, such persmisg together, will have the ability to contoalr management and affairs and
substantially all matters submitted to our stocklbod for approval, including the election and real®f directors and approval of any
significant transaction. These persons will alseehitne ability to control our management and bussredfairs. This concentration of ownership
may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preiey a change in control, impeding a merger, cbaation, takeover or other business
combination involving us, or discouraging a poteldicquirer from making a tender offer or othervaiempting to obtain control of our
business, even if such a transaction would bea#fér stockholders.

Anti-takeover provisionsin our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholdersto replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our amended and restated certifichtecorporation and amended and restated bylawsdakay or prevent an acquisition of us
or a change in our management. These provisiohsdac

» authorizing the issuance of “blank check” predd stock, the terms of which may be establismetishares of which may be issued
without stockholder approve

» limiting the removal of directors by the stockhatsle
e creating a staggered board of direct

«  prohibiting stockholder action by written conseghereby requiring all stockholder actions tadlesn at a meeting of our
stockholders

« eliminating the ability of stockholders to callpesial meeting of stockholdel

» permitting our board of directors to acceletht vesting of outstanding option grants uponateitransactions that result in a
change of control; an

» establishing advance notice requirements fominations for election to the board of directordarproposing matters that can be
acted upon at stockholder meetin

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaywae are governed by the provisions of Sectiondf@Be Delaware General Corporation
Law, which limits the ability of stockholders owgiin excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stimckerge or combine with us. Although
we believe these provisions collectively provideda opportunity to obtain greater value for stagklbrs by requiring potential acquirors to
negotiate with our board of directors, they woubghlst even if an offer rejected by our board werasidered beneficial by some stockholders.
In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prenany attempts by our stockholders to replademiove our current management by making
it more difficult for stockholders to replace membef our board of directors, which is responsibleappointing the members of our
management.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, conseguently, the ability of our stockholdersto achieve areturn on their
investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividensuoimommon stock and do not currently intend teddor the foreseeable future. We
currently anticipate that we will retain future eiaugs for the development, operation and expansi@ur business and do not anticipate
declaring or paying any cash dividends for thedeemble future. In addition, our loan and secafieement with Silicon Valley Bar



currently prohibits us from paying dividends on equity securities, and any future debt financingregement may contain terms prohibiting
or limiting the amount of dividends that may beldead or paid on our common stock. Any return tzkholders will therefore be limited to
the appreciation of their stock. Therefore, thecess of an investment in shares of our common stiltkepend upon any future appreciation
in their value. There is no guarantee that sharesitocommon stock will appreciate in value or ewesintain the price at which our
stockholders have purchased their shares.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock by our existing stockholdersin the public market could cause our stock priceto
fall.

The lock-up agreements pertaining to our initidblprioffering expired on March 23, 2014, which w89 days after the date of the
underwriting agreement pertaining to our initiabpia offering. Sales of a substantial number ofrebaf our common stock in the public
market after the expiration of these lock-up agrests, or the perception that these sales mightrpcould significantly reduce the market
price of our common stock and impair our abilityréaise adequate capital through the sale of additiequity securities.
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As of March 20, 2014, we had 6,099,547 shares wingon stock outstanding. Of these shares, only #E52000 shares of common stock solo
by us in our initial public offering are freely ttable without restriction in the public market. Hower, Aegis Capital Corp., the representative
of the underwriters for our initial public offeringnay, in its sole discretion, permit our officed&ectors and other stockholders who are sul

to lock-up agreements to sell shares prior to ¥pération of the lock-up agreements.

After the lock-up agreements expire, up to an &mftht 3,684,547 shares of common stock will beileligfor sale in the public market, of
which 3,427,622 shares are held by directors, a@xexafficers and other affiliates and will be sedtjto volume limitations under Rule 144
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,eoBt#turities Act. In addition, shares of commoulstbat are either subject to outstanding
options or reserved for future issuance under mpleyee benefit plans will become eligible for simi¢he public market to the extent permi
by the provisions of various vesting schedules]dbk-up agreements and Rule 144 and Rule 701 uhdeBecurities Act. If these additional
shares of common stock are sold, or if it is peregtithat they will be sold, in the public markéi trading price of our common stock could
decline.

As of March 20, 2014, the holders of 2,984,752 ebaf our common stock will be entitled to rightshwespect to the registration of their
shares under the Securities Act, subject to thielgcagreements described above. In addition, heloe84,000 shares of common stock
issuable upon the exercise of warrants will betledtito rights with respect to the registratiorttadir shares under the Securities Act, subject t
the lockup agreements described above. Registration of thtegres under the Securities Act would resuhénshares becoming freely trads
without restriction under the Securities Act, extdep shares held by affiliates, as defined in Rl4d under the Securities Act. Any sales of
securities by these stockholders could have a mbh#ziverse effect on the trading price of our camratock.

We are an emerging growth company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting requirements applicable to emerging growth
companies will make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company, as definededtimpstart Our Business Startups Act of 201h@dOBS Act. For as long as we
continue to be an emerging growth company, we rakg advantage of exemptions from various reporéggirements that are applicable to
other public companies that are not emerging grasthpanies, including not being required to compith the auditor attestation
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-OxleyoA2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reducedalsce obligations regarding executive
compensation in our periodic reports and proxyest@nts and exemptions from the requirements ofitigpladonbinding advisory votes on
executive compensation and stockholder approvahgfgolden parachute payments not previously ajgoroWwe could be an emerging growth
company for up to five years following 2013, thewe which we completed our initial public offeginalthough circumstances could cause us
to lose that status earlier, including if the markaue of our common stock held by non-affiliateseeds $700.0 million as of any June 30
before that time or if we have total annual greseenue of $1.0 billion or more during any fiscahybefore that time, in which cases we woulc
no longer be an emerging growth company as ofdhewing December 31 or, if we issue more than $ilidn in nonconvertible debt durin
any three year period before that time, we woultkego be an emerging growth company immediatelgnB&fter we no longer qualify as an
emerging growth company, we may still qualify dsmaller reporting company” which would allow usteke advantage of many of the same
exemptions from disclosure requirements includiogleing required to comply with the auditor atiisin requirements of Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and reduced disclosure obligatiegarding executive compensation in our perioceports and proxy statements. We
cannot predict if investors will find our commorsk less attractive because we may rely on theseptions. If some investors find our
common stock less attractive as a result, therelmayless active trading market for our commoaokstmd our stock price may be more
volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies tsmdelay adopting new or revised accounting statedantil such time as those
standards apply to private companies. We havedoahly elected not to avail ourselves of this extéonpfrom new or revised accounting
standards and, therefore, will be subject to tineesaew or revised accounting standards as othdicpudmpanies that are not emerging gro
companies. As a result, changes in rules of U.Bergdly accepted accounting principles or theieiiptetation, the adoption of new guidance o
the application of existing guidance to changesunbusiness could significantly affect our finai@osition and results of operations.

We will continue to incur significant increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management will be required to
devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

As a public company, we have incurred and will aare to incur significant legal, accounting andestbxpenses under the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act, as well as rules adopted by the SEC and ThE DIAQ Stock Market. These rules impose significaguirements on public companies,
including requiring establishment and maintenarfeeffective disclosure and financial controls amdmges in corporate governance practices
Further, in 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Refamd Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Aeis enacted. There are significant
corporate governance and executive compensatiateceprovisions in the Dodd-Frank Act that reqtiire SEC to adopt additional rules and
regulations in these areas such as “say on paypend access. Recent legislation permits smad#enérging growth companies3 implemen:
many of these requirements over a longer perioduarad five years following their initial public fafring. We are taking advantage of this new
legislation but cannot guarantee that we will nr@réquired to implement these requirements sobiaer hudgeted or planned and thereby incL
unexpected expenses. Stockholder activism, thewupolitical environment and the current high lexfegovernment intervention and
regulatory reform may lead to substantial new ratjoihs and disclosure obligations, which may leaddditional compliance costs and impact
the manner in which we operate our business in wiaysannot currently anticipate.

We expect the rules and regulations applicablautdip companies to substantially increase our lagal financial compliance costs anc



make some activities more time-consuming and colfttilese requirements divert the attention of management and personnel from other
business concerns, they could have a material sel\effect on our business, financial condition eesiilts of operations. The increased costs
will decrease our net income or increase our ciuiest@d net loss, and may require us to reduce gosther areas of our business or increase
the prices of our products or services. For exanypéeexpect these rules and regulations to makeie difficult and more expensive for us to
obtain director and officer liability insurance awd may be required to incur substantial costsamtain the same or similar coverage. We
cannot predict or estimate the amount or timingdditional costs we may incur to respond to thegeirements. The impact of these
requirements could also make it more difficult fisrto attract and retain qualified persons to serveur board of directors, our board
committees or as executive officers.
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If securities or industry analysts publish unfavorable research or reports about our business, our stock price and trading volume could
decline.

The trading market for our common stock dependsait on the research and reports that securitiesdastry analysts publish about us, our
business, our market or our competitors. We curérave limited research coverage by securitiesiaddstry analysts. If one or more of the
analysts who covers us downgrades our stock, oak gtrice would likely decline. If one or more bese analysts ceases to cover us or fails t
regularly publish reports on us, interest in oocktcould decrease, which could cause our stodle ni trading volume to decline.

We could be subject to securities class action litigation.

In the past, securities class action litigation bfsn been brought against a company followingelide in the market price of its securities.
This risk is especially relevant for us becauseplaaeutical companies have experienced signifiseuk price volatility in recent years. If we
face such litigation, it could result in substahtiasts and a diversion of management’s attentiwhrasources, which could harm our business

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable

Item 2. Properties

We occupy approximately 2,741 square feet of offjgace in Solana Beach, California under a leagenté entered into in November 2013.
This facility lease expires in December 2015. Wiele that our facility is adequate to meet ourdseand that, if necessary, additional space
can be leased to accommodate any future growtlmammercially reasonable terms.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not currently a party to any material lggakeedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not Applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Market Information

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQt&ld@arket since September 25, 2013 under the syrEMOK.” Prior to such time,
there was no public market for our common stocle fidilowing table sets forth the high and low saglase of our common stock, as reported
by the NASDAQ Capital Market for the period indiedt

High Low
Year Ended December 31, 201
Fourth Quarte $14.2¢ $ 6.7
Third Quartel $12.2¢ $10.5¢

Holders of Common Stock
As of March 20, 2014, there were 43 holders of l@@d our common stock.

Stock Performance Graph

The following stock performance graph illustratesoaparison of the total cumulative stockholdeumeton our common stock since
September 25, 2013, which is the date our commak dirst began trading on the NASDAQ Capital Marke two indices: the NASDAQ
Composite Index and the NASDAQ Biotechnology IndEixe graph assumes an initial investment of $108eptember 25, 2013, and that all
dividends were reinvested. The comparisons in thptgare required by the Securities and Exchangen@ssion and are not intended to
forecast or be indicative of possible future parfance of our common stock.

Comparison of 3 Month Cumulative Total Return
EVOK vs. Nasdaq Biotechnology Index vs. Nasdaq Compasite Index
Assumes Initial Invesment of $100
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Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocapital stock and do not anticipate paying @sh dividends in the foreseeable
future. We expect to retain available cash to fagaongoing operations and the potential growthusfusiness. In addition, our loan and
security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank curtgmirohibits us from paying dividends on our equggcurities, and any future debt financ
arrangement may contain terms prohibiting or lingjtthe amount of dividends that may be declarguha on our common stock. Any future
determination to pay dividends on our common steitkbe at the discretion of our board of directarsd will depend upon, among other
factors, our results of operations, financial ctindi capital requirements, contractual restrictidousiness prospects and other factors our
board of directors may deem relevant.

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

None.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information about our equity compensation plansdsrporated herein by reference to Item 12 of Radf this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data.
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the following selected financialda conjunction with our financial statements démel related notes thereto appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K anth@asection of this Annual Report on Form 10-Kiteed “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems.” We have derived the statements of oparatitata for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 and the pemwd January 29, 2007 (inception) to December 31328dd the balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, from our audited fimhstatements appearing elsewhere in this AnnealbR on Form 10-K. Our historical
results for any prior period are not necessaritiidative of the results to be expected in any ®ifgriod.

Period Fromr
January 29,
2007
(Inception) to

Year Ended December & December 31

2013 2012 2011 2013

Statement of Operations Date:
Operating Expense
Research and developme $ 956,98( $ 1,165,64! $ 1,844,04. $ 16,948,50
General and administrati 1,644,84: 86,78 570,52 4,949,38
Purchase of i-process research and developn — — — 650,00!(
Total operating expens 2,601,82! 2,002,42 2,414,56! 22,547,89
Loss from operation (2,601,82) (2,002,42) (2,414,56) (22,547,89)
Total other income (expens (234,63) (15,109 13,32« (143,57
Net loss and comprehensive I¢ $(2,836,46)  $(2,017,52)  $(2,401,24)  $(22,691,46)
Net loss per common share, basic and dil(® $ 120 $ 179 % (2.1¢)
Weightedaverage shares used to compute basic and dilut

loss per shar $ 2,368,00i $ 1,124,000 $1,102,62!

(1) See Note 2 to our audited financial statemirddsided elsewhere in this Annual Report on ForrKifor an explanation of the method
used to calculate the historical net loss per shrasic and diluted, and the number of shares insth@ computation of the per share
amounts

As of December 31

2013 2012

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivale $ 24,196,69 $ 116,01
Working capital (deficit 22,146,04 (454,396
Total asset 24,986,45 116,01:
Current liabilities (including warrant liability 2,284,90i 570,40¢
Long-term debt, net of current portic 1,511,446 979,79:
Series A Convertible preferred stc — 18,225,16
Deficit accumulated during the development si (22,691,46) (19,855,00)
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 21,183,26 (19,659,35)
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Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and anglysour financial condition and results of opecats together with our financial stateme
and the related notes and other financial inforraatincluded elsewhere in this Annual Report on Faf¥K. Some of the information
contained in this discussion and analysis or sghfelsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10+€Juding information with respect to our
plans and strategy for our business, includes fod-looking statements that involve risks and uncettas. You should review the “Risk
Factors” section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K fodiscussion of important factors that could causeamiual results to differ
materially from the results described in or impliegthe forward-looking statements contained inftil®ewing discussion and analysis.

Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company focugathgly on the development of drugs to treat gastestinal, or Gl, disorders and
diseases. We are developing EVK-001, a metocloglamasal spray for the relief of symptoms assotiaiéh acute and recurrent diabetic
gastroparesis in women with diabetes mellitus. Bligtgastroparesis is a Gl disorder afflicting roiis of sufferers worldwide, in which the
stomach takes too long to empty its contents riesgpilh serious digestive system symptoms. Metoeopde is the only product currently
approved in the United States to treat gastropgrasd is currently available only in oral andawgnous forms. EVK-001 is a novel
formulation of this drug, designed to provide systedelivery of metoclopramide through intranasdthinistration.

We have evaluated EVK-001 in a multicenter, randeahj double-blind, placebo-controlled parallel grodose-ranging Phase 2b clinical trial
in 287 patients with diabetic gastroparesis whé&r&#B01 was observed to be effective in improving thost prevalent and clinically relevant
symptoms associated with gastroparesis in womelewkhibiting a favorable safety profile. We planiitiate a Phase 3 trial of EVK-001 in
female patients with symptoms associated with aaoterecurrent diabetic gastroparesis in the fiadt of 2014.

We have no products approved for sale, and we hatvgenerated any revenue from product sales er ailiangements. We have primarily
funded our operations through the sale of our cuiile preferred stock, borrowings under our load aecurity agreements and the sale of
shares in our initial public offering, or IPO, ik@ember 2013. We have incurred losses in eachsysa@ our inception. Our net losses were
$2.8 million and $2.0 million for the years endeed@mber 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. As of Deee 31, 2013 and 2012, we had an
accumulated deficit of $22.7 million and $19.9 ioifl, respectively. Substantially all of our opemgtiosses resulted from expenses incurred it
connection with advancing EVK-001 through developtreetivities and general and administrative cassciated with our operations. We
expect to continue to incur significant expenseasianreasing operating losses for at least the sex¢ral years. We may never become
profitable, or if we do, we may not be able to airsprofitability on a recurring basis.

Questcor Asset Purchase Agreement

We acquired all worldwide rights, data, patents atteér related assets associated with EVK-001 f@arastcor Pharmaceuticals, Inc., or
Questcor, in June 2007. We paid to Questcor $6801Dthe form of an upfront payment, and will bgui&ed to make additional milestone
payments totaling up to $52,000,000. These milestamclude up to $5,000,000 in payments if EVK-@@hieves the following development
targets:

»  $500,000 upon the initiation of the first patiensthg in our planned Phase 3 clinical trial for E-001;
» $1,500,000 upon the FC's acceptance for review of an NDA for E-001; anc
» $3,000,000 million upon the FC's approval of EVI-001.
The remaining $47,000,000 in milestone paymentedémpmn EVK-001's commercial success and will odpla if EVK-001 receives

regulatory approval. In addition, we will be reaqdrto pay to Questcor a low single digit royaltyrat sales of EVK301. Our obligation to pe
such royalties will terminate upon the expiratidrte last patent right covering EVK-001, whicheigoected to occur in 2030.

Initial Public Offering and Related Transactions

On September 30, 2013, we completed our IPO, wiesebsold 2,100,000 shares of common stock at $1j2e0 share. On October 8,
2013, the underwriters for our IPO exercised therallotment option to purchase an additional 308.6hares of our common stock at $12.0C
per share. Net proceeds from the IPO, includingettexcise of the over-allotment option, were deteeth as follows:

Gross proceeds (including o-allotment) $28,980,00
Underwriting discounts and commissions and non-ac@ble expense

allowance (2,344,87)
Total offering costs (excluding value of warrantarged to underwriter of

$470,000 (1,514,17)
Net proceed $25,120,94

Additionally, upon the closing of the IPO, certagtated transactions occurred:



the conversion of all outstanding shares of ouwedible preferred stock into 2,439,002 sharesusfammmon stock

retention payments in the amount of $355,00fabe payable to our executive officers. Such amwastrecorded as expense on a
straight-line basis from May 22, 2013 (the dat¢hef Retention Agreements entered into with the etkee officers) through
December 24, 2013, the date at which the final patrwas due based on continued employment. Sieceetims of the payment
required the occurrence of either a change in obnfrthe Company or an equity financing, neithewbich were considered
probable to occur until they happen, a catch-upegp of $202,857 was recorded at the time of dOr The executive officers
remained with the Company through December 24, 20ti3received the full retention payme
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» the issuance of warrants to purchase 84,00@slud our common stock to the representative eiiiderwriters of our IPO and
certain of its affiliates. The warrants will becomeercisable at a price of $21.00 per share beginon September 24, 2014 and
will expire on September 24, 2018. The initial fealue of the warrants of $470,000 was determirgaguthe Black-Scholes option
pricing model on the date of the IPO and recorded eost of the issuance of common stock from BGr &nd charged to additional
paic-in capital;

» the conversion of warrants to purchase 110sb20es of convertible preferred stock into warrémisurchase 22,000 shares of our
common stock and the resultant reclassificatiothef$187,000 warrant liability to additional p-in capital; anc

» the filing of an amended and restated certiéicd incorporation to authorize 50,000,000 shafeommon stock and 5,000,000
shares of undesignated preferred sti

Financial Operations Overview

Research and Development Expenses

We expense all research and development expendesyaare incurred. Research and development egpgmsnarily include:
» clinical trial and regulator-related costs

e expenses incurred under agreements with canigaearch organizations, or CROSs, investigatitessind consultants that conduct
our clinical trials;

* manufacturing and stability testing costs and eelaupplies and materials; 8

» employerrelated expenses, including salaries, benefitgeti@and stoc-based compensation exper

All of our research and development expenses ® limte been incurred in connection with EUB%. We expect our research and develop
expenses to increase for the foreseeable futune aslvance EVK-001 through clinical developmentjuding the conduct of our planned
Phase 3 clinical trial. The process of conductiimjaal trials necessary to obtain regulatory appitds costly and time consuming. We are
unable to estimate with any certainty the costswillencur in the continued development of EVK-0(However, we currently estimate the
costs to complete our Phase 3 clinical trial in veanour companion clinical trial in men and a thayio QT study of EVK-001 will be
approximately $15.0 million. Clinical developmeimh¢lines, the probability of success and develogroests can differ materially from
expectations. We may never succeed in achievinggeting approval for our product candidate.

The costs of clinical trials may vary significantyer the life of a project owing to, but not lieit to, the following:
*  per patient trial cost:
» the number of sites included in the trie
» the countries in which the trials are conduc
» the length of time required to enroll eligible [atis;
» the number of patients that participate in thdgr
» the number of doses that patients rece
» the cost of comparative agents used in tr
« the droj-out or discontinuation rates of patier
* potential additional safety monitoring or otherdiis requested by regulatory agenc
» the duration of patient follo-up; and

» the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddate.

We do not expect EVK-001 to be commercially avddalf at all, for the next few years.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piiynairsalaries and related benefits, including ktbased compensation. Other general and
administrative expenses include professional feeadcounting, tax, patent costs, legal servicesjrance and facility costs. We expect that
general and administrative expenses will increagke future as we expand our operating activdigs incur additional costs associated with
being a publicly-traded company and maintaining pliemce with exchange listing and Securities andiange Commission requirements.
These increases will likely include higher consgtcosts, legal fees, accounting fees, directord’adficers’ liability insurance premiums and
fees associated with investor relatic



Total Other Income (Expense)

Total other income (expense) consists primarilintérest income we earn on interest-bearing acscamd money market funds for cash and

cash equivalents, interest expense incurred oowtstanding debt and changes in the fair valuauofa@rrant liability and preferred stock
purchase right liability.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmats and Estimates

Our management'’s discussion and analysis of oanéiial condition and results of operations is basedur financial statements, which we
have prepared in accordance with generally accegteounting principles in the United States, or @AAhe preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and asosifhat affect the reported amounts of assatdiahilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date efdbnsolidated financial statements, as well asgperted revenues and expenses during the
reporting periods. We evaluate these estimategualysinents on an ongoing basis. We base our essmoatbistorical experience and on
various other factors that we believe are reasenatdlier the circumstances, the results of whia file basis for making judgments about the
carrying value of assets and liabilities that asereadily apparent from other sources. Our acemllts may differ materially from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions

While our significant accounting policies are mbrlly described in Note 2 to our financial staternseappearing elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, we believe that the followagounting policies are the most critical for fullgderstanding and evaluating our financia
condition and results of operations.

Accrued Research and Devel opment Expenses

As part of the process of preparing financial stegsts, we are required to estimate and accrue egpgethe largest of which are research and
development expenses. This process involves thanolg:

e communicating with our applicable personnabientify services that have been performed on etiali and estimating the level of
service performed and the associated cost inctioretie service when we have not yet been invoarestherwise notified of actu.
cost;

e estimating and accruing expenses in our fir@ratatements as of each balance sheet date basact®and circumstances known
to us at the time; ar

« periodically confirming the accuracy of our estigmtvith selected service providers and making aujsts, if necessar

Examples of estimated research and developments&péhat we accrue include:
» fees paid to CROs in connection with toxicologydéts and clinical studie
» fees paid to investigative sites in connection withical studies
» fees paid to contract manufacturing organizationsoinnection with the production of clinical stuthaterials; ant

» professional service fees for consulting and rdlatrvices

We base our expense accruals related to cliniagdlest on our estimates of the services receivedeHinds expended pursuant to contracts witl
multiple research institutions and CROs that cohdad manage clinical studies on our behalf. Tharftial terms of these agreements vary
from contract to contract and may result in unepayment flows. Payments under some of these castig@pend on factors such as the
successful enroliment of patients, site initiatéord the completion of clinical study milestonesr ©ervice providers invoice us monthly in
arrears for services performed. In accruing serfiges, we estimate the time period over which ses/will be performed and the level of ef

to be expended in each period. If we do not idgmiifsts that we have begun to incur or if we unsterate or overestimate the level of serv
performed or the costs of these services, our bexmenses could differ from our estimates. To datehave not experienced significant
changes in our estimates of accrued research amdogenent expenses after a reporting period. Howelee to the nature of estimates, we
cannot assure you that we will not make changesit@stimates in the future as we become awarddifienal information about the status or
conduct of our clinical studies and other reseaxtivities.

Estimated Fair Value of Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

Freestanding warrants for the purchase of convertiteferred stock that is either subject to arygltt or redeemable are classified as liabilities
on the balance sheet at their estimated fair vé@ltithe end of each reporting period, changes fimased fair value during the period are
recorded as a component of other income (expeWserontinued to adjust the carrying value of th@aerants until the earlier of the exercise
of the warrants or the completion of a liquidityeat, including the completion of an IPO, at whiiché the liabilities were reclassified to
additional paid-in capital. As of December 31, 202had outstanding warrants exercisable to puechd$00 shares of our Series A
convertible preferred stock. During January 20t3additional 8,000 warrants to purchase our Sétiesnvertible preferred stock were issued
We estimate the fair values of the convertible gmefd stock warrants using the Black-Scholes opgrizing model based on inputs as of the
valuation measurement dates for the estimateddie of the underlying convertible preferred stdble remaining contractual terms of the
warrants, risk-free interest rates, expected dividates and the estimated volatility of the po€¢éhe convertible preferred stock. The
consummation of the IPO resulted in the conversioour Series A convertible preferred stock intonoeon stock. Upon such conversion, the
preferred stock warrant liability was remeasurethiovalue, reclassified to additional pardeapital and is no longer subject to remeasurdi

Stock-Based Compensation



Stock-based compensation expense is recorded astingated fair value of the award as of the gdaé and is recognized as expense on a
straight-line basis over the employee’s requigiiwise period, which is generally the vesting perd the award. Stock-based compensation
expense is based on awards ultimately expectedstp and therefore, the recorded expense includestanate of future forfeitures. Forfeitu
are to be estimated at the time of grant and rdyis@ecessary, in subsequent periods if actuéitores differ from those estimates.

Prior to the IPO, we granted stock options to pasehcommon stock to employees with exercise peigaal to the value of the underlying
stock, as determined by the board of directorsherdate the equity award was granted. The boaddeftors determined the fair value of the
underlying common stock by considering a numbdactors, including historical and projected finaalcesults, the risks we faced at the time,
the preferences of our preferred stockholders hadsick of liquidity of our common stock. Subseduerthe IPO, the exercise price of the
stock options granted to our employees and mendfersr board of directors was determined by theiolp market price of our stock on the
date the stock options were granted.
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The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using the Black-Scholes valuatimdel using the appropriate risk-free
interest rate, expected term and volatility assiongt The expected life of options was calculatsidgithe simplified method, which calcula
the life as the average of the contractual terthefstock option and the vesting period of theaptDue to our limited historical data as a
public company, the estimated volatility is caltathbased upon our historical volatility and conasée companies whose share prices are
publicly available for a sufficient period of tim€he risk-free interest rate is based upon U.Sadugy securities with remaining terms similar
to the expected term of the stock award being dalée granted 501,500 options in 2013 and no optior2012.

Other Information
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards

As of December 31, 2013, we had federal and Calidoilax net operating loss carryforwards of apprately $21.2 million and $20.7 million,
respectively. The federal and California net lassyforwards will begin to expire in 2027 and 208&5pectively, unless previously utilized.
of December 31, 2013, we also had federal and @ald research and development tax credit carndods of $627,000 and $459,000,
respectively. The federal research and developtagrdredit carryforwards will begin to expire inZ0unless previously utilized. The
California research and development tax credit @alry forward indefinitely.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code€9861as amended, if a corporation undergoes anémship change"generally defined as
greater than 50% change (by value) in its equitpenship over a three year period), the corporagiaiility to use its pre-change net operating
loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax ateibto offset its post-change income may be limi®d have not completed our analysis to
determine what, if any, impact any prior ownersttignge has had on our ability to utilize our netrafing loss carryforwards.

JOBS Act

On April 5, 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Spartict of 2012, or the JOBS Act, was enacted. 8edtD7 of the JOBS Act provides that
“emerging growth company” can take advantage oftttended transition period provided in Sectior)(2(¢B) of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, or the Securities Act, for complyintpwew or revised accounting standards. In othedsyan “emerging growth company” can
delay the adoption of certain accounting standandi$ those standards would otherwise apply togitevcompanies. We have irrevocably
elected not to avail ourselves of this extendedsiteon period and, as a result, we will adopt rewevised accounting standards on the
relevant dates on which adoption of such standardsjuired for other public companies.

We are in the process of evaluating the benefitelgfng on other exemptions and reduced reporgogirements provided by the JOBS Act.
Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JORSE as an “emerging growth company,” we intenddly on certain of these exemptions,
including without limitation, (i) providing an audr’s attestation report on our system of intecwitrols over financial reporting pursuant to
Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and inplying with any requirement that may be adoptgthie Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board, or PCAOB, regarding mandatory firsh rotation or a supplement to the auditor’pad providing additional information
about the audit and the financial statements, knasvithe auditor discussion and analysis. We witlai@ an “emerging growth company” until
the earliest of (a) the last day of the fiscal yieawhich we have total annual gross revenues dfiibn or more, (b) the last day of our fiscal
year following the fifth anniversary of the datetbé completion of our IPO, (c) the date on whighlvave issued more than $1 billior
nonconvertible debt during the previous three yealsl) the date on which we are deemed to bege laccelerated filer under the rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012
The following table summarizes the results of querations for the fiscal years ended December 313 2and 2012:

Year Ended December & Increase
2013 2012 (Decrease
Research and development $ 956,98( $1,165,64! $(208,66%
General and administrati 1,644,84: 836,78: 808,06°
Other income (expense
Interest incom: 7,24¢ 1,69( 5,55¢
Interest expens (159,889 (24,047 (135,84
Change in fair value of warrant liabili (82,000 7,25( (89,250)
Total other income (expens (234,63) (15,107 (219,539

Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses were approxral,000 for the year ended December 31, :
compared to approximately $1,165,000 for the yaded December 31, 2012. The decrease of approxin&289,000 is primarily related to
the decrease in executive compensation allocatesstarch and development as we worked to raigeakep2013 and to the reversal of the
2012 bonus accrual due to the election by our bofdirectors in April 2013 to not pay 2012 bonusesrder to conserve cash.

General and Administrative ExpensGeneral and administrative expenses were approaiyndi,645,000 for the year ended Decembel



2013, compared to approximately $837,000 for the yeded December 31, 2012. The increase of appabely $808,000 is primarily related
to a larger portion of our labor costs being altedato general and administrative activities in2@1ipreparation for our IPO and the payment
for the executive team’s retention payments of 3333, offset by the reversal of the 2012 bonususdatue to the election by our board of
directors in April 2013 to not pay 2012 bonuses.
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Other Income (Expense)ther income (expense) was approximately $(235,8fGhe year ended December 31, 2013 and primeoihsisted

of approximately $(160,000) of interest expense $(82,000) related to the increase in the fair @afiour outstanding warrant liability, and
offset by approximately $7,000 of interest incoéer income (expense) was approximately $(15,680he year ended December 31, 2012
and primarily consisted of approximately $(24,00D)nterest expense related to advances undeoauardnd security agreement, offset by
approximately $2,000 of interest income and $7 ®08ther income related to the decrease in fameaf our outstanding warrant liability.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
The following table summarizes the results of querations for the fiscal years ended December 312 2and 2011:

Year Ended December & Increase
2012 2011 (Decrease
Research and development $1,165,64! $1,844,04. $(678,399
General and Administrativ 836,78: 570,52- 266,25’
Other income (expense
Interest incomi 1,69( 10,69¢ (9,00¢)
Interest expens (24,047 (2,872) (21,170
Change in fair value of warrant liabili 7,25( 5,50( 1,75C
Total other income (expens (15,107 13,32« (28,42¢)

Research and Development ExpenResearch and development expenses were approxiratdle5,000 for the year ended December 31,
2012, compared to approximately $1,844,000 foyter ended December 31, 2011. The decrease ofapwately $679,000 is primarily
related to the decrease in development-related easive finalized the Phase 2 clinical trial forke001 and engaged with the FDA for Pha
planning.

General and Administrative Expens€eneral and administrative expenses were approgim$837,000 for the year ended December 31,
2012, compared to approximately $571,000 for the yeded December 31, 2011. The increase of appabely $266,000 is primarily related
to an increase in accruals for bonus paymentstofficers in 2012.

Other Income (Expenseé)ther income (expense) was approximately $(15,880he year ended December 31, 2012 and primenihsisted

of approximately $(24,000) of interest expenseteeldo advances under our loan and security agmetefiéset by approximately $2,000 of
interest income and $7,000 of other income relaagtie decrease in fair value of our outstandingavd liability. Other income (expense) was
approximately $13,000 for the year ended DecembgeP@11 and primarily consisted of $11,000 of iesttincome and $5,000 related to the
decrease in fair value of our outstanding warriiility, offset by $(3,000) of interest expenstated to advances under our loan and security
agreement.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception in 2007, we have funded ourapens primarily from the sale of equity secustend borrowings under our loan and
security agreements. Prior to our IPO, we recef®d7 million in net proceeds from the sale of 8aries A convertible preferred stock anc
proceeds of $3.0 million under our current loan security agreement. During 2013, we completed®rand raised approximately $25.1
million. We have incurred losses since inceptiod aaegative cash flows from operating activities.ocA®ecember 31, 2013, we had
approximately $24.2 million in cash and cash edeivis, working capital of approximately $22.1 noilliand an accumulated deficit of
approximately $22.7 million.

In June 2012, we entered into a $3.0 million load security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank whis collateralized by our personal
property. Interest on advances under the agreeiant fixed interest rate equal to 4.50%. The laad security agreement contains only non
financial covenants. Advances under the loan aondritg agreement had an interest-only period throDgcember 31, 2013 and a 24-month
payback period that commenced in January 2014 f Beoember 31, 2013, we had drawn down the endire fillion available under the
agreement to fund working capital and have no tiediilable for future borrowings. In connectiortiwihe loan and security agreement, we
issued a warrant to Silicon Valley Bank which isiediately exercisable for an aggregate of 12,0@@eshof our common stock, at an exercise
price of $7.50 per share.

We expect to continue to incur significant expereses increasing operating losses for at least éix¢ several years. In the near-term, we
anticipate that our expenses will increase suhlisibnas we:

« initiate significant clinical trials associatadth EVK-001, including our planned Phase 3 clalitrial that we plan to initiate in the
first half of 2014;

» hire additional staff, including clinical, sciendif operational, financial and management persql
* to maintain, expand and protect our intellectuaperty portfolio; anc

* to continue to fund the additional accounting, legesurance and other costs associated with beeimgplic compan
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Though our current cash and cash equivalents isatsg to be sufficient for us to complete our pthRhase 3 clinical trial of EVK-001, it
will not be sufficient to complete any addition@veélopment requirements requested by the FDAf applicable, to prepare for
commercialization of EVK-001 should we receive prodapproval. At this time, due to the risks inimtii@ the drug development process, we
are unable to estimate with any certainty the castsvill incur in the continued development of EIKA for potential commercialization.
However, we currently estimate the costs to compbetr Phase 3 clinical trial in women, our compargbnical trial in men and a thorough (
study of EVK-001 will be approximately $15.0 millioAccordingly, we will continue to require subgiahadditional capital beyond our
current cash and cash equivalents to continuelmical development and potential commercializataativities. The amount and timing of our
future funding requirements will depend on manytdes; including the pace and results of our clihdvelopment efforts. We anticipate that
we will seek to fund our operations through publigrivate equity or debt financings or other segrsuch as potential collaboration
arrangements. Our failure to raise capital as amelmneeded would have a negative impact on oundinhcondition and our ability to pursue
our business strategies.

The following table summarizes of our cash flowstfe years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Year Ended December .

2013 2012 2011
Net cash used in operating activit $(3,040,27) $(1,749,86) $(2,893,10)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 27,120,94 1,000,001 (277,779
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $24,080,67 $ (749,86 $(3,170,88)

Operating ActivitiesNet cash used in operating activities was approtén&3,040,000, $1,750,000 and $2,893,000 foytes ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectivelgll meriods the primary use of cash was to fundraiross.

Financing ActivitiesNet cash provided by financing activities was agpnately $27,121,000 for the year ended Decembe2313 compared
to net cash provided by financing activities ofGE),000 for the year ended December 31, 2012. Buhie year ended December 31, 2013,
financing activity consisted of a $2,000,000 adwaon our current loan and security agreement td fuorking capital requirements prior to
completing our IPO where we sold 2,415,000 shafesiocommon stock for net proceeds of approxinya$5,121,000. In 2012, we took our
initial advance of $1,000,000 on our loan and secagreement. In 2011, we paid down our outstagd@ances under our original loan and
security agreement.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equitakes of December 31, 2013, together with intdheston, will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash requirements for approximatelynb®ths. However, our forecast of the period of tthmeugh which our financial resources
will be adequate to support our operations is wénd-looking statement that involves risks and utadeties, and actual results could vary
materially.

The amount and timing of our future funding requismts will depend on many factors, including buitlimited to:

. the initiation, progress, costs, results of amirtg of our clinical development program for EM}OL, including our planned Phas
clinical trial;

. the need for, and the progress, costs and resfuldsy additional clinical trials of EVK-001 weaw initiate based on the results of
our planned clinical trials or discussions with Ei2A, including any additional trials the FDA ohet regulatory agencies may
require evaluating the safety of E'-001;

. the outcome, costs and timing of seeking and olnigiregulatory approvals from the FDA, and any &miegulatory agencie

. the timing and costs associated with manufaoguEWK-001 for clinical trials and other studies aifdapproved, for commercial
sale;

. our need and ability to hire additional managemeéetelopment and scientific personr

. the cost to maintain, expand and defend the sebpar intellectual property portfolio, includirige amount and timing of any
payments we may be required to make, or that wenmeagive, in connection with licensing, filing, gexution, defense and
enforcement of any patents or other intellectuapprty rights;

. the timing and costs associated with establishégssand marketing capabilitie
. market acceptance of E\-001;

. the extent to which we are required to pay milestor other payments under our Questcor assetgge@greement and the timing
of such payment:

. the costs of acquiring, licensing or investing dalitional businesses, products, product candidaidgechnologies; ar

. our need to implement additional internal systemiafrastructure, including financial and repogtisystems

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements



Through December 31, 2013, we have not enteredaimtiodid not have any relationships with unconséid entities or financial
collaborations, such as entities often referreastgtructured finance or special purpose entititbg&h would have been established for the
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangatmer other contractually narrow or limited purpos

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

Our most significant clinical trial expendituregdo CROs. The contracts with CROs generally anealtable, with notice, at our option and
not have any cancellation penalties.

Our long-term debt obligation consists of amoungsane obligated to repay under our loan and sgcagiteement with Silicon Valley Bank, of
which we have drawn the full amount of $3.0 millias of January 31, 2013. In 2013, we made intenglgtpayments of $128,875. In January
2014 we began making the first of 24 monthly ppatiand interest payments of $131,024, such tlealiodn balance will be fully repaid in
December 2015. We expect to incur a total of $194.@f interest charges in 2014 and 2015.
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In November 2013, we entered into an operatingeléaisoffice space in Solana Beach, California. THase commenced on December 1, 201.
and will expire on December 31, 2015. Although gayments did not commence until December 2013pwale possession of the facility in
November 2013 to move into the facility. The leagatains annual rent increases and we received irasntives in the form of re
abatements and a moving allowance. We recognizenum rent payments, escalation clauses and leaeatine on a straight-line basis over
the term of its operating lease. The differencevben the minimum lease payments and the straightaimount is accounted for as deferred
rent. We also pay pass through costs and utilisgscavhich are expensed as incurred.

As of December 31, 2013, future minimum lease paymfr our operating lease were $75,603 and $9¥&%he years ended December 31,
2014 and 2015, respectively. Prior to entering thiofacility lease, we temporarily leased offipace on a month-to-month basis and
recognized the expense as incurred.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure alout Market Risk
Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk

Our cash and cash equivalents as of December 2B, @ihsisted of cash and money market funds. Qunapy exposure to market risk is
interest income sensitivity, which is affected lnaoges in the general level of U.S. interest rddesvever, because of the short-term nature of
our cash and cash equivalents, a sudden changerketinterest rates would not be expected to bavaterial impact on our financial
condition and/or results of operations.

Our long-term debt bears interest at a fixed ratetherefore has minimal exposure to changes énest rates.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

To date, all of our contractual obligations haverbdenominated in U.S. dollars. In the future, vas/montract with organizations to
manufacture drug product, active pharmaceuticakidignt, container closure system materials asase@ROs and investigational sites in
foreign countries. We may therefore become sultgefftictuations in foreign currency rates in cortirmtwith these agreements.

Inflation Risk

Inflation generally affects us by increasing oustoof labor and clinical trial costs. We do notibe¢ that inflation has had a material effect on
our business, financial condition or results ofratiens during the years ended December 31, 20d 2@b2.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements and the tegfaur independent registered public accounting fre included in this report on the pa
indicated in Item 15.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Account&mon Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Conclusions Regarding the Effectiveness of DisclogiControls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that information requindaetdisclosed in our Exchange Act reg
is recorded, processed, summarized and reportééhvite timelines specified in the Securities amdiange Commission’s rules and forms,
and that such information is accumulated and conicated to our management, including our Chief ExgewOfficer and Chief Business
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisigrgarding required disclosure. In designing anduating the disclosure controls and
procedures, management recognized that any comaimdigprocedures, no matter how well designed ardatgd, can only provide reasonable
assurance of achieving the desired control objestignd in reaching a reasonable level of assyrarm®agement necessarily was required to
apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefiationship of possible controls and proceduresdidition, the design of any system of
controls also is based in part upon certain assongtabout the likelihood of future events, anddh@an be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under adingatl future conditions; over time, control maycbme inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with pekcdr procedures may deteriorate. Because of kimednt limitations in a cost-effective
control system, misstatements due to error or fraayl occur and not be detected.

As required by Securities and Exchange Commisside R3a-15(b), we carried out an evaluation, utldersupervision and with the
participation of our management, including our €Eirecutive Officer and Chief Business Officer toé effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedwae®f the end of the period covered by this refgased on the foregoing, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Business Officer comigd that our disclosure controls and procedures wiective at the reasonable assurance
level as of December 31, 201



Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not includeort of management’s assessment regarding ihton#&ol over financial reporting due
to a transition period established by the rulethefSEC for newly public companies.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal cootel financial reporting during our most recentdisquarter that have materially affected, ol
are reasonably likely to materially affect, oureimtal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance

Information required by this item will be containiedour definitive proxy statement to be filed witte Securities and Exchange Commissic
connection with our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockteak, or the Definitive Proxy Statement, and whscbxpected to be filed not later than
120 days after the end of our fiscal year endeceBéer 31, 2013, under the headings “Election oé®@ars,” “Corporate Governance and

Other Matters,” “Executive Officers,” and “Sectié6(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Complian@d is incorporated herein by referer

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct andsBttat applies to our officers, directors and eygés which is available on our internet
website at www.evokepharma.com. The Code of Busi@emduct and Ethics contains general guidelinesdnducting the business of our
company consistent with the highest standards sifless ethics, and is intended to qualify as aéaufcethics” within the meaning of

Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 a#eh K06 of Regulation S-K. In addition, we intencptomptly disclose (1) the nature of
any amendment to our Code of Business Conduct #ridsBhat applies to our principal executive ddficprincipal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller or persons perforgnsimilar functions and (2) the nature of anyweaj including an implicit waiver, from a
provision of our code of ethics that is grantedme of these specified officers, the name of swrbgn who is granted the waiver and the date
of the waiver on our website in the future.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item will be containedour Definitive Proxy Statement under the hegdixecutive Compensation and Other
Information” and is incorporated herein by refer@nc

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter

Information required by this item will be containedour Definitive Proxy Statement under the hegditSecurity Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” and is incorpatdterein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactios and Director Independence

Information required by this item will be containiedour Definitive Proxy Statement under the hegdifCertain Relationships and Related
Party Transactions” and “Independence of the Boaidirectors” and is incorporated herein by refesn

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information required by this item will be containiedour Definitive Proxy Statement under the hegdindependent Registered Public
Accounting Firm’s Fees” and is incorporated hetgjrreference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Documents filed as part of this report.

1. Financial Statement§.he following financial statements of Evoke Pharina,, together with the report thereon of ErnsYé&ung
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fare included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing %
Balance Sheet 47
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive 48
Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and $imidier! Equity (Deficit) 49
Statements of Cash Flo 51
Notes to Financial Statemer 52

2. Financial Statement Schedules.

None.

3. Exhibits.

A list of exhibits to this Annual Report on Form-KQs set forth on the Exhibit Index immediatelyepeding such exhibits and is
incorporated herein by reference.

(b) See Exhibit Index.

(c) See Item 15(a)(2) above.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Evoke Pharma, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance she&goe Pharma, Inc. (a development stage compasyf Becember 31, 2013 and 2012,
and the related statements of operations and cdérapsee loss, convertible preferred stock and $toldlers’ equity (deficit), and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period endecBber 31, 2013 and for the period from Januan2@07 (inception) to December 31, 2013.
These financial statements are the responsibifithe Company’s management. Our responsibilitp isxpress an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform aih afuithe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purposes of expressing an opinion ereffectiveness of the Company’s internal conts@rdinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnixiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theuents and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesars significant estimates made by managementeaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of Evoke Pharma, Inc. at
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results op#sations and its cash flows for each of the tlgesers in the period ended December 31,
2013 and for the period from January 29, 2007 (itioa) to December 31, 2013, in conformity with Uggnerally accepted accounting
principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 25, 2014
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Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Prepaid expense¢

Total current asse

Other asset
Total asset

Evoke Pharma, Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)

Balance Sheets

Liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stocktolders’ equity (deficit)

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Accrued compensatic
Warrant liability
Current portion of lon-term debt
Total current liabilities
Deferred rent expen:
Long-term debt, net of current portic

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci
Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 @dwe; authorized shares — 0 at December 31, 20d.
12,305,068 at December 31, 2012; issued and odiatashares — 0 at December 31, 2013 and
12,195,068 at December 31, 2012; liquidation pesfee — 0 at December 31, 2013 and $18,292,
at December 31, 201
Stockholder' equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; authorizedeshar5,000,000 at December 31, 2013 and 0
December 31, 2012; issued and outstanding sk 0 at December 31, 2013 and 2(
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; authorized shaf000,000 at December 31, 2013 and
20,000,000 at December 31, 2012; issued and odistashares — 6,096,752 at December 31,
2013 and 1,242,750 at December 31, 2
Additional paic¢in capital

Deficit accumulated during the development st

Total stockholder equity (deficit)

Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock astdckholder equity (deficit)

See accompanying notes.
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December 31

2013 2012
$ 24,196,69 $ 116,01
234,26 —
24,430,95 116,01
555,50 —
$ 24,986,45 $ 116,01
$ 284,91 $ 96,79
557,39 417,61
— 56,00
1,442 59. —
2,284,901 570,40
6,83( —
1,511,46 979,79:
3,803,19 1,550,20
— 18,225,16
61C 124
43,874,11 195,52!
(22,691,46) (19,855,00)
21,183,26 (19,659,35)
$ 24,986,45 $ 116,01
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Evoke Pharma, Inc.

(A Development Stage Company)

Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

Operating expense
Research and developm
General and administrati\
Purchase of i-process research and developr
Total operating expens:
Loss from operation
Other income (expense
Interest incom:
Interest expens
Change in fair value of preferred stock purchaght
Change in fair value of warrant liabili
Grant income
Total other income (expens
Net loss and comprehensive I

Net loss per common share, basic and dil

Weightec-average shares used to compute basic and dilutédsseper shar

Year Ended December &

Period From
January 29, 20(
(Inception) to
December 31

2013 2012 2011 2013
$ 956,98( $1,16564! $1,844,04 $ 16,948,50
1,644,84; 836,78 570,52« 4,949,38
— — — 650,00
2,601,82 2,002,420 241456 22,547,89
(2,601,82)  (2,002,42) (2,414,56)  (22,547,89)
7,24¢ 1,69( 10,69¢ 221,10
(159,88%) (24,04:) (2,872 (365,82)
— — — (188,58
(82,000 7,25( 5,50( (54,26.)
i _ — 244,00
(234,63) (15,107) 13,32 (143,57
$(2,836,46) $(2,017,52) $(2,401,24) $(22,691,46)
$ (120 $ (179 $ (219
2,368,000 1,124,000  1,102,62!

See accompanying notes.
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Evoke Pharma, Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)

Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stodiolders’ Equity (Deficit)

Balance at January 29, 2007 (incepti
Issuance of restricted common stock for cash tadets
at $0.005 per sha
Issuance of Series A convertible preferred stodklei0
per share for cash and the conversion of $250,000
bridge notes and $42,538 of accrued interest,fnet o
issuance costs of $218,0
Initial fair value of preferred stock purchase tglssuec
in connection with Series A financir
Estimated fair value of exercised purchase rigl&®04
per share
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodlrmg
Stocl-based compensation expel
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2C
Issuance of Series A convertible preferred stockleg0
per share for cash, net of issuance costs of $:
Estimated fair value of purchase rights upon cotigieot
final preferred stock investme
Stocl-based compensation expel
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2C
Stocl-based compensation expel
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2C
Issuance of Series A convertible preferred stodklei0
per share for cash, net of issuance costs of $3!
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkrug
Stocl-based compensation expel
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2C

Deficit
Accumulate: Total
Series A Convertibl Additional During the Shareholders’
Preferred Stoc Common Stocl Paic-In Developmer Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amoun Capital Stage (Deficit}
o o o $ — $ - $ - $ o
— — 916,00( 92 4,48¢ — 4,58(
4,195,06 6,074,50 — — — — —
— (848,25)) — — — — —
— 80,81¢ — — — — —
— — 266,75( 2€ 77,33: — 77,35¢
— — — — 5,45¢ — 5,45¢
— — — — — (2,009,59) (2,009,59)
4,195,06 5,307,06. 1,182,75! 11¢ 87,27¢ (2,009,59) (1,922,19)
4,000,00! 5,998,14 — — — — —
— 956,02! — — — — —
— — — — 16,18¢ — 16,18
— — — — (3,227,66) (3,227,66,
8,195,06' 12,261,23 1,182,75 11¢ 103,46: (5,237,25)) (5,133,67)
— — — — 17,80 — 17,80:
— — — — — (5,159,63) (5,159,63)
8,195,06' 12,261,23 1,182,75 11¢ 121,26! (10,396,89) (10,275,51)
4,000,00 5,963,93 — — — — —
— — 60,00( 6 23,99¢ — 24,00(
— — — — 15,05¢ — 15,05¢
— — — — — (5,039,33) (5,039,33)
12,195,06 18,225,16 1,242,775 124 160,31! (15,436,23) (15,275,79)
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Balance at December 31, 2C

Stocl-based compensation expel

Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2C

Stocl-based compensation expel

Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2C

Stocl-based compensation expel

Conversion of shares of preferred stock to comnbock:

Initial public offering of common stock at $12.06rshare
net of $3,859,052 of offering cos

Reclassification of warrant liabilit

Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2C

Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stodiolders’ Equity (Deficit)

(Continued)
Deficit
Accumulater Total
Series A Convertibli Additional During the Shareholders’
Preferred Stoc Common Stocl Paic-In Developmer Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amouni Capital Stage (Deficit}
12,195,06 18,225,16 1,242,75 124 160,31! (15,436,23) (15,275,79)
— — — — 22,70¢ 22,70t
— — — — — (2,401,24) (2,401,24)
12,195,06 18,225,16 1,242,75! 124 183,02( (17,837,47) (17,654,33)
— — — — 12,50¢ — 12,50¢
— — — — — (2,017,52) (2,017,52)
12,195,06 18,225,16 1,242,75 124 195,52! (19,855,00) (19,659,35)
— — — — 145,96t — 145,96t
(12,195,06) (18,225,16)  2,439,00: 244 18,224,92 — 18,225,16
— — 2,415,001 24z 25,120,70 — 25,120,94
— — — — 187,00( — 187,00(
— — — — — (2,836,46) (2,836,46)
= $ — 6,096,75. $ 61C $43,874,11 $(22,691,46) $ 21,183,26

See accompanying notes.
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Evoke Pharma, Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)

Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December

Period From
January 29,
2007
(Inception) to
December 31

2013 2012 2011 2013
Operating activities
Net loss $(2,836,46) $(2,017,52) $(2,401,24) $(22,691,46)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Stocl-based compensation expel 145,96t 12,50¢ 22,70¢ 235,67
Non-cash interes 23,26 4,04z 2,42¢ 129,32
Change in fair value of purchase right liabil — — — 188,58
Change in fair value of warrant liabili 82,00( (7,250 (5,500 54,26¢
Deferred rent expen: 6,83( — — 6,83(
Change in operating assets and liabilit
Prepaid expenses and other as (234,26)) 39,45¢ 76,35 (234,26))
Other asset (555,50 — — (555,509
Accounts payable and accrued expet 327,90! 218,90¢ (587,849 842,31
Net cash used in operating activit (3,040,27)  (1,749,86) (2,893,10) (22,024,23)
Financing activities
Proceeds from convertible promissory n — — — 250,00(
Proceeds from bank line of credit and loan adva 2,000,001 1,000,001 — 5,500,00!
Payment on bank line of cre« — — (277,779 (2,500,00)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock 25,120,94 — — 25,125,52
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock and peechights, ne — — — 17,744,04
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti — — — 101,35t
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 27,120,94 1,000,00! (277,779 46,220,92
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 24,080,67 (749,86)) (3,170,88) 24,196,69
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 116,01: 865,87t 4,036,76. —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $24,196,69 $ 116,01 $ 86587t $24,196,69
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Interest paic $ 12887 $ 20,000 $ 1,34¢€ $ 228,75:
Non-cash financing activities
Conversion of convertible promissory note and aegrinterest to Series A
Convertible Preferred Stot $ — $ — $ — $ 292,53
Issuance of Series A Convertible Preferred Stoakamds $ 49000 $ 2425 $ = $ 108,48t
Conversion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stockommon stock at the
initial public offering $18,225,16 $ — $ — $ 18,225,16

See accompanying notes.
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Evoke Pharma, Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)

Notes to Financial Statements

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

Evoke Pharma, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporaietthe state of Delaware on January 29, 2007 (ti@e). The Company is a publicly-
held specialty pharmaceutical company focused pifynan the development of drugs to treat gastremibgical disorders and disease.

Since its inception, the Company has devoted sntialig all of its efforts to product developmenrdjsing capital and building infrastructure,
and has not realized revenues from its plannecipahoperations. Accordingly, the Company is cdasid to be in the development stage.

As reflected in the accompanying financial statetsiethe Company has a limited operating history taedsales and income potential of the
Company'’s business are unproven. The Company lpesierced net losses since its inception and, 8goémber 31, 2013 and 2012, had an
accumulated deficit of $22,691,468 and $19,855,8&hectively. The Company had a working capitefi¢it) of $22,146,047 and $(454,396)
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The Company expects to continue to incur net lokseat least the next several years. Over thabgethe Company will need to raise
additional debt or equity financing to fund its élapment. If the Company is not able to secure aafegadditional funding, the Company may
be forced to make reductions in spending, exteythpat terms with suppliers, and/or suspend or dyf@nned programs. Any of these
actions could materially harm the Company’s businessults of operations, financial condition antlife prospects.

On June 13, 2013, the Company’s board of dire@ppsoved an amendment to the restated certifiddteorporation to effect a one-for-five
reverse stock split of the Company’s common sttio& (Reverse Stock Split” he amendment effecting the Reverse Stock Splitapasover
by the stockholders on August 29, 2013. The parevahd the authorized shares of the common ancedille preferred stock were not
adjusted as a result of the Reverse Stock Spliisglied and outstanding common stock and the esioreratio of the convertible preferred
stock have been retroactively adjusted to refleistReverse Stock Split for all periods presenidd Reverse Stock Split was effected on
August 30, 2013.

Initial Public Offering and Related Transactions

On September 30, 2013, the Company completediitalIRublic Offering (“IPO”)whereby it sold 2,100,000 shares of common stoekpaice
of $12.00 per share. On October 8, 2013, the umiters for the Company’s IPO purchased the ovestalént option for an additional 315,000
shares of the Company’s common stock at $12.08hme. Net proceeds from the IPO, including thease of the over-allotment option,
were determined as follows:

Gross proceeds (including o-allotment) $28,980,00
Underwriting discounts and commissions and non-ac@ble expense

allowance (2,344,87)
Total offering costs (excluding value of warrantarged to underwriter of

$470,000 (1,514,17)
Net proceed $25,120,94

Additionally, upon the closing of the IPO, certéiansactions occurred based on a successful camplgtthe IPO:
» the conversion of all outstanding shares of coilerpreferred stock into 2,439,002 shares of they@anys common stock

* retention payments in the amount of $355,00fabe payable to the Company’s executive officansh@mount was recorded as
expense on a straight-line basis from May 22, 388 date of the retention agreements enterednittothe executive officers)
through December 24, 2013, the date at which tie fiayment was due based on continued employr8arde the terms of the
payment required the occurrence of either a changentrol of the Company, or an equity financingither of which were
considered probable to occur until they happemteheup expense of $202,857 was recorded at tredfrthe Companyg' IPO. The
executive officers remained with the Company thfoDgcember 24, 2013 and received the full retergemyment;

* the issuance of warrants to purchase 84,00@slud the Company’s common stock to the repreteataf the underwriters of the
Company'’s IPO and certain of its affiliates. Thenaats will become exercisable at a price of $2h60share beginning on
September 24, 2014 and will expire on Septembe2@43. The $470,000 initial fair value of the waitsawas determined using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model and recorded as aafdsie Compan's IPO and charged to additional f-in capital;
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The fair value of the issued warrants was estimas#ug the Black-Scholes option pricing model with following assumptions:

Assumed ris-free interest rat 1.44%
Assumed volatility 71%
Expected warrant lifi 5 Year:

Expected dividend yiel 0.C%

» the conversion of warrants to purchase 1108b@0es of convertible preferred stock into warrémfsurchase 22,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock, and the final remeasurewfeiair value and reclassification of the $187,0@4rant liability to
additional pai-in capital; anc

» the filing of an amended and restated certiéicd incorporation to authorize 50,000,000 shafeommon stock and 5,000,000
shares of undesignated preferred sti

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The accompanying financial statements have begraped in accordance with accounting principles galyeaccepted in the United States
(“GAAP”). The preparation of financial statememsconformity with GAAP requires management to mekémates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liadsligind disclosure of contingent assets and ligsilit the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of expenses during the reygopiriod. Actual results could differ from thostimates.

Segment Reporting

Operating segments are identified as componerds ehterprise about which separate discrete finhimfbrmation is available for evaluation
by the chief operating decision-maker in makingisleos regarding resource allocation and asseggrfgrmance. The Company views its
operations and manages its business in one opgisE@mMent operating in the United States.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith an original maturity of three months or Iésam the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents includeinagladily available checking and savings accaunts

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of accounts payable and ad@xpenses are considered to be representatiheioféspective fair values because of th
short-term nature of those instruments. Based efdnrowing rates currently available to the Conygian loans with similar terms, the
Company believes that the fair value of long-teebtcapproximates its carrying value. The carryingant of the warrant liability represents
fair value.

Concentrations of Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@mmpany to significant credit risk consist primgaigf cash and cash equivalents. The
Company maintains deposits in a federally insuneafcial institution in excess of federally insutedits. The Company has established
guidelines designed to maintain safety and liqujdias not experienced any losses in such accaundtbelieves the exposure to significant
to the cash balance is minimal.

In addition, the Company relies on third-party niacturers for the production of its drug candiddftéhe third-party manufacturers are unable
to continue manufacturing the Company’s drug caagidor if the Company loses one of its sole sosuppliers used in its manufacturing
processes, the Company may not be able to me&tatlirial supply demand for its product candidatel the development of the product
candidate could be materially and adversely aftecte

Preferred Stock Warrant Liability

Warrants for shares that are puttable and warfanghares that are contingently redeemable assifiad as liabilities on the accompanying
balance sheets and carried at their estimateddaie. At the end of each reporting period, anyngles in fair value are recorded as a
component of other income (expense). At the conupladf the IPO, the Company adjusted the carryialge of the warrants and reclassified
the liability to additional paid-in capital.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense is recorded astingated fair value of the award as of the gdaé and is recognized as expense on a
straight-line basis over the employee’s requigi®ise period, which is generally the vesting perd the award. Stock-based compensation
expense is based on awards ultimately expectedstp and therefore, the recorded expense includestanate of future forfeitures. Forfeitu
are to be estimated at the time of grant and rdyis@ecessary, in subsequent periods if actuéitores differ from those estimates.

Prior to the IPO, the Company granted stock opttormurchase common stock to employees with exemiges equal to the value of the
underlying stock, as determined by the board afadars on the date the equity award was granteel bdhard of directors determined the fair
value of the underlying common stock by considegngumber of factors, including historical and poid¢d financial results, the risks the
Company faced at the time, the preferences of trapgany’s preferred stockholders and the lack afidiify of the Company’s common stock.
Subsequent to the IPO, the exercise price of thekgiptions granted to employees and members dfahed of directors of the Company was
determined by the Company’s closing market pricéhendate the stock options were granted.

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using the Black-Scholes valuatimdel using the appropriate risk-free
interest rate, expected term and volatility assimngt The expected life of options was calculatseidgithe simplified method, which calcula
the life as the average of the contractual terthefstock option and the vesting period of theaptDue to the Company’s limited historical
data as a public company, the estimated volatigalculated based upon the historical volatititthe Company and comparable companies
whose share prices are publicly available for figaht period of time. The risk-free interest régdased upon U.S. Treasury securities with
remaining terms similar to the expected term ofdteek award being valued. The Company granteds801gptions in 2013 and no options in
2012.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development costs are expensed adheand primarily include compensation and reldtedefits, stock-based compensation
expense, costs paid to third-party contractorstfopm research, conduct clinical trials and depeloug materials and delivery devices. The
Company expenses costs relating to the purchaspraddction of pre-approval inventories as researahdevelopment expense in the period
incurred until FDA approval is received.

The Company bases its expense accruals relatdidittabstudies on estimates of the services resband efforts expended pursuant to
contracts with multiple research institutions atidical research organizations , or CROs, that cahdnd manage clinical studies on our
behalf. The financial terms of these agreementg fram contract to contract and may result in umepayment flows. Payments under som
these contracts depend on factors, such as thessiatenrollment of patients, site initiation ahd completion of clinical study milestones.
Service providers invoice us monthly in arrearssenvices performed. In accruing service feesCihimpany estimates the time period over
which services will be performed and the level fébi’t to be expended in each period. If the Compdogs not identify costs that have begu
be incurred, or if the Company underestimates erestimates the level of services performed octists of these services, actual expenses
could differ from estimates. To date, the Compaay hot experienced significant changes in estinadtascrued research and development
expenses after a reporting period. However, dikdmature of estimates, no assurance can be naidehianges to the estimates will not be
made in the future as the Company becomes awa@ditional information about the status or conaiatlinical studies and other research
activities.

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesthe production of EVK-001, nor do we have plemdevelop our own manufacturing
operations in the foreseeable future. We curratilyend on third-party contract manufacturers foofabur required raw materials, drug
substance and finished product for our preclinieakarch and clinical trials. We do not have anyeru contractual relationships for the
manufacture of commercial supplies of EVK-001. \fk=001 is approved by any regulatory agency, wendtto enter into agreements with
third-party contract manufacturers for the comnangroduction at that time. We currently utilizéhard-party consultant, which we engage on
an as-needed, hourly basis, to manage our mantifagttontractors.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbeASC 740]/ncome TaxesUnder ASC 740, deferred tax assets and lialslitéflect
the future tax consequences of the differencesdmsithe financial reporting and tax basis of asssdsliabilities using current enacted tax
rates. The Company provides a valuation allowageénat net deferred tax assets unless, based hpavailable evidence, it is more likely
than not that the deferred tax assets will be zedli
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The Company’s policy related to accounting for utaiaty in income taxes prescribes a recognitiorghold and measurement attributed
criteria for the financial statement recognitiordaneasurement of tax positions taken or expectée taken in a tax return. For those benefits
to be recognized, a tax position must be moreylikehn not to be sustained upon examination byntpauthorities.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

ASC 220,Comprehensive Incomalefines comprehensive income (loss) as a changguiity during a period from transactions and othe
events and circumstances from non-owner sourcedobeand comprehensive loss were the same fpeabds presented.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividiregnet loss by the weighted-average number of comshares outstanding for the period,
without consideration for common stock equivaleamd adjusted for the weighted-average number ofmmmshares outstanding that are
subject to repurchase. The Company has exclude@a®3118,750 and 140,125 weighted-average shabgscs to repurchase from the
weighted-average number of common shares outstaufadiirthe year ended December 31, 2013, 2012 ahdl, 28spectively. Diluted net loss
per share is calculated by dividing the net losshieyweighted-average number of common share dguigaoutstanding for the period
determined using the treasury-stock method. Ditluemmon stock equivalents are comprised of coilerpreferred stock, warrants for the
purchase of convertible preferred stock, warramtstfe purchase of common stock, and options smudstg under the Company’s equity
incentive plans. For the periods presented, tteene idifference in the number of shares used tutzke basic and diluted shares outstanding
due to the Company'’s net loss position.

The following table summarizes the weighted-avemgedilutive securities excluded from the caltida of diluted net loss per share (in
common equivalent shares):

Year Ended December &

2013 2012 2011
Convertible preferred stock outstanding — 2,439,00: 2,439,00:
Warrants for convertible preferred stc — 14,00( 10,00¢(
Warrants for common stoc 106,00( — —
Common stock option 624,75( 123,25( 123,25(

730,75( 2,576,25. 2,572,25

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standddard issued an accounting standard update tireegclassification adjustments from
other comprehensive income to be presented eithtéeifinancial statements or in the notes to ithenicial statements. This accounting
standard became effective for the Company begininitige first quarter of 2013, and its adoption dat have any impact on the Company’s
financial statements.

In July 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standahddate No. 2013-1Jresentation of an unrecognized tax benefit wheataperating los
carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credarnyforward exists (“ASU 2013-11") The guidance is effective prospectively for fispears,
and interim periods within those years, beginnifigrddecember 15, 2013, with an option for earlgpttbn. The Company intends to adopt
this guidance during the first quarter of 2014, dnds not believe the adoption of this standartihe¥e a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

3. Fair Value Measurements

The following tables present information about @@mpanys financial liabilities measured at fair value oreaurring basis as of December
2013 and 2012 and indicate the fair value hieraaftthe valuation techniques utilized by the Comptindetermine such fair value. The
Company had no financial liabilities as of DecemB&r2013. As a basis for categorizing inputs,Goenpany uses a three-tier fair value
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to mga fair value from market based assumptions tityespecific assumptions:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices in aotaekets;
Level 2: Inputs, other than the quoted prices in activekets, that are observable either directly or iackly; and

Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which there is little @rmarket data, which require the reporting entitgévelop its own assumptions.

55



Table of Contents

The Company'’s Level 3 financial liabilities considtof warrant liabilities related to warrants taghase preferred stock. All warrants were
measured at fair value utilizing the Black-Schalpton pricing model.

The fair value of the outstanding preferred stoekrants at December 31, 2012 was estimated usinglétk-Scholes option pricing model
with the following assumptions:

December 31, 201

Assumed risk-free-interest rate 0.25%— 1.78%
Assumed volatility 80%
Expected warrant lifi 2.08— 9.50 year
Expected dividend yiel 0.0%

Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurriagib as of December 31, 2012 are as follows:

Fair Value Measuremen
at Reporting Date Usin

Quoted Price Significant
Balance as ¢ in Active Other Significant
Markets for Observabl Unobservabl
December 3. Identical
Assets Inputs Inputs
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Liabilities:
Preferred stock warrant liabili $ 56,00( $ — $ — $ 56,00(
Total liabilities 56,00( $ — $ — $ 56,00(

The following table is a reconciliation of all titmmpany’s liabilities measured using significanbliservable inputs (Level 3) for the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

Warrant

Liability
Fair value measurement at December 31, 2011 $ 39,00(
Warrants issued in connection with loan and secadreemen 24,25(
Change in fair value of warrant liabili (7,250
Fair value measurement at December 31, : 56,00(
Warrants issues in connection with loan and sgcagteemen 49,00(
Change in fair value of warrant liabili 82,00(
Reclassification to additional piin capital at initial public offerin (187,000

Fair value measurement at December 31, : $ —

4. Debt

In June 2012, the Company entered into a $3.0anilban and security agreement collateralized bydbmpany’s personal property. Interest
on advances under the agreement is at a fixecesttesite equal to 4.50%. The loan and securityeageat contains only non-financial
covenants. Advances under the loan and securigeaggnt have an interest-only period through Dece®ibe2013 and a 24-month payback
period commences in January 2014. The Company dwasiaed $1 million and $2 million in July 2012 alahuary 2013, respectively. As
such, as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Contmeth$0 and $2.0 million, respectively, in avaitabtedit under the loan and security
agreement.

In connection with the loan and security agreememtarrant was issued for shares of Series A CtiblePreferred Stock that is exercisabl
whole, or in part, at any time until the expiratidaite of June 1, 2022. During July 2012, the Compuiaw down $1.0 million under the loan
and security agreement and the warrant becameisaiele for 4,000 shares of Series A ConvertibldePred Stock at an exercise price of
$7.50 per share. During January 2013, the Compeew down the remaining $2.0 million under the l@awt security agreement and the
warrant became exercisable for an additional 8gb@0es of Series A Convertible Preferred Stockab@rcise price of $7.50 per share.

The initial $24,250 fair value of the 4,000 warrahares earned in July 2012 and the initial $49f@bWalue of the 8,000 warrant shares
earned in January 2013 were recorded as a deloudisand are amortized to interest expense oveetheof the loan using the effective
interest method. As of December 31, 2013 and 20E2Company had unamortized debt discount of $#5c8dl $20,208, respectively, related
to the initial fair value of the warrants.
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The initial fair value of warrants earned in 201812012 was estimated using the Black-Scholes mpticing model with the following

assumptions:
January 201 July 2012
Assumed risk-free interest rate 1.86% 1.4%%
Assumed volatility 80% 80%
Expected warrant lifi 9.5 Year 10 Year
Expected dividend yiel 0.C% 0.C%

The aggregate advances under the loan and seagragment and unamortized discount as of Decemh&033 and 2012 are as follows:

December 3:
December 31
2013 2012

Aggregate advances under loan and security agréemen $ 3,000,001 $1,000,00!
Less unamortized discou (45,94)) (20,209
Long-term debt, net of debt discoL 2,954,05: 979,79:

Current portion of unamortized discot 23,26( —

Current portion of lon-term debt (1,465,85) —
Long-term debt, net of current portit $ 1,511,46. $ 979,79.

Maturities of long-term debt as of December 31,3Gie as follows:

201¢ $1,572,28!
201t 1,572,28!
Total minimum payment 3,144,571
Less amount representing inter 144,57()
Total outstanding del 3,000,001
Less current portio 1,465,85)
Long-term portion $ 1,534,141

Total interest incurred under the loan and secagiyeement for the years ended December 31, 2@ 3Gi? (excluding amortization of debt
discount) was $136,625 and $20,000, respectively.

5. Commitments

In November 2013, the Company entered into an dpgrkease for office space in Solana Beach, Cailito The lease commenced on
December 1, 2013 and will expire on December 31528lIthough rent payments did not commence urgit&nber 2013, the Company took
possession of the facility in November 2013 to mimte the facility. The lease contains annual iaoteases and the Company received lease
incentives in the form of rent abatements and aingp&llowance.

The Company recognizes minimum rent payments, &soalclauses and lease incentives on a straighthasis over the term of its operating

lease. Prior to entering into the facility leases Company temporarily leased office space on almimmAamonth basis and recognized the
expense as incurred.

Rent expense for 2013, 2012, 2011 and the perard franuary 29, 2007 (inception) to December 313 2@ds $8,886, $5,000, $12,000, and
$57,686, respectively. The difference between themum lease payments and the straight-line amisuatcounted for as deferred rent.

Deferred rent expense at December 31, 2013 and®28436,830 and $0, respectively. We also pay thasagh costs and utility costs, which
are expensed as incurred.

As of December 31, 2013, future minimum lease paysr our operating lease are as follows:

2014 $ 75,60:
2015 93,39¢
Total $169,00:
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6. Acquisition of Technology

In June 2007, the Company purchased from Questammfaceuticals, Inc. (“Questcor”) all rights andepés to a development program for the
Company’s EVK-001 product candidate, for an upfieegment of $650,000 which was expensed as in-pso@search and development. In
addition to the upfront payment, the Company wéllrbquired to make additional milestone paymentitg up to $52,000,000. These
milestones include up to $5,000,000 in paymenE/iK-001 achieves the following development targets:

»  $500,000 upon the initiation of the first patiensd in the Compar's planned Phase 3 clinical trial for E-001;

* $1,500,000 upon the U.S. Food and Drug Admiaiitn’s (the “FDA”) acceptance for review of a newg application for EVK-
001; anc

» $3,000,000 upon the FC's approval of EVI-001.

The remaining $47,000,000 in milestone paymentedémpmn EVK-001's commercial success and will ogdpla if EVK-001 receives
regulatory approval. In addition, the Company Ww#él required to pay to Questcor a low single digyialty on net sales of EVK-001. The
Company’s obligation to pay such royalties willnhénate upon the expiration of the last patent rightering EVK-001, which is expected to
occur in 2030.

7. Convertible Preferred Stock, Common Stock and 8tkholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company'’s convertible preferred stock has lodgssified as temporary equity in the accompanpalgnce sheets instead of in
stockholders’ equity (deficit) in accordance witlttzoritative guidance for the classification andasw@ement of potentially redeemable
securities. Upon certain change in control evemds are outside of the Company’s control, includiggidation, sale or transfer of control of
the Company, holders of the convertible prefertediswere able to cause its redemption.

During June and October 2007, the Company soldygregate of 4,000,000 shares of Series A Converfibtferred Stock at $1.50 per share
for gross proceeds of $6,000,000 in cash. In axdi$250,000 in convertible promissory notes issnexh earlier bridge financing and $42,!
in accrued interest thereon converted into 1950&iFfes of Series A Convertible Preferred Stockohmection with the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock issuance, $848,257 of the proogeds allocated to the preferred stock purchase ligility, and the Company incurred
$218,037 of offering costs.

As part of the October 2007 Series A Convertiblef@red Stock transaction, the preferred stocktmse right liability for the second closing
was revalued with the $4,132 increase in fair vabeorded as other expense on the statement adtopes and the then fair value of $80,819
was reclassified to Series A Convertible PrefeBautk. At December 31, 2007, the preferred stockhmse right liability for the third closing
was revalued with the $68,955 increase in fair @aikcorded as other expense on the statement cEtioes.

During November 2008, the Company sold an additidr@00,000 shares of Series A Convertible Prefe8tck for gross proceeds of
$6,000,000 in cash. In connection with this finagcithe Company incurred $1,855 of offering coatspart of the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock transaction, the preferred stockhmse right liability for the third closing wasvedued with the $115,500 increase in fair ve
recorded as other expense on the statement oftmperand the then fair value of $956,025 was esifeed to Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock.

During June 2010, the Company sold an additior@0@,001 shares of Series A Convertible PreferredkSfor gross proceeds of $6,000,00.
cash. In connection with this financing, the Comparturred $36,069 of offering costs.

The holders of the Series A Convertible PreferretiSwere entitled to receive noncumulative divideat a rate of $0.12 per share per ani
The preferred stock dividends were payable whenfashetlared by the board of directors. As of Debem31, 2012 and June 30, 2013, the
board of directors had not declared any dividefitie. Series A Convertible Preferred Stock dividemdse payable in preference and in pric
to any dividends on common stock. At the time @f tonversion of the Series A Convertible PrefeBtmtk, no dividends had been declared.

The holders of the Series A Convertible PreferretiSwere entitled to receive liquidation preferenat the rate of $1.50 per share, plus all
declared and unpaid dividends. Liquidation paymémtbe holders of Series A Convertible Preferrezti had priority and were made in
preference to any payments to the holders of comstmrk.

The shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stgetle convertible into one share of common stoclefmh five shares of preferred stock, at
the option of the holder, subject to certain afititive adjustments. Each share of Series A CoiberPreferred Stock was automatically
converted into common stock immediately upon théezaof (i) the Company’s sale of its common stacla firm commitment underwritten
public offering pursuant to a registration statemerder the Securities Act of 1933, as amendedhich the per share price is at least $22.50
(as adjusted), and the gross cash proceeds arasath25,000,000 or (ii) the date specified bytemitonsent or agreement of the holders of nc
less than 66.66% of the then outstanding shar8giés A Convertible Preferred Stock.
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The holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Steeke entitled to one vote for each share of comstock into which such Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock could then be converded with respect to such vote, such holder hiid/dting rights and powers equal to the
voting rights and powers of the holders of commimcls

The holders of the Series A Convertible PreferretiSwith greater than 250,000 shares were entitlezlect one member each to the
Company’s board of directors.

As of December 31, 2013, there were no sharesrigsSA Convertible Preferred Stock issued or outditag as all shares, totaling 2,439,002 o
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, converte®, 439,002 shares of common stock immediately poidhe completion of the IPO.

Under the Company’s amended and restated ceréfmfaincorporation as of December 31, 2013, the @aony is authorized to issue 5,000,000
shares of preferred stock with a $0.0001 par value.

Common Stock

As of December 31, 2013, there were 6,096,752 shafreommon stock outstanding. Each share of conmstauk is entitled to one vote. The
holders of the common stock are also entitled ¢eike dividends whenever funds are legally avadlatrd when declared by the board of
directors of the Company. To date, no dividendsHaeen declared.

Stock Options

The Company adopted the 2007 Equity Incentive Rlaan“2007 Plan”) in May 2007 under which 450,00@®s of common stock were
reserved for issuance to employees, nonemployeetdis and consultants of the Company. As of Deeei®b, 2012 no options were availa
for future grant under this plan. In August 201% €Company adopted the 2013 Equity Incentive Avidach (the “2013 Plan’as a successor
the 2007 Plan.

Under the 2013 Plan, the Company may grant stotikrog) stock appreciation rights, restricted stoektricted stock units and other awards tc
individuals who are then employees, officers, norplyee directors or consultants of the Compantotal of 510,000 shares of common
stock were initially reserved for issuance under2B13 Plan. In addition, the number of share®ofraon stock available for issuance under
the 2013 Plan will be annually increased on th&t flay of each fiscal year during the term of th&2Plan, beginning with the 2014 fiscal
year, by an amount equal to the least of: (i) 300 $hares; (ii) four percent of the outstandingeshaf common stock as of the last day of
immediately preceding fiscal year; or (iii) suchet amount as the Company’s board of directors deagrmine. As of December 31, 2013,
8,500 options remain available for future grantemtie 2013 Plan.

Options granted under the 2007 Plan and 2013 Rlae terms ranging from seven to ten years frond#te of grant and generally vest over a
three to four year period. The exercise price bbpiions granted during the years ended Decembe2(®L3, 2012 and 2011 was equal to the
market value per share of the Company’s commorkgiodhe date of grant.

A summary of the Company’s stock option activitydanthe 2007 Plan and 2013 Plan is as follows:

Weighted
Average
Weighte( Remaining
Contractue
Average Aggregate
Exercise Term Intrinsic
Shares Price (Years) Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 123,25( $ 0.4C 7.84 $ 57¢
Grantec 501,50( $ 9.3¢ 9.8¢ —
Exercisec — — — —
Canceled/Forfeite — — — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 624,75( $ 7.61 8.41 $869,49(
Exercisable at December 31, 2013 90,54( $ 0.3¢ 5.01 $638,88:
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, ; 624,75( $ 7.61 8.41 $869,49(

(1) Includes awards with early exercise provisions ffanit optionee to exercise unvested opti

The intrinsic values above represent the aggregdte of the total pre-tax intrinsic value basedmup common stock price of $7.45 and $0.4(
at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, amddhtractual exercise prices.
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The 2007 Plan permits the early exercise of optibosthe Company has the option to repurchasaiawgsted shares at the original purchase
price (the exercise price paid by the Purchaseshugmy voluntary or involuntary termination (“Rephase Option”). The shares of common
stock issued from the exercise of stock optiongesticted and vest over time or on the achieveémkcertain milestones. Any unvested
shares immediately vest in the event of terminatimmeasons other than cause, and vesting acteddrathe event of a merger, sale, or other
change in control of the Company. Of the total 386,stock options exercised, 230,500 and 215,506 wested as of December 31, 2013 anc
2012, respectively.

The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdiseas $0 for the years ended December 31, 2012, &9d 2011, respectively, as there wer
options exercised during these years.

Stock-Based Compensation

The estimated fair value of each option award gémias determined on the date of grant using taekBScholes option-pricing valuation
model with the following weighted-average assumpgitor options grants during the three years eflmémber 31, 2013:

Year Ended December &

2013 2012 2011
Stock Options
Risk free interest rai 1.75%-1.8% — 2.33%
Expected option terr 6.0 year: — 5.0 year
Expected volatility of common stoc 70.8%- 79.4% — 80.0%
Expected dividend yiel —% — —%

The risk-free interest rate assumption was basdteyield of an applicable rate for U.S. Treadnstruments with maturities similar to those
of the expected term of the award being valued.adseimed dividend yield was based on the Comparer paying cash dividends and hav
no expectation of paying cash dividends in thedeeable future. The weighted average expecteddeoptions was calculated using the
simplified method as prescribed by accounting guigafor stockbased compensation. This decision was based dadkef relevant historici
data due to the Company’s limited historical expece. In addition, due to the Company’s limiteddrisal data, the estimated volatility was
calculated based upon the Company’s historicaltiitya supplemented with historical volatility @omparable companies in the biotechnolog;
industry whose share prices are publicly availéte sufficient period of time.

The weighted average grant date fair value perstieemployee stock options granted during thesyeaded December 31, 2013, 2012 and
2011 was $6.33, $0 and $0.05, respectively.

The Company recognized non-cash stock-based comjimmgxpense to employees and directors in itsared and development and its
general and administrative functions as follows:

Period from
January 29,
2007
(Inception) tc
Year Ended December & December 3:
2013 2012 2011 2013
Research and development $ 39,63¢ $10,00¢ $15,36( $ 93,43
General and administrati 106,32¢ 2,501 7,34t 142,24
Total stockbased compensation expel $145,96¢ $12,50¢ $22,70¢ $ 235,67¢

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, there was appately $3,055,000 and $26,000, respectively, ofcmgnized compensation costs relate

to outstanding employee and board of director aygtiavhich is expected to be recognized over a vieijaverage period of 1.84 and 2.0 year:
respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On June 13, 2013, the Company’s board of dire@dopted the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “g§S&#l the Company’s stockholders
approved the ESPP on August 29, 2013. The ESPmigeefiective on the day prior to the effectivenglsthe IPO. The ESPP permits
participants to purchase common stock through plageductions of up to 20% of their eligible compation. A total of 30,000 shares of
common stock will initially be reserved for issuanmder the ESPP. In addition, the number of shaEfreemmon
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stock available for issuance under the ESPP willirually increased on the first day of each figealr during the term of the ESPP, begini
with the 2014 fiscal year, by an amount equal ®l#ast of: (i) 30,000 shares; (ii) one percernthefoutstanding shares of common stock as o
the last day of the immediately preceding fiscalryer (iii) such other amount as the Company’sth@d directors may determine. No shares
of common stock have been issues under the ESPP.

Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance
Common stock reserved for future issuance consfstse following at December 31, 2013 and 2012:

December 31

2013 2012
Conversion of preferred stock — 2,439,00:
Stock options issued and outstanc 624,75( 123,25(
Authorized for future option gran 8,50( —
Warrants for convertible preferred stc — 14,00(
Warrants for common stoc 106,00( —
Authorized for Employee Stock Purchase F 330,00t —
Total common stock reserved for future issue 1,069,25! 2,576,25;

8. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has established a defined contribdiddrik) plan (the Plan) for all employees who arkeast 21 years of age. Employees are
eligible to participate in the Plan beginning omaryfollowing the date of employment. Under then®of the Plan, employees may make
voluntary contributions as a percentage of comparsarhe Company’s contributions to the Plan dsermtionary, and no contributions have
been made by the Company to date.

9. Income Taxes

On January 1, 2009, the Company adopted authegtgtiidance relating to the accounting for uncetyain income taxes. The guidance
clarified the recognition threshold and measurenaginibutes for financial statement disclosureaof positions taken, or expected to be taken,
on a tax return. The impact of an uncertain incé@xeposition on the income tax return must be raczagl at the largest amount that is more
likely than not to be sustained upon audit by #lewant taxing authority. An uncertain tax positigitl not be recognized if it has a less than
50% likelihood of being sustained. On the dateduffdion, there were no unrecognized tax benefitgthier, there is no unrecognized tax
benefit included in the Company’s balance sheeBeaember 31, 2013 and 2012 that would, if recaghiaffect the Company’s effective tax
rate.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest angénalties related to income tax matters in inctemeexpense. The Company had no
accrual for interest and penalties on the balaheets at December 31, 2013 and 2012. The Compapjsct to taxation in the United States
and state jurisdictions, and as of December 31320t Company'’s tax years beginning 2007 to degtesabject to examination by taxing
authorities. The Company does not foresee matehnaiges to its gross uncertain income tax posiiadnility within the next twelve months.

A reconciliation of the federal statutory incomg tate and the effective income tax rate is a®¥adl for the years ended December 31:

December 31

2013 2012 2011

(%) (%) (%)
Federal statutory rate 34.C 34.C 34.C
Change in valuation allowan (2.5) 4.9 (0.2
State income taxes, net of federal ef 5.€ 5.€ 5.8
Research and development cre 4.2 1.t 4.2
Removal of net operating loss and other cre (39.5) (36.9) (43.9
Other () (0.0 0.1
Effective income tax rat 0.C 0.C 0.C

Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Sectio@saB8 383, annual use of the Company’s net operiiss and research and development
credit carryforwards may be limited in the everuanulative change in ownership of more than 50%ucwithin a three-year period. The
Company has not completed an IRC Section 382/38B/sin regarding the limitation of net operatingd@nd research and development cred
carryforwards. Until this analysis has been congalethe Company has removed the deferred tax dssetst operating losses of
approximately $8.4 million and a research and dgwaknt credit of approximately $931,000
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generated through December 31, 2013 from its dedaax asset schedule, and has recorded a cortisgatecrease to its valuation allowat
When this analysis is finalized, the Company plangpdate its unrecognized tax benefits accordirighe Company does not expect this
analysis to be completed within the next twelve therand, as a result, the Company does not expectite unrecognized tax benefits will
change within twelve months of this reporting d&iae to the existence of the valuation allowanagyre changes in the Company’s
unrecognized tax benefits will not impact the Compsa effective tax rate.

Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets at December 31, 2013 and 2012 are aw$ollo

December 31

2013 2012
Deferred tax asset
Acquired technolog $ 147,00( $ 164,00(
Other, ne 290,00( 203,00(
Total deferred tax asse 437,00( 367,00(
Less valuation allowanc (437,000 (367,000
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —

At December 31, 2013, the Company has federal tatel set operating loss carryforwards of approxatye$21.2 million and $20.7 million,
respectively. The federal and state loss carryfoeaegin to expire in 2027 and 2017, respectiuahless previously utilized. The Company
also has federal and state research tax creditfeamards of approximately $627,000 and $459,086pectively. The federal research credit
carryforwards will begin expiring in 2027 unleseyiously utilized. The state research credit walirg forward indefinitely.

10. Subsequent Events

For the purposes of the financial statements &@eckmber 31, 2013 and the year then ended, the &ontas evaluated subsequent events
through March 25, 2014, the date the audited arfinsicial statements were issued. The Companytacluded that no subsequent event he
occurred that requires disclosure.

11. Summarized Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The following financial information reflects all pgtments, which include only normal recurring atijoents, which are, in the opinion
management, necessary for a fair statement ofahsotidated financial results of the interim peso8ummarized quarterly data for the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

For the Quarters Ende¢

March 31, June 30 September 3 December 31
2013
Research and development expe $ 110,98: $ 130,84t $ 78,73 $ 636,42
General and administrative expel 221,04¢ 72,57¢ 406,86 944,35¢
Net loss (493,99) (239,87) (485,909 (1,616,69i)
Net loss per share, basic and dilu(® (0.4¢) (0.2)) (0.4)) (0.279)
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic aned 1,133,37! 1,137,12! 1,190,21; 5,971,23
2012
Research and development expe $ 297,28 $ 213,01 $ 337,00: $ 318,34
General and administrative expel 205,13 147,32¢ 140,74t 343,57(
Net loss (500,159 (358,66¢) (486,259 (672,45()
Net loss per share, basic and dilu@ (0.45) (0.32) (0.49) (0.60)
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic aned 1,118,37! 1,122,12! 1,125,87 1,129,62!

(1) Netloss per share is computed independently foin eathe quarters presented. Therefore, the sumecduarterly peshare calculations
will not necessarily equal the annual per shareutation.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&if(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amentiedregistrant has duly caused
Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its Hdthathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

EVOKE PHARMA, INC.

Date: March 25, 2014 By: /s/ David A. Gonyer
David A. Gonyel
President and Chief Executive Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the datéisated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ David A. Gonyer President, Chief Executive Officer and March 25, 2014
David A. Gonyer, R.Pt Director (principal executive officer)
/s Matthew J. D’Onofrio Executive Vice President, Chief Business March 25, 2014
Matthew J. D’Onofrio Officer, Treasurer and Secretary (principal
financial and accounting office
/s/ Cam L. Garner Chairman of the Board of Directors March 25, 2014
Cam L. Garne
/s/ Todd C. Brady, M.D., Ph.D. Director March 25, 2014
Todd C. Brady, M.D., Ph.C
/s/ Scott L. Glenn Director March 25, 2014
Scott L. Glenr
/s/ Malcolm R. Hill, Pharm. D. Director March 25, 2014
Malcolm R. Hill, Pharm. D
/s/ Ann D. Rhoads Director March 25, 2014
Ann D. Rhoad:
/s/ Kenneth J. Widder, M.D. Director March 25, 2014

Kenneth J. Widder, M.C
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Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Admeent No. 4 to Registration Statement on Form Bedl fvith the SEC on August 30,

2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Com’s Current Report on Forn-K filed with the SEC on September 30, 20

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Admeent No. 3 to Registration Statement on Form Bed fvith the SEC on August 16,
2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Com’'s Registration Statement on Fori-1 filed with the SEC on May 24, 201

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Admeent No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form ed fvith the SEC on June 14,
2013.

Incorporated by reference to the Comf’'s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on F&-1 filed with the SEC on July 3, 201
Incorporated by reference to the Com(’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 2, 201

Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asteriskaye been omitted pursuant to a request for cenfiidl treatment pursuant to Rule 406
under the Securities Act of 19:

Management contract or compensatory plan or arraege

These certifications are being furnished solelatcompany this annual report pursuant to 18 U.Se€Ction 1350, and are not being filed
for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exgbafiict of 1934 and are not to be incorporated bgremce into any filing of Company,
whether made before or after the date hereof, déggs of any general incorporation language in $iliok.



Exhibit 10.12

SECOND AMENDMENT TO
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT to the MASTER SERVICE AGREEMHE (“Amendment”) is effective as of November 25,130
(“Amendment Effective Date”), by and among EVOKEARMA, INC. (“Client”) and SYNTERACT, INC.

A.

B.
C.

RECITALS
Client and Synteract, Inc. entered into a MaStvices Agreement dated January 30, 2009 andenéiment No. 1 to Master Agreement
for Services, dated January 30, 2011 (collectittedy” Agreemer™);
Synteract, Inc. completed its acquisition of Hami€linical Research to form a new entity, Synt#&R, Inc., “SynteractHCI'"); and

Client and SynteractHCR wish to amend the termb@fAgreement as set forth belc

Now, THEREFORE, the parties agree to amend theekgeat as follows

1.

2.

Name Change. As the result of the acquisition betw®ynteract, Inc. and Harrison Clinical Resea®gmteract, Inc. is now doir
business as SynteractHCR, Inc. In view of these@és, the parties wish to amend the Agreementdongeh“Synteract, Inc.” to
“SynteractHCR, In” with respect to all Services provided by the erftitynerly known as Synteract, Ir

Section 5(b), entitled Termination, will be deletatt replaced in its entirety with the followir

“This Agreement may be terminated by the Clientsfoy reason by providing thirty (30) days writtestioe to SynteractHCR. This
Agreement may be terminated (i) by SynteracHCR upermaterial breach of this Agreement by the Glietnich material breach
continues unremedied for thirty (30) days afteivdel/ of notice of the material breach, and (ii)dither party immediately in the event
the other party becomes insolvent, files a petitiobankruptcy or makes an assignment for the liteofe¢reditors. In the event of
termination, SynteractHCR shall be entitled to paghfor any portion of the work completed and fopenses actually and reasonably
incurred which cannot be canceled pursuant to aoj& Agreement despite SynteractHCR’s commescigiasonable efforts to cancel
such expenses and conclude such Services as eapslyias practical; provided however, SynteractHsPRIlI not be entitled to such
payments to the extent that Client terminated Alggeement for breach or default, pursuant to Sedibereof, related to the Services for
which payment is sought. Any such payment due mefeushall be made in accordance with Section ddfein the event of terminatio
SynteractHCR shall promptly deliver to Client adlcdiments, data and materials in whatever form pfreature pertaining to
SynteractHCR'’s provision of Services hereunder@ngkértaining to any Confidential Information (afided below) as described in
Section 8.5, except that SynteractHCR may retaie)ysfor the purpose of determining the scopaobbligations under this Agreement,
one (1) copy of documents, data or other mategeterated hereunc’.



5.

Section 8.7, entitled Indemnification, will be delé and replaced in its entirety with the followil

“The Client will indemnify and hold harmless SyrsetHCR and its employees and agents from liabitibgts, claims, judgments, and
reasonable attorney’s fees brought against Synté@R by any third party arising from or in any wegnnected with the Services
rendered hereunder except to the extent due t@f&aiHCR's negligence, reckless disregard of duatiesillful misconduct ,
SynteractHCR'’s failure to conduct the Servicesdooadance with the terms of this Agreement or amjdet Agreement, SynteractHGR’
breach of this Agreement or any Project Agreemamn§ynteractHCR ‘s violation of any applicable lawle or regulation of any
applicable governmental authority.

SynteractHCR indemnify and hold harmless Client igmémployees and agents from liability costsineta judgments , and reasonable
attorney’s fees brought against Client by any tpidy arising from or in any way connected tofieeformance of Services under this
Agreement or any Project Agreement, except to kbent due to Client’s negligence, reckless disrégdirduties or willful misconduct ,
Client’s breach of this Agreement or any Projectegment or Cliens violation of any applicable law, rule or regutatiof any applicab
governmental authority.

In no event shall Client or SynteractHCR be lidblespecial, indirect, incidental or consequenti@mages, including lost profits”.

Except as expressly provided in this Amendmahtther terms, conditions and provisions of thigdement shall apply and remain in
full force and effect

Each individual signing for a corporate entity Her@ersonally warrants his or her legal authoitpind that entity

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement is executed as of the AmendmentcHkfie Date

EVOKE PHARMA, INC. SYNTERACTHCR, INC.

By: /s/ David A. Gonye By: /s/ Stewart Biele
Name: David A. Gonye Name: Stewart Biele
Title: President & CEC Title: President, U¢

Date: 1:-26-13 Date: 1-25-2013
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STANDARD OFFICE LEASE

This STANDARD OFFICE LEASE (“Lease”), dated for eeénce purposes only November 15, 2013, is entatedhy Beckman/Lomas, LLC,
a California limited liability company (“Landlord;)and Evoke Pharma, Inc., a Delaware Corporatiderfant”).

1. BASIC LEASE TERMS.

The basic terms of the Lease set forth in thischetl shall be read in conjunction with the othetigdes of this Lease, which define and
explain the basic terms.

1.1 Address for Notice:

Landlord c/o Beckman Properties, Ir
505 Lomas Santa Fe, Suite 1
Solana Beach, California 920
Attention: Mr. William R. Beckmau

Tenant: Evoke Pharma, Inc., a Delaware Corpora
505 Lomas Santa Fe, Suite 2
Solana Beach, California 920
Attention: Mr. Matthew [ Onofrio

1.2 Description of Premises:

Project Name The Plaza at 505 Lomas Santa
Address: 505 Lomas Santa F

Solana Beach, CA 920
Suite: 270

Approximate Rentable Square Footage (see Exhibit ‘2v41
1.3 Commencement Date: December 1, 201.

1.4 Lease Term(see Article 3): Approximately twenty five montheeginning on the Commencement Date and endingetash day
of the twenty sixth month thereafter (t*Expiration Dat”).

1.5 Minimum Monthly Rent : Minimum Monthly Rent shall be the following amdarior the following periods

Perioc Minimum Monthly Ren
Commencement Date through the twelfth month ofTten* $ 7,537.7"
Thirteenth through the twenty fourth month of therm $ 7,763.8!
Twenty fifth month of the Terr $ 7,996.8!

1.6 Security Deposit: $ 7,996.80 (see Article £
1.7 Base Year:2014.
1.8 Tenant's Pro Rata Share: 12.05%

1.9 Permitted Use(see Article 11): general office uses permittethim zoning and consistent with premium quality €&’ office
buildings in Solana Beach, and for no other

1.10 Tenant's Guarantor (If none, so state): Nor
1.11 Tenant's Parking SpaceyUnassigned) (see Section 11.6): Eight
1.12 Landlord’s Broker (If none, so state): Cassidy Turley/BRE Commer:

Tenant sBroker (If none, so state): RE:Aligi



1.13 Additional Provisions : * Rental Abatement. Provided that there has eehbany Event(s) of Default on the part of Tenauuten
this Lease nor any condition that with the givirigiotice or the passage of time or both would dtutstan Event of Default on the
part of Tenant under this Lease, the Minimum MonfRént for the Premises shall be abated by fiftg@et (50%) in months two
through five for the Lease Ten

1.14 Exhibits: The following Exhibits are attached to and madeuwd of this Lease

Exhibit “A” - Floor Plan of premises; Descriptior Broject
Exhibit “B” - Rules and Regulations
Exhibit “C” - Preliminary Space Plan

1.15 Project Hours: 7:00am to 6:00pm Monday through Fric
8:00am to 12:00pm Sy

2. LEASE OF PREMISES.

Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hdealses from Landlord, the premises (the “PremjsésScribed in Section 1.2, which
are indicated on the site/floor plan attached dsitlitx“A”. The Premises are part of the office laliilg or center identified in Section 1.2 (the
“Project”). The approximate Rentable Square Footage identifi&gction 1.2 is a measurement of the net leadlaldearea of the Premises,
determined by Landlord and applied on a considiasis throughout the Project.

3. LEASE TERM.

3.1CommencementThe term of this Lease (the “Lease Term”) shall ouence on the Commencement Date stated in SecBamndl.
shall continue for the period stated in Section trdess sooner terminated pursuant to any pravisidhis Lease.

3.2Delay In Commencementlf Landlord cannot deliver possession of the Presite Tenant on the Commencement Date specified ir
Section 1.3 for any reason, Landlord shall notdigext to any liability therefor. Such nondelivestyall not affect the validity of this Lease nor
the obligations of Tenant hereunder. However: @)ant shall not be obligated to pay rent until pesi®n of the Premises is delivered to
Tenant, and (b) if possession of the Premisestigelovered to Tenant within thirty (30) days oét@ommencement Date, the last day of the
Lease Term shall be extended by the total numbdays that possession is so delayed, plus the mmimumber of additional days necessary
to make the Expiration Date the last day of a cidemonth.

3.3 Early Occupancy.If Tenant occupies the Premises or any part theygof to the Commencement Date, such occupandy/tsha
subject to all provisions of this Lease other thapayment of Minimum Monthly Rent and other mdpttharges. Such occupancy shall not
advance the Expiration Date. Other than instalfatibtelecommunication wiring, computer feeder dinend related equipment, Tenant shal
occupy or use the Premises until all Tenant Impmovets are substantially completed. Tenant shak tiae right to install furniture,
telecommunications and AV equipment in the Premiisesediately following full execution of this Leabg the parties, but Tenant may not
begin occupying and conduction business in the RBegmntil the Commencement Date. Tenant shalfqragny utilities consumed by Tenant
during such early occupancy period.

4. RENT.

4.1 Minimum Monthly Rent. Tenant shall pay minimum monthly rent (“Minimum Mbly Rent”) in the initial amount stated in
Section 1.5. The Minimum Monthly Rent shall be gased as set forth in Section 1.5 and/or elsewhéhés Lease. Tenant shall pay the
Minimum Monthly Rent on or before the first dayesch calendar month, in advance, at the officeanidlord or at such other place design:
by Landlord, without deduction, offset or prior dema. If the Commencement Date is not the firstafey calendar month, the rent for the
partial month at the beginning of the Lease Teralldfe prorated on a per diem basis and shall keoduhe first day of such partial month.
Upon execution of this Lease, and before the Coneeraent Date, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the aggecof the first month’s Minimum
Monthly Rent and the Security Deposit (see Sediion

4.2 ease Year.As used in this Lease, the term “Lease Year” méduise first period of twelve (12) full calendaromths following the
Commencement Date (including, if the Commencemexté 5 not the first day of a calendar month, thegal between the Commencement
Date and the next first day of the month), (ii) le@eriod of twelve (12) full calendar months thétera and (iii) any remaining period at the ¢
of the Lease Term of less than twelve (12) fulboalar months.

4.3 Additional Rent. All charges payable by Tenant in addition to Minmmivionthly Rent shall constitute Additional Rentitandlord.
All remedies available to Landlord for nonpaymehtemt shall be available for nonpayment of anyhs@dditional Rent. Unless this Lease
provides otherwise, all Additional Rent shall bédpay Tenant, without limitation or offset, withfifteen (15) days after Tenant’s receipt of a
statement from Landlord. Additional Rent includeghout limitation, excess Operating Costs (seéchat6), Maintenance and Repairs (see
Article 7), excess Real Property Taxes (see Ar}Jeexcess insurance costs (see Article 9), idtili(see Article 10),and attorneys’ fees and
costs (see Section 24.3). Minimum Monthly Rent, ifiddal Rent, and all other charges and monetarguats due Landlord from Tenant
hereunder shall constitute “rent.”



4.41mpounds. Landlord shall have the right, but not the obligafito collect and impound, in advance, any ocafhponents of excess
Operating Costs, excess Real Property Taxes, ekt®gsnce costs, and Utilities based upon Lantiomhsonable estimate of Tenant's future
liability for such amounts under this Lease. Landlishall initially establish the monthly amountsaich impound (“Monthly Impound
Payments”), based upon its estimate of one-twelfthenant’s annual liability therefor. Landlord #Hzave the right, at any time during the
Lease Term, to reasonably adjust the amount d¥finethly Impound Payment not less than 15 days &mrittpon notice to Tenant. The
Monthly Impound Payment shall be due and payabléeriirst day of each month throughout the Leaserl Any failure to pay the Monthly
Impound Payment when due shall be consideredwadaib pay rent when due under Section 21(a) dmel oelevant provisions of this Lease,
and shall entitle Landlord to exercise any or alt®remedies available in the same manner aghéfailure to pay rent, including the
imposition of late charges and interest. Upon tteuaence of any Event of Default by Tenant hereundandlord shall have the right to apply
all unapplied amounts of Monthly Impound Paymeat$anant’s default. Within ninety (90) days aftee £nd of each calendar year, Landlord
shall deliver to Tenant an accounting of Tenanttsial Pro Rata Share of excess Operating CostesseXeal Property Taxes, excess insuran
costs, and Utilities and the estimated amounts paiflenant. Any overpayment by Tenant shall beitgddigainst next Monthly Impound
Payments due hereunder, or, at Landlord’s optioal] e remitted to Tenant. Tenant shall pay thewamof any underpayment within fifteen
(15) days after receipt of the accounting. Tenakhawledges that the Monthly Impound Payments stienates only and not a representation
of the amount of Tenant’s ultimate liability for@ss Operating Costs, excess Real Property Tax@ssinsurance costs, and Utilities.

5. SECURITY DEPOSIT.

Upon execution of this Lease, Tenant shall depuitiit Landlord the amount specified in Section t&(‘Security Deposit”), to be held
by Landlord, without liability for interest, as s&tty for Tenants performance of its obligations under this Leas@dlord shall not be requir
to keep the Security Deposit separate from itsrabeounts. Landlord may apply all or a part of $eeurity Deposit to any unpaid rent
(including unpaid Additional Rent or Monthly ImpadifPayments) or other monetary payments due fronaftesr to cure any other default of
Tenant hereunder and to compensate Landlord falaallage and expense sustained as a result of etaiitdIf all or any portion of the
Security Deposit is so applied, Tenant shall depash sufficient to restore the Security Depasitg original amount within fifteen (15) days
after receipt of Landlord’s written demand. If Tah&ully and faithfully performs each of its obligans under this Lease, the Security Deposit
or any balance thereof shall be returned to Tewéhtn thirty (30) days of the later of the expimat or earlier termination of this Lease or the
vacation of the Premises by Tenant. At Landlordguest, Tenant shall accompany Landlord or Lantiogpresentative on a “walk-through”
of the Premises prior to Landlord’s return of trec&ity Deposit.

6. OPERATING COSTS.

6.1 Payment of Excess Operating Costs by Tenaritlnless disputed, Tenant shall pay its Pro RatacSbla®@perating Costs (as defined
herein) that exceed, during any calendar yearQOjerating Costs for the Base Year identified inti®acl.7. Tenant shall pay the undisputed
amount of such Pro Rata Share to Landlord, to xtené such obligation exceeds any amount therepbimded under Section 4.4, within
fifteen (15) days after receipt of a statement ficandlord. If Tenant disputes any invoice, chargbiliing from Landlord for Tenant's Pro
Rata Share of Excess Operating Costs, which digpuiet resolved by the parties within thirty (2@ys after Tenant’s notice to Landlord that
Tenant is disputing said charges, such disputé saaubmitted to binding arbitration before thdidial and Mediation Services (JAMS) of
San Diego County in conformity with the rules of tAmerican Arbitration Association. The non prewajlparty in such arbitration shall pay
all costs of arbitration of the prevailing partyciuding reasonable attorneys’ fees and costshandrbitrator’'s award to the prevailing party,
within five (5) business days after receipt of netof the award. As used in the preceding sentérzcellord shall be considered to be the
prevailing party if more than fifty percent (509%)ail or any portion of the amount disputed is asheatt to Landlord, Tenant shall be considerec
the prevailing party if less than fifty percent ¢gpof the amount disputed is awarded to Landlond, either party shall be considered the
prevailing party if exactly fifty percent (50%) tife amount disputed is awarded to Landlord.

6.2 Pro Rata Share.Tenant’s Pro Rata Share is stated in Section d8epresents the ratio of the Rentable Square eaththe
Premises (identified in Section 1.2) to the totahRble Square Footage of the Project, as detednbiypé&andlord. Changes in Rentable Square
Footage shall be effective on the first day offttet calendar month following the change. If theject is not fully occupied during any year or
in the event all of the Project is not providedhstandard services during any year, an adjuststeit be made by Landlord in computing
Operating Costs for such year so that OperatingsGdell be computed as though 95% of the Progattdeen occupied and 95% of the Prc
had been provided with standard services during gaar (or such Operating Costs shall be computeg¢ordance with actual occupancy or
actual provision of standard services if such reipe amounts shall exceed 95%); but in no eveall sile aggregate amount of Operating
Costs collected by Landlord from all tenants in Fhieject exceed the actual Operating Costs foryszad. Additionally, if any item of the
Common Facilities exclusively serves the Premiges) Tenant's Pro Rata Share of such item shal0ioéo.

3



6.3 Operating Costs."Operating Costs” includes all costs of operatimgnaging, repairing and maintaining the Commonl|ftiasi,
including without limitation: gardening and landpa&y; the cost of public liability and property dage insurance; Real Property Taxes, as
defined in Section 8.2 but applicable to the ComrRaadilities; utilities; line painting and parkingtirepairs; roof repairs; lighting; trash and
refuse removal; supplies; equipment; exterior padptcapital improvements (including without limtitan the costs of roof, parking lot and
underground utilities replacements); reasonablerves for repairs and replacements; the costderiray, improving, renovating, upgrading or
retrofitting any portion of the Common Facilitiesd¢omply with all laws, regulations and governmérgguirements applicable to the Project
(including without limitation those related to dided persons, hazardous materials, lighting upgresfEinkler and energy-saving retrofits);
security service; property management costs andrégtnative fees; bookkeeping services; labor; tredcost of personnel to implement such
services and to direct parking. In lieu of incluglthe entire amount of any such expense in Opegr&osts in any one period, Landlord, at its
election reasonably exercised, will spread theusioh of, or may amortize, any such expensesreasonable reserve for anticipated exper
in Operating Costs over such multiple periods asdl@rd shall determine. The following items shalldxcluded from Operating Costs:

(A) leasing commissions, attorneyees, costs and disbursements and other expernsgseith in connection with leasing, renova
or improving vacant space in the Project for tesamtprospective tenants of the Project;

(B) costs (including permit, license and inspecfiees) incurred in renovating or otherwise imprgvar decorating, painting or
redecorating space for tenants or vacant space;

(C) Landlord’s costs of any services sold to teadmt which Landlord is entitled to be reimbursegudsinch tenants as an additional
charge or rental over and above the Minimum Monkyt and Operating Costs payable under the ledlsesuch tenant or other occupant;

(D) any depreciation or amortization of the Progatept as expressly permitted herein;

(E) costs incurred due to a violation of law by Hkmd relating to the Project;

(F) interest on debt or amortization payments onranrtgages or deeds of trust or any other dehvdorowed money;
(G) all items and services for which Tenant or oteeants reimburse Landlord outside of Operatingt§

(H) repairs or other work occasioned by fire, witads) or other work paid for through insurance ondemnation proceeds
(excluding any deductible);

() legal expenses incurred for (i) negotiatingskeéerms for prospective tenants, (ii) negotiatergination or extension of leases
with existing tenants, (iii) proceedings againsgt ather specific tenant relating solely to the edlion of rent or other sums due to Landlord
from such tenant, or (iv) the development and/orstaiction of the Project; and

(J) repairs resulting from any defect in the oradidesign or construction of the Project.

(K) Costs incurred in advertising and promotionzhaties for the Project.

(L) The management fee, overhead and(or) profieiments paid to subsidiaries or affiliates of LandIfor service on or to the
Project, to the extent that the costs of such sesvéxceed reasonable costs for such servicesregnole persons or entities of similar skill,
competence and experience.

(M) Any expenses for repairs or maintenance whrehraimbursed through warranties or service cotgrac

6.4 Common Facilities."Common Facilities” means all areas, facilitiedlitigs, equipment and services provided by Landfar the

common use or benefit of the occupants of the Brogend their employees, agents, customers and iotfitees, including without limitation,

the same exist: building lobbies, common corridord hallways, restrooms, pedestrian walkways, di@yes and access roads, parking lots,
access facilities for disabled



persons (including elevators), landscaped areaiswslys, elevators, retaining walls, all areas meglto be maintained under the conditions of
governmental approvals for the Project, comfort farst-aid stations, parcel pick-up stations, atiteo generally understood public or common
areas. Landlord reserves the right to relocater,dthprove, or adjust the size and location of @eynmon Facilities from time to time upon
reasonable notice, but without liability to Tenast,long as reasonable access to and by Tenawtinsaimed.

7. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS.

7.1Tenant’s Obligations. Except as provided in Section 7.2, Tenant shalpke Premises in good order, condition and regi#ing the
Lease Term, including without limitation: all nonsttural, interior areas; all interior glass, ghagiwindows, window moldings, partitions,
doors and door hardware; exterior glazing is tispoasibility of the Landlord unless damaged by Tesaccupancy and use of the Premises
(see Section 7.2); all interior painting; all firés and appurtenances in the Premises or exclysigeling the Premises including electrical,
lighting and plumbing fixtures; and all other ports of the Premises seen or unseen, normal weaeandxcluded. If any portion or element
of the Premises, or the other systems or equipfoemthich Tenant is responsible hereunder canndtibberepaired, Tenant shall promptly
replace the same at its sole cost and expensealtegmof whether the benefit of such replacemetenels beyond the Lease Term.

7.2 Landlord’s Obligations. Landlord shall at Landlord’s expense repair andntadn all Common Facilities, the heating, ventdatand
air conditioning system serving the Premises, tiraraon elements of the electrical, lighting and pghimg systems of the Premises and the
Common Facilities, subject to Tenant's obligatiorpay its Pro Rata Share of excess Operating @sgisovided in Article 6. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, Landlord shall repair and maintaie toof structures, foundation and major structakaments of the Project, as well as any
defects in the Tenant Improvements, without reirabarent from Tenant., and the roof, the foundatéomsstructural portions provided,
however, that Tenant shall pay the (a) the full ami@f any maintenance and repairs necessitat@sypyct, omission, conduct or activity of,
or breach of this lease by, Tenant or any of Tégafficers, agents, customers or invitees (exé@phormal wear and tear arising from
Tenants occupancy and use of the Premises) plus fiveepe(6%) of the cost thereof to reimburse Landforcoverhead). Tenant shall pay
cost of such required repairs, as Additional Renithin fifteen (15) days after receipt of a statetieom Landlord. There shall be no abaten
of rent, and no liability of Landlord, by reasonaofy injury to or interference with Tenant's busisarising from the making of any repairs,
alterations, or improvements to any portion of ffiemises or the Project. Except as provided irckertl6 (Damage and Destruction) and
Article 17 (Condemnation), Landlord shall have dbysdy no other responsibility to repair, maintainreplace any portion of the Premises at
any time. Tenant waives the right to make repditsaadlord’s expense under California Civil CodestBm 1942, or under any other law,
statute or ordinance now or hereafter in effechdlard’s obligations under this Section are no¢mtted to alter or modify in any way the
provisions of Article 12.

7.3 Performance By Landlord. If Tenant refuses or neglects to perform its maiatee obligations hereunder to the reasonable
satisfaction of Landlord, and if such failure hawaterial impact on other occupants of the Prajecin Landlord’s business interests, Landlorc
shall have the right (but not the obligation), uploree (3) days’ prior notice to Tenant, to enter Premises and perform such repairs and
maintenance on behalf of Tenant. Landlord shadl bsve the right (but not the obligation), uponrtyefour (24) hours’ notice to Tenant, to
correct or remove any dangerous or hazardous ¢ondib repair the heating, ventilation, air cofadiing or plumbing systems, to correct,
repair or bring into legal compliance any fire ¢her life safety systems of the Premises, andgairer replace any broken interior glass or
glazing. Landlord shall not be liable to Tenantdar loss or damage to Tenant’s merchandise, &gtwr other property or to Tenant's
business in connection with Landlord’s performahessunder, and Tenant shall pay Landlsmbsts plus five percent (5%) of such amoun
overhead, upon presentation of a statement thergokdditional Rent. Tenant shall also pay intea¢she rate provided in Section 22.4 from
the date thirty (30) days after Landlord’s invofoe such repairs to the date paid by Tenant.

8. REAL PROPERTY TAXES.

8.1 Payment of Excess Real Property Taxes by Tenanfenant shall pay all Real Property Taxes applicibtde Premises during the
Lease Term that exceed, during any calendar yeaR#al Property Taxes for the Base Year identifiecglection 1.7. If the Premises are not
separately assessed, a share of the tax billrtblaides the Premises shall be allocated to theiBesnSuch share shall be equitably determine
by Landlord based upon the Rentable Square Foofatpe Premises compared to the total Rentabler8dt@otage covered by the tax bill, the
respective valuations assigned in the assess@tksheet, or other reasonably available infolmnafTenant shall pay such obligation for exc
Real Property Taxes to Landlord, to the extent sudiyation exceeds any amount thereof impoundetkuSection 4.4, within fifteen
(15) days after receipt of a statement from Lardllor

8.2Real Property Taxes Defined‘Real Property Taxesheans all taxes, assessments, levies, fees andgotrernmental charges levi
on or attributable to the Premises or any parttbieincluding without limitation: (a) real propgriaxes and assessments levied with respect t
all or a portion of the Premises, (b) assessmehtgges and fees charged by governmental agenaigstricts for services or facilities
provided to the Premises, (c) transfer, transagctiemtal, gross receipts, license or similar taxesharges measured by rent received by
Landlord, excluding any federal or state incomanéhise, estate or inheritance taxes of Landlai)dakes based upon a reassessment of the
Premises due to a transfer or change of ownerahip(e) any assessment, charge or fee that isstitstdin whole or in part for any tax now
previously included within the definition of Realdperty Taxes. If



Landlord elects to contest an assessment of anlyfReperty Taxes, Landlord shall have the rightetmover its actual costs of such contest
(including attorneys’ fees and costs) as part &l Reoperty Taxes, but only to the extent suchestritas resulted in a reduction of Real
Property Taxes. Tenant shall not be entitled tdoiveefit of any reduction, refund, rebate or craditruing or payable to Landlord prior to the
commencement of or after the expiration or othenteation of the Lease Term unless applicable toope encompassed by the Lease Term c
any extensions thereof; in which case Tenant &leadintitled to a proportionate share of such reaftte deduction of Landlord’s expenses
incurred in connection with the acquisition therédbtwithstanding the definition of Real PropertgX€s set forth in Section 8.2 hereof, exces
Real Property Taxes shall not include any tempooayermanent supplemental assessments arisinglfaoliord’s installation of tenant
improvements in space other than the Premises.

8.3Personal Property TaxesTenant shall pay prior to delinquency all taxesrghd against trade fixtures, furnishings, equipnoerany
other personal property belonging to Tenant. Teshall attempt to have such personal property tagpdrately from the Premises. If any s
taxes on Tenard’personal property are levied against LandlorthePremises, or if the assessed value of the Besiis increased by inclus
of a value placed upon such personal property offit then: (a) Landlord, after written notice ®na@nt, shall have the right to pay the taxes
levied against Landlord, or the taxes based upoh Bicreased valuation, but under protest if saiested by Tenant in writing, and (b) Tenant
shall pay to Landlord the taxes levied against lanal or the taxes resulting from such increasddatan, within fifteen (15) days after
Tenant’s receipt of a written statement from Landllo

9. INSURANCE.

9.1Landlord’s Insurance. During the Lease Term, Landlord shall maintain rasge covering loss or damage to the Premisesu@irg
Tenant’s Alterations, fixtures, equipment and pres@roperty), insuring against any or all riskgbfsical loss (and including, at Landlord’s
option, flood and earthquake coverage), with tltmeand amounts of such coverage as determinedrgidrd. Said insurance shall provide
for payment of loss thereunder to Landlord or ®hblder of a first mortgage or deed of trust anPiemises. Landlord shall also maintain
during the Lease Term a policy of rental incomeairaace covering a period of one (1) year, with jgesgable to Landlord. Landlord shall also
maintain liability insurance of not less than $D@M0 combined single liability limits and $3,00000combined aggregate liability limits and
other insurance (including environmental insurarase).andlord may, at its sole option, elect to rzdim

9.2 Tenant’s Insurance.

(a) Tenant shall at all times maintain, at Tenasble expense, insurance against risks of phyisalin an amount adequate to

cover the cost of replacement of all of Tenant'®#Adtions, trade fixtures, equipment and persor@qrty. Such policy may be in form of a
“special form” insurance policy and shall be issbgdan insurance company approved by Landlord] shhate Landlord and Landlord’s lender
as loss payee as their interests may appear, asiceEBharma shall provide that no cancellation ducéon in coverage shall be effective until
thirty (30) days after written notice to LandlonddalLandlord’s lender. Tenant shall deliver a cixdife evidencing such insurance to Landlord
and a renewal or binder at least twenty (20) daigs fo expiration. Tenant acknowledges that Lardikinsurance is not intended to cover
Tenant’s Alterations, trade fixtures, equipment] aersonal property. Provided, however, that adland’s sole election, Landlord may obtain
at Tenant's expense any or all of the insurancerie=s] in this Section.

(b) Tenant shall, at Tenasatsole cost and expense, provide comprehensiveajdiadility insurance, providing customary covge
for covering and indemnifying Landlord and suchestherson related to Landlord covered by a stancamtprehensive general liability
insurance policy, and their respective successuatsaasigns (together with, at Landlord’s electieamdlord’s lender), as additional insureds,
quantified by a standard commercial general ligbpolicy) arising from personal injury, death &g out of physical bodily injury, and/or
property damage occurring in or about the Prermiséise Project during the period of Tenant’'s posises(actual and/or constructive) at the
Premises. The initial limits of such insurance khalat least $2,000,000 per occurrence. Tenafitalka, at its sole cost and expense, obtain
workers’ compensation insurance for the proteatibits employees such as will relieve Landlord bfiability to such employees for any and
all accidents that may arise on or about the Piesros the Project. If Tenant’s use of the Premiseslves any use, generation, manufacturing
storage or disposal of any Hazardous Material#,any of Tenant's activities increases any riskanof liability to Tenant or Landlord under
Hazardous Materials Laws, at Landlord’s requestan¢ shall carry such environmental insurance asheaequired by Landlord or
Landlord’s lenders. All insurance required to beiea by Tenant shall be primary and noncontribptorany insurance carried by Landlord,
regardless of the absence of negligence or otlitrdaTenant for alleged injury, death and/or pdp damage.

(c) Each policy of insurance required to be carbigd enant hereunder shall: (i) contain contracliasility endorsements and
provisions or endorsements such that insured lasaesed by Tenant are not excluded from Landlardigerage, (i) provide that no
cancellation or reduction in coverage shall beatiife until thirty (30) days after written noticg Benant to Landlord and Landlord’s lender,
and (iii) be issued by an insurer licensed in @atifa and reasonably approved by Landlord, andh@gmount of such insurance shall not |
Tenant’s liability nor relieve Tenant of any obliigam hereunder. Tenant shall be responsible fopthenent of the full amount of any
deductible or self-insured retention on its insearPrior to the Commencement Date, Tenant shilede certificate evidencing all such
insurance to Landlord. Tenant shall deliver a readew binder of such policy prior to expiration thef. Tenant shall, at Tenant's expense,
maintain such other liability insurance as Tena#rds necessary to protect Tenant.
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9.3 Payment of Insurance Premium Increases and Deductiés. Tenant shall pay directly all premiums for its lidl insurance
required under Section 9.2 and for all other inscealTenant elects to carry. Tenant shall pay therance premiums or, where applicable, its
share thereof as equitably determined by Landfordhe insurance policies carried or obtained bpdlord described in this Article in excess
of the premiums payable during the Base Year dasdrin Section 1.7, but only if such increase ésrdsult of lender requirements or general
rate increases. If the Lease Term expires befaextpiration of any such insurance policy, Tendimtsility for premiums shall be prorated on
an annual basis. Tenant shall pay such obligatioexXcess insurance costs to Landlord, to the exterh obligation exceeds any amount
thereof impounded under Section 4.4, within fifté&s) days after receipt of a statement from Lartilf any insurance policy maintained by
Landlord covers improvements or real property othan the Premises, Landlord shall reasonably hiterthe portion of the premiums
applicable to the Premises, and Tenant shall gaghiare thereof as so determined

9.4Waiver of Subrogation.Each party waives all rights of recovery againstdther party and its officers, directors, shareard,
partners, members, principals, employees, agaqsgsentatives, and other related entities andithdils, and their respective successors anc
assigns, for any claims for loss or damage to peesgroperty caused by or resulting from fire oy ather risks insured against under any
insurance policy in force at the time of such losslamage. Each party shall cause each insuraficg pbtained by it to provide that the
insurer waives all rights of recovery by way of sagation against the other party in connection \aitly damage covered by such policy.

9.5Tenant’s Use Not to Increase PremiumTenant shall not keep, use, manufacture, asses#ller offer for sale in or upon the
Premises any article that may be prohibited byhat might invalidate, in whole or in part, the eoage afforded by, a standard form of fire or
all risk insurance policy. Tenant shall pay therermmount of any increase in premiums that maghagged during the Lease Term for the
insurance that may be maintained by Landlord orPtteenises or the Project resulting from the typmaferials or products stored,
manufactured, assembled or sold by Tenant in tamBes, whether or not Landlord has consentedetsdme. In determining whether
increased premiums are the result of Tenant’s tifeedPremises, a schedule issued by the entityngdke insurance rate on the Premises
showing the various components of such rate skeatdidmclusive evidence of the items and chargesitaie up the fire insurance rate on the
Premises.

10. UTILITIES.

10.1Payment of Utilities by Tenant. Landlord shall furnish the following utilities drservices to the Premises during generally acdt
business days and hours (as determined by Landkubject to the Project Rules and Regulationdifiggaventilation and air conditioning;
electricity for normal desk top office, telecommeations, computer and copying equipment; watehtilig; routine janitorial service for the
Common Facilities, and five days per week routar@tprial service for the Premises. Tenant shalltha cost of all heating, ventilation and air
conditioning, electrical utilities and electricargices supplied to the Premises. Tenant shall makeents for all separately metered heating,
ventilation and air conditioning, and electricalities, when due, directly to the appropriate digapIf any electrical utilities or services aret|
separately metered or monitored, Tenant shall fsagro Rata Share thereof, as set forth in Sedti®nto the extent such obligation exceeds
any amount thereof impounded under Section 4.Ajinftfteen (15) days after receipt of a statenfem Landlord. Landlord makes no
representation or warranty as the suitability ef dility service for Tenant’s requirements, andsmnoh change, failure, defect, unavailability or
unsuitability shall constitute any actual or coustive eviction, in whole or in part, or entitlef@nt to any abatement or diminution of rent, or
relieve Tenant of any of its obligations under tlease. Provided, however, if Landlord reasonabtgmenes that Tenant is using any service
or utility in excess of Tenant’'s Pro Rata Shareydlard may require Tenant to pay an increased stgaugably determined by Landlord or to
install, at Tenant's sole expense, a separate rfatany utility that Is not separately meteredndlord shall not be liable in damages or
otherwise for any failure or interruption of anylitit service, and no such failure or interruptisimall entitle Tenant to terminate this Lease or
abate the rent due hereunder.

11. USE.

11.1Permitted Use.The Premises shall be used and occupied only éopéhmitted uses specified in Section 1.9. The Resgrshall not
be used or occupied for any other purposes wittimiprior written consent of Landlord. Tenant slpatlvide such information about such
proposed use as may be reasonably requested bjot@dndandlord shall not unreasonably withholddésent to any requested change of ust
and shall have the right to impose reasonableictstrs on such other use. Factors that Landlord take into account in granting or
withholding its consent shall include, without liation: (a) whether the proposed use is compatiile the character and tenant mix of the
Project, (b) whether the proposed use poses angdsed risk to Landlord or any other occupant efRloject, (c) whether any proposed
Alterations to accommodate such proposed use rdiggtrease the rental or sale value of the Premistbe d°roject, and (d) whether Tenant ha
the requisite expertise and financial ability tesessfully operate in the Premises with the propose.

11.2Compliance with Law and Other Requirements.Tenant shall not do or permit anything to be daneriabout the Premises in
conflict with all laws, ordinances, rules, regubais, orders, requirements, and recorded covenadteeatrictions applicable to the Premises,
whether now in force or hereafter in effect, inchglany requirement to make alterations or to ihat#ditional facilities required by Tenant's
occupancy or the conduct of Tenant’s business;Ta&mént shall promptly comply with the same at die £xpense,
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11.3Waste; Quiet Conduct.Tenant shall not use or permit the use of the Pyesnin any manner that tends to create waste or a
nuisance,that will cause objectionable noise orgdur that may disturb the quiet enjoyment of ather tenant in the Project.

11.4Rules and RegulationsTenant shall comply with the Rules and Regulatfonshe Project attached as Exhibit “Bl's the same m:
be reasonably amended by Landlord from time to timpen notice to Tenant.

11.5Signs.

(a) Landlord shall provide Tenant with buildingredard identification signage on the building dioggtin the building lobby and ¢
or near the main entry door to the Premises. Sigsagll include up to four (4) individual tenantmes on all building directories. No other
sign, placard, pennant, flag, awning, or advertisimatter of any kind shall be placed or maintaioe@ny exterior door, wall or window of the
Premises or in any area outside the Premises,@addgoration, lettering or advertising matter shalplaced or maintained on the glass of any
window or door, or that can be seen through thesglaf the Premises without Landlord’s prior writagpproval.

(b) Tenant shall have the non-exclusive right &cplits identification sign on the monument sigwisg the Project. All costs
associated with design, permitting, fabricatiomlagation and removal of all such signs shall benlkedoy Tenant. Such signs shall be subject t
the approval of Landlord, and shall conform tosadin criteria and other requirements of the Citygofana Beach.

11.6Parking . Tenant shall have the nonexclusive right, in canmith others, to use the parking areas of thgeBtoprovided,
however, that Tenant shall not use more than thebeu of parking spaces designated in Section hdTdnant's employees, customers,
visitors or parties making deliveries to or prowigliservice to Tenant. If no number of such spages indicated, Tenant shall not use more
than its reasonable share of parking spaces, adidrdrshall determine, in its sole and absoluterdison. Landlord reserves the right, without
liability to Tenant, to modify the parking areas designate the specific location of the parkingTfenant’s employees, customers, visitors, or
parties making deliveries to or providing serviocelenant, and to adopt reasonable rules and régnsdor use of the parking areas.

If Tenant's employees, customers, visitors, oripannaking deliveries to or providing services #mant are occupying/utilizing any parking
spaces in excess of the number of parking spacggndged in Section 1.11, then any of the aforeioeatl in excess of this number will be
required to park offsite. Requiring its employeasstomers, visitors or parties making deliveriesrtproviding service to Tenant to park off:
will be the responsibility of Tenant. Landlord dHzdve the right but not the obligation to moniémd/or enforce this process. If Landlord, in its
sole discretion, decides to implement a programaoage the parking, Tenant shall promptly payeissonable share of the cost of
implementing this program.

11.7Entry by Landlord. Tenant shall permit Landlord and Landlord’s ageotsnter the Premises at all reasonable timestfpoathe
following purposes: (a) to inspect the Premisektdlsupply any services or to perform any mainteeaobligations of Landlord, including the
erection and maintenance of such scaffolding, casofences, and props as may be required, (cht@rauch improvements, replacements or
additions to the Premises or the Project as Laddleems necessary or desirable, (d) to post naifaesnresponsibility, (e) to place any usual
or ordinary “for sale” signs, or (f) within six (8)onths prior to the expiration of this Lease, fmcp any usual or ordinary “for lease” signs. No
such entry shall result in any rebate of rent gr la@bility to Tenant for any loss of occupationauiet enjoyment of the Premises. Landlord
shall give reasonable notice to Tenant prior to@myy except in an emergency or unless Tenanecusst the time of entry. After not less
than twenty-four (24) hours notice, if Tenant i$ personally present to open and permit an entoytime Premises, at any time when for any
reason an entry therein shall be necessary or psitste, Landlord or Landlord’s agents may enterstime by a master key, or may forcibly
enter the same without rendering Landlord or sygnts liable therefor, and without in any mannéeaing the obligations and covenants of
this Lease. Nothing herein contained, however | &leatleemed or construed to impose upon Landloydbhahgation, responsibility or liability
whatsoever for the care, maintenance or repal@Premises or any part thereof, except as othewspiscifically provided herein.

12. ACCEPTANCE OF PREMISES; NONLIABILITY OF LANDLORD; D ISCLAIMER.

12.1Acceptance of Premise®By taking possession hereunder, Tenant acknowlettigé s has examined the Premises and accepts the
condition thereof. Tenant acknowledges and agtestd andlord has no obligation to improve the Pemsiother than as set forth specificall
this Lease, if at all. In particular, Tenant ackiedges that any additional improvements or alterstineeded to accommodate Tenant's
intended use shall be made solely at Tenant'scastand expense, and strictly in accordance Wwihréquirements of this Lease (including the
requirement to obtain Landlord’s consent therata)ess such improvements and alterations are sgadbifrequired of Landlord. Landlord
shall have no responsibility to do any work reggdiiveder any building codes or other governmentglirements not in effect or applicable at
the time the Premises were constructed, includiitigoat limitation any requirements related to sklém retrofitting, seismic structural
requirements, accommodation of disabled persornsazardous materials. Landlord shall be under figation to provide utility, telephone or
other service or access beyond that which exidtsea®remises as of the date of this Lease, ubhbsdlord specifically agrees in writing to
provide the same. If it is anticipated that Tenaititbe doing any Alterations or installations prim taking occupancy, any delays encounterec
by Tenant in accomplishing such work or obtaining eequired permits therefor shall not delay thenGencement Date or the date that
Tenant becomes liable to pay rent, or the datelihadllord



may effectively deliver possession of the PremiseBenant. By taking possession hereunder, Terckmioavledges that it accepts the square
footage of the Premises as delivered and as statbas Lease. No discovery or alleged discovetgrasuch acceptance of any variance in suc
square footage as set forth in this Lease (or ynpgaposal, advertisement or other descriptionetbrshall be grounds for any adjustment in
any element of the rent payable hereunder, unleds adjustment is initiated by and implemented bpdlord in writing. Landlord has
provided or will provide Tenant with Landlord’s nsemement and calculation of the leased squaredeqisor to execution of the Lease.

12.2Landlord’s Exemption From Liability. Landlord shall not be liable for injury to Tenanssiness or loss of income therefrom, or
for personal injury or property damage that magstained by Tenant or any subtenant of Tenanlhedr respective employees, invitees,
customers, agents or contractors or any other pénsor about the Premises, caused by or resultorg fire, flood, earthquake or other natural
disaster, or from steam, electricity, gas, watenaar, that may leak or flow from or into any pafthe Premises, or from the breakage, leakag
obstruction or other defects of pipes, sprinklaises, appliances, plumbing, air-conditioning, ligly fixtures or computer equipment or
software, whether such damage or injury result: fconditions arising upon the Premises or uponrqgibgions of the Project, or from other
sources, and regardless of whether the cause bfdamage or injury or the means of repairing theeses inaccessible to Tenant. Landlord
shall not be liable for any damages to propertioopersonal injury or loss of life arising fromyaase, act or failure to act of any third parties
(including other occupants of the Project) occuyiim, or about the Premises or in or about thedetdjncluding without limitation the crimin,
acts of any third parties). Landlord shall notiadle for any latent defect in the Premises ohaRroject. All property of Tenant kept or stored
on the Premises shall be so kept or stored aigkef Tenant only, and Tenant shall indemnify,tpod, hold harmless and defend Landlord
Landlord’s officers, directors, shareholders, parshmembers, principals, employees, agents, repas/es, and other related entities and
individuals, and their respective successors asigas, from and against any claims arising outashdge to the same, including subrogation
claims by Tenant’s insurance carriers.

12.3No Warranties or Representations.

(a) Neither Landlord nor Landlord’s agents make waayranty or representation with respect to théability or fitness of the space
for the conduct of Tenant's business, or for afeopurpose.

(b) Neither Landlord nor Landlord’s agents make aayranty or representation with respect to anygoténants or users that may
or may not construct improvements, occupy spa@woduct business within the Project, and Tenargbheacknowledges and agrees that it is
not relying on any warranty or representation netpthereto in entering into this Lease. Notwithstiag the foregoing, Landlord shall exercise
its business judgment to select other tenantseoPtioject whose uses thereof are not incompatititethe Tenant's use of its Premises as a
corporate headquarters, nor whose presence inrdiiecPwould material diminish the reputation ofiat. Such standard shall be applied a
time Landlord leases such other space, it beingstolod that Landlord may not have the legal righgontrol future changes in such other
tenants’ uses, and that Landlord cannot be resplenfsir changes in reputations or public percetiofiTenant or such other tenants.

(c) Landlord specifically disavows any oral reprasgions made by or on behalf of its employeesntgand independent
contractors, and Tenant hereby acknowledges amgsiginat it is not relying and has not relied op@nal representations in entering into this
Lease.

(d) Landlord has not made any promises or repratiens, expressed or implied, that it will renewtead or modify this Lease in
favor of Tenant or any permitted transferee of Tenaxcept as may be specifically set forth heogim a written instrument signed by both
parties amending this Lease.

(e) Notwithstanding that the rent payable to Lardileereunder may at times include the cost of geardice or other security
measures, it is specifically understood that Lartttoes not represent, guarantee or assume rebjionghat Tenant will be secure from any
damage, injury or loss of life because of such dgsarvice. Landlord shall have no obligation te@himaintain or provide such services, which
may be withdrawn or changed at any time with ohwiit notice to Tenant or any other person and withability to Landlord. To induce
Landlord to provide such service if Landlord eldot#ts sole discretion to do so, Tenant agrees(thaandlord shall not be liable for any
damage, injury or loss of life related to the psdom or nonprovision of such service, and (ii) Limnd shall have no responsibility to protect
Tenant, or its employees or agents, from the dasywthird parties (including other occupantshe Project) occurring in, or about the
Premises or in or about the Project (including withlimitation the criminal acts of any third pag), whether or not the same could have beel
prevented by any such guard service or other dgaugasures.

12.4Keys. Tenant shall re-key the Premises at its sole qost taking possession thereof. Tenant hereby adkdges that various
persons have had access to the keys to the Premsiseyed prior to Tenant’s possession, and thadlbed disclaims all liability and
responsibility for any unauthorized distributionpmssession of such prior keys. Tenant shall pel&hdlord with four (4) copies of keys to
Premises immediately upon rekeying the Premisasariteshall rekey Premises such that Landlord’s &tasey will also unlock the primary
door to the Premises.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. (MAKE THE INDEMNIFICATION RECIPROC AL FOR TENANT)

Tenant shall indemnify, protect, hold harmless defiétnd Landlord and Landlord’s officers, directaisareholders, partners, members,
principals, employees, agents, representativesptmed related entities and individuals, and thesipective successors and assigns (collect
“Landlord’s Related Entities”), from and against



any and all claims, actions, damages, liabilitystspand expenses, including attorneys’ fees asis$ carising from personal injury, death,
and/or property damage and arising from: (a) Tésarse or occupation of the Premises or any workctivity done or permitted by Tenant in
or about the Premises (including without limitatamy storage or display of materials or merchandisether activity by Tenant in the
Common Facilities), (b) any activity, condition@ecurrence in the Premises or other area undearathieol of Tenant, (c) any breach or failure
to perform any obligation imposed on Tenant unber tease, or (d) any other act or omission of fieoaits assignees or subtenants or their
respective agents, contractors, employees, cusspingitees or licensees. Tenant’s obligation ttemnify, protect, hold harmless and defend
shall include, but not be limited to, claims basedduties, obligations, or liabilities imposed oanidlord or Landlord’s Related Entities by
statute, ordinance, regulation, or other law, saglklaims based on theories of peculiar risk amdlelegable duty. The parties intend that this
provision be interpreted as the broadest Typednmuity provision as defined McDonald & Kruse, Inc. v. San Jose Steel @8.Cal. App.

3rd 413 (1972), and as allowed by law between ditaid and a tenant. Upon notice from Landlord, Tershall, at Tenant’'s sole expense and
by counsel reasonably satisfactory to Landlordedéfany action or proceeding brought against Laddio Landlord’s Related Entities by
reason of any such claim. If Landlord or any of dland’s Related Entities is made a party to arigdiion commenced by or against Tenant,
then Tenant shall indemnify, protect, hold harmiesd defend Landlord and Landlord’'s Related Emtifiom and against any and all claims,
actions, damages, liability, costs, expenses andhalys’ fees and costs incurred or paid in coriaratith such litigation. Tenant, as a material
part of the consideration to Landlord hereundesuaes all risk of, and waives all claims againsidlard for, personal injury or property
damage in, upon or about the Premises, from ansecahatsoever, provided, however, that the indeécatibns and waivers of Tenant set fc
in this Section shall not apply to damage and liightaused (i) by the negligence or willful misahret of Landlord, and (ii) to the extent not
the fault of Tenant, its assignees or subtenantheir respective agents, contractors, employaestpmers, invitees or licensees.

14. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS.

14.1Definitions. “Hazardous Materials Lawsheans any and all federal, state or local lawsparttes, rules, decrees, orders, regula:
or court decisions relating to hazardous substam@zmrdous materials, hazardous waste, toxic aubess, environmental conditions on, under
or about the Premises, or soil and ground wateditions, including, but not limited to, the Compegisive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amenddy).S.C. §9601t seq, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ,&£0J.86901
et seq, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49.0. §1801et seq, the California Hazardous Waste Control Act, Gdalth and
Safety Code §2510@t seq, the Carpenter-Presley-Tanner Hazardous Substéwmoesint Act, Cal. Health and Safety Code §2530Geq,
the Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement &4). Health and Safety Code §2524@6seq, the Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control
Act, Cal. Water Code §13008t seq, any amendments to the foregoing, and any sirfétéeral, state or local laws, ordinances, rulesrekes,
orders or regulations. “Hazardous Materials” meamgchemical, compound, material, substance or atlad¢ter that: (a) is defined as a
hazardous substance, hazardous material, hazamdes or toxic substance under any Hazardous Mégdraw, (b) is controlled or governed
by any Hazardous Materials Law or gives rise to m@porting, notice or publication requirements eder, or gives rise to any liability,
responsibility or duty on the part of Tenant or dlmmd with respect to any third person hereunde(cpis flammable or explosive material, «
asbestos, urea formaldehyde, radioactive matewialear medicine material, drug, vaccine, bactefras, hazardous waste, toxic substance, c
related injurious or potentially injurious mater{ay itself or in combination with other materials)

14.2Use of Hazardous MaterialsTenant shall not allow any Hazardous Material tabed, generated, manufactured, released, sto
disposed of on, under or about, or transported ftomPremises, unless: (a) such use is specyfidatiosed to and approved by Landlord in
writing prior to such use, and (b) such use is catetl in compliance with the provisions of thisiélg. Landlord’s consent may be withheld in
Landlord’s sole discretion and, if granted, maydeoked at any time. Landlord may approve suchsubgect to reasonable conditions to
protect the Premises and Landlord’s interests. loaddnay withhold approval if Landlord determinést such proposed use involves a
material risk of a release or discharge of Hazasddaterials or a violation of any Hazardous Materizaws or that Tenant has not provided
reasonably sufficient assurances of its abilityetmedy such a violation and fulfill its obligationader this Article. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Landlord hereby consents to Tenant’s si&eage or disposal of products containing sipadintities of Hazardous Materials that are
of a type customarily found in offices and housdbdkuch as aerosol cans containing insecticidasy for copies, paints, paint remover and
the like) provided that Tenant shall handle, uswesand dispose of such Hazardous Materials afeaand lawful manner and shall not allow
such Hazardous Materials to contaminate the Pramise

14.3Compliance With Laws; Handling Hazardous Materials.Tenant shall strictly comply with, and shall maintthe Premises in
compliance with, all Hazardous Materials Laws. Trershall obtain, maintain in effect and comply witie conditions of all permits, licenses
and other governmental approvals required for Témaperations on the Premises under any Hazamladtsrials Laws, including, but not
limited to, the discharge of appropriately treattazardous Materials into or through any sanitawyeseserving the Premises. At Landlord’s
request, Tenant shall deliver copies of, or allaamdllord to inspect, all such permits, licensesapputovals. All Hazardous Materials removed
from the Premises shall be removed and transpostetlily licensed haulers to duly licensed dispéaailities, in compliance with all
Hazardous Materials Laws. Tenant shall performmapyitoring, testing, investigation, clean-up, remlpdetoxification, preparation of closure
or other required plans and any other remedial wegkiired by any governmental agency or lenderecommended by Landlord’s
environmental consultants, as a result of any
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release or discharge or potential release or digehaf Hazardous Materials affecting the Premisah@ Project or any violation or potential
violation of Hazardous Materials Laws by Tenanany assignee or subtenant of Tenant or their réspeagents, contractors, employees,
licensees or invitees (collectively, “Remedial Wrltandlord shall have the right to intervene myajovernmental action or proceeding
involving any Remedial Work, and to approve perfante of the work, in order to protect Landlord®nests. Tenant shall not enter into any
settlement agreement, consent decree or other ocomge with respect to any claims relating to HaaasdMaterials without notifying
Landlord and providing ample opportunity for Landldo intervene. Tenant shall additionally complghwthe recommendations of Landlord’s
and Tenant’s insurers based upon National FireeBtion Association standards or other applicabldadimes regarding the management and
handling of Hazardous Materials. If any preserfuture law imposes any requirement of reportingysy, investigation or other compliance
upon Landlord, Tenant, or the Premises, and if seghirement is precipitated by a transaction tactviienant is a party, including without
limitation any Transfer (as defined in Section }&fithe Lease by Tenant, then Tenant shall fulighply with and pay all costs of compliance
with such requirement, including Landlord’s attorsiefees and costs.

14.4Notice; Reporting. Tenant shall notify Landlord, in writing, withinriee (3) days after any of the following: (a) Tenhas
knowledge, or has reasonable cause to believeatiyatiazardous Material has been released, disethangis located on, under or about the
Premises, whether or not the release or discharigequantities that would otherwise be reportabla public agency, (b) Tenant receives any
order of a governmental agency requiring any Reat&tlbrk pursuant to any Hazardous Materials LawjsT€nant receives any warning,
notice of inspection, notice of violation or allegeolation or Tenant receives notice or knowledfany proceeding, investigation or
enforcement action, pursuant to any Hazardous hdéddraws; or (d) Tenant receives notice or knowkedf any claims made or threatened by
any third party against Tenant or the Premisegingldo any loss or injury resulting from Hazardddaterials. If the potential risk of any of the
foregoing events is material, Tenant shall delimenediate verbal notice to Landlord, in additionatntten notice as set forth above. Tenant
shall deliver to Landlord copies of all test resuteports and business or management plans rdduaitee filed with any governmental agency
pursuant to any Hazardous Materials Laws.

14.5Indemnity. Tenant shall indemnify, protect, hold harmless defénd Landlord and Landlord’s officers, direct@isareholders,
partners, members, principals, employees, agejisgsentatives, and other related entities andithdils, and their respective successors anc
assigns, from and against any and all liabiliteégims, suits, judgments, actions, investigatigmeceedings, costs and expenses (including
attorneys’ fees and costs) arising out of or inn@ation with any breach of any provisions of thigiéde or directly or indirectly arising out of
the use, generation, storage, release, disposarmportation of Hazardous Materials by Tenangryr assignee or subtenant of Tenant, or
respective agents, contractors, employees, licenseénvitees, on, under or about the Premiseimgliihe Lease Term or any other period of
Tenant’s actual or constructive occupancy of trenises, including, but not limited to, all foreseleaand unforeseeable consequential
damages and the cost of any Remedial Work. Anyndefef Landlord pursuant to this Section shall pedunsel reasonably acceptable to
Landlord. Neither the consent by Landlord to the, generation, storage, release, disposal or toatadipn of Hazardous Materials nor the s
compliance with all Hazardous Materials Laws skattuse Tenant from Tenant’s indemnification obliyad pursuant to this Article. The
foregoing indemnity shall be in addition to and adimitation of the indemnification provisions Afticle 13 of this Lease. Tenastbbligation:
pursuant to this Article shall survive the termioator expiration of this Lease.

14.6Entry and Inspection; Cure. Landlord and its agents, employees and contracthed] have the right (but not the obligation) ixes
the Premises at all reasonable times to insped®bimises and Tenant's compliance with the termdscanditions of this Article, or to conduct
investigations and tests. No prior notice to Tersduatl be required in the event of an emergencif,landlord has reasonable cause to believe
that violations of this Article have occurred, bifénant consents at the time of entry. In all oteses, Landlord shall give at least twenty-foul
(24) hours’ prior notice to Tenant. Landlord shedle the right (but not the obligation) to remedy siolation by Tenant of the provisions of
this Article pursuant to Section 22.3 of this Leas#o perform any Remedial Work. Tenant shall pgygn demand, all costs incurred by
Landlord in investigating any such violations otexdial violations or performing Remedial Work, plimterest thereon at the rate specified in
this Lease from the date of demand until the datd py Tenant.

14.7Termination; Expiration. Upon termination or expiration of this Lease, Tersall, at Tenant’s cost, remove any equipment,
improvements or storage facilities utilized in ceation with any Hazardous Materials and shall clg@ndetoxify, repair and otherwise restore
the Premises to a condition free of Hazardous N&seito the extent such condition is caused byahenr any assignee or subtenant of Tenar
or their respective agents, contractors, employ@essees or invitees.

14.8Exit Assessmentlf Tenant or any other occupant of the Premisegidurenant’s possession thereof has used, generated
manufactured, released, stored or disposed ofraterwr about, or transported from, the Premiseg naaterial amount of Hazardous Materials
(other than reasonable amounts of normal officgkep such as stationery supplies, inks, cleanimpkes, copier toner and the like, consis
with normal office use), then Landlord shall halre tight to require Tenant to shall cause to béopeed, at its sole expense, no later than ter
(10) days after the expiration or earlier termioatdf this Lease, an environmental assessmentEttieAssessment”) of the Premises.
Landlord agrees to allow Tenant access to the RBemnfor such purpose. The Exit Assessment mustibermed by a qualified environmental
consultant acceptable to Landlord, and shall inelsiich examinations of the Premises and the Prajedtsuch reports and testing, as may be
appropriate, in the opinion of
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such consultant and prevailing industry standaeded on the any actual or reasonably suspecteddéamaMaterial activities in or about the
Premises during Tenant's possession thereof Tlginatiof the Exit Assessment shall be addresséamallord and shall be provided to
Landlord within twenty (20) days of the expirationearlier termination of the Lease. In additiomnant’s obligations under Section 14.7,
Tenant agrees to fully implement and address etimemended actions contained in the Exit Assessragiif sole cost, within thirty (30) days
of the date thereof.

14.9Event of Default. The release or discharge of any Hazardous Mataridde violation of any Hazardous Materials LawTmnant or
any assignee or subtenant of Tenant shall be altléfaTenant under this Lease, subject to theipions of Section 21(b).

15. ALTERATIONS; LIENS.

15.1Alterations by Tenant. Tenant shall not make any alterations, additiorismprovements (“Alterations”) to the Premises witho
Landlord’s prior written consent, except for nonstural Alterations that cost $5,000 or less ardrent visible from the exterior of the
Premises. All Alterations installed by Tenant si&linew or completely reconditioned. Landlord shaille the right to approve the contractor,
the method of payment of the contractor, and thagphnd specifications for all proposed Alteratidrenant shall obtain Landlord’s consent to
all proposed Alterations requiring Landlord’s comisgrior to the commencement of any such Alteraidrenant’s request for consent shall be
accompanied by information identifying the contoaand method of payment and two (2) copies optloposed plans and specifications. All
Alterations of whatever kind and nature shall bee@honce a part of the realty and shall be suemreabwith the Premises upon expiration or
earlier termination of the Lease Term, unless Lartbtequires Tenant to remove the same as prowdadicle 20. If Tenant demolishes or
removes any then-existing tenant improvementstwrgtortions of the Premises or the Project (inalgdvithout limitation any previously-
installed Alterations), Tenant shall promptly commoe and diligently pursue to completion all Altésas then underway; provided, however,
that if Tenant fails to do so, at the election ahtdlord, Tenant shall restore the Premises anBbject to its condition and state of
improvement prior to such demolition or removal.ridg the Lease Term, Tenant agrees to providegaamt's expense, a policy of insurance
covering loss or damage to Alterations made by figrniaan amount adequate to repair or replacsdhge, naming Landlord as an additional
insured. Provided, however, Tenant may install rbtevéurniture, trade fixtures, machinery or equipini@ conformance with applicable
governmental rules or ordinances and remove the sgoon expiration or earlier termination of thisake as provided in Article 20.

15.2Permits and Governmental RequirementsTenant shall obtain, at Tenant’s sole cost and rsegeall building permits and other
permits of every kind and nature required by anyegomental agency having jurisdiction in connectidth the Alterations. Tenant shall
indemnify, protect, hold harmless and defend Lamténd Landlord’s officers, directors, shareholdpestners, members, principals,
employees, agents, representatives, and otheededatities and individuals, and their respectivecessors and assigns, from and against any
and all claims, actions, damages, liability, coatg] expenses, including attorneys’ fees and casting out of any failure by Tenant or
Tenant’s contractor or agents to obtain all requpermits, regardless of when such failure is disoed. Tenant shall do any and all additional
construction, alterations, improvements and retiofjs required to be made to the Premises anldéoPtoject, or any other property of
Landlord as a result of, or as may be triggerediiepant’s Alterations. Landlord shall have the tighdo such construction itself; but in all
instances Tenant shall pay all costs directly dir@ctly related to such work and shall indemnfigotect, hold harmless and defend Landlord
and Landlord’s officers, directors, shareholdegstiers, members, principals, employees, agemgs:sentatives, and other related entities an
individuals, and their respective successors asigias, from and against any and all claims, actidamages, liability, costs, and expenses,
including attorneys’ fees and costs, arising owrof such additionally required work. All paymentiandemnification obligations under this
Section shall survive the expiration or earliemeration of the Lease Term. Notwithstanding theefming, Landlord shall procure and pay for
all permits necessary to install the Tenant Impneests made to date or to be made as a condititredadffectiveness of this Lease.

15.3Liens. Tenant shall pay when due all claims for any wakigrmed, materials furnished or obligations inedrby or for Tenant, ai
Tenant shall keep the Premises free from any keising with respect thereto. If Tenant fails ta®aany such lien to be released within fiftee
(15) days after imposition, by payment or postifig proper bond, Landlord shall have the right (oitthe obligation) to cause such releas
such means as Landlord deems proper. Tenant styallgndlord upon demand for all costs incurred bydlord in connection therewith
(including attorneys’ fees and costs), with intégshe rate specified in Section 22.4 from thie dd payment by Landlord to the date of
payment by Tenant. Tenant will notify Landlord imitmg ten (10) business days prior to commencimg @terations, additions, improvements
or repairs in order to allow Landlord time to fdenotice of nonresponsibility.

15.4Remodel.Landlord may in the future remodel, renovate oungiEh (“remodel™all or any portion of the Project, which remodely
include the Premises. The remodeling will be denadcordance with design specifications preparetth®yroject architect and reviewed and
approved by Landlord. Copies of such specificatiwilsbe made available to Tenant, and Tenant egteaccept the same. Tenant further
agrees that Tenant will not, through any act orssioin on the part of Tenant, in any way impedegydel prevent the completion of such
remodeling in a timely manner.
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16. DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION.

16.1Partial Insured Damage.If the Premises or any building in which the Presmiare located are partially damaged or destroyadg
the Lease Term, Landlord shall make the necessaains, provided such repairs can reasonably beledad within sixty (60) days after the
date of the damage or destruction in accordandeagpiplicable laws and regulations and provided lthatlord receives sufficient insurance
proceeds to pay the cost of such repairs. In suehtgthis Lease shall continue in full force affée. If such repairs cannot reasonably be
completed within sixty (60) days after the dat¢haf damage or destruction or if Landlord does aotive sufficient insurance proceeds, then
Landlord may, at its option, elect within thirty0)3days of the date of the damage or destructigdoeed with the necessary repairs, in whick
event this Lease shall continue in full force affdet and Landlord shall complete the same withieasonable time but in no event in exce:
one hundred eighty (180) days after commencemib&ndlord does not so elect to make such repaiissuch repairs cannot be made under
applicable laws and regulations, this Lease matgiminated at the option of either party withinetin (90) days of the occurrence of such
damage or destruction.

16.2Insurance Deductible.If Landlord elects to repair any damage causedhbpnsured casualty as provided in Section 16.1amen
shall, within fifteen (15) days after receipt ofitten notice from Landlord, Tenant shall pay theskr of the full amount of any deductible
amount under Landlord’s insurance policies, or whagplicable its Pro Rata Share thereof (not teexadn either instance $15,000), in
accordance with Section 9.4 above.

16.3Uninsured Damage In the event of any damage or destruction of tleriges or the Project by an uninsured casualtgdbeof
repair of which would exceed One Fifty Hundred Téend Dollars ($150,000) repair of which, Landldndlshave the right to elect either to
repair such damage or to terminate this Lease. 8ladhion shall be exercised by written notice émdnt within thirty (30) days of such
damage or destruction.

16.4Total Destruction. A total destruction (including any destruction reqd by any authorized public authority) of eitliee Premises
or any building in which the Premises are locatesllgerminate this Lease.

16.5Partial Destruction of Project. If fifty percent (50%) or more of the rentable atddhe Project is damaged or destroyed by fire or
other cause, notwithstanding that the Premiseshmaynaffected, either Landlord or Tenant shall theeright, to be exercised by notice in
writing delivered to Landlord or Tenant as appraf&j within sixty ( 60) days after said occurrerioeslect to terminate this Lease.

16.6 Tenant’s Obligations. Landlord shall not be required to repair any injarydamage by fire or other cause, or to make astpratior
or replacement of any Alterations, trade fixtueglipment or personal property placed or instalietie Premises by or on behalf of Tenant.
Unless this Lease is terminated pursuant to thigl&r Tenant shall promptly repair, restore olaep the same in the event of damage. No
contained in this Article shall be construed agrdtation on Tenant's liability for any damage astiruction if such liability otherwise exists.

16.7Rent Abatement.If Landlord repairs the Premises or the buildingiaflamage or destruction as described in thicl&rtMinimum
Monthly Rent payable by Tenant hereunder from tte @f damage until the repairs are completed bleadiquitably reduced, based upon the
extent to which such repairs interfere with theibess carried on by Tenant in the Premises, byttonthe extent Landlord receives proceeds
from the rental income insurance described in 8edil. Landlord agrees to take all reasonablesgtemake a claim for and collect any renta
income insurance proceeds that might be available.

16.8Waiver of Inconsistent StatutesThe parties’ rights and obligations in the eventlafmage or destruction shall be governed by the
provisions of this Lease; accordingly, Tenant waitre provisions of California Civil Code Sectid®32(2) and 1933(4), and any other
statute, code or judicial decisions that granesnat a right to terminate a lease in the evedtofage or destruction of a leased premises.

17. CONDEMNATION.

17.1Condemnation of Premiseslf any portion of the Premises is taken or condedrfioe a public or quasi-public use (“Condemnatipn”
and a portion remains that is susceptible of ochopathen this Lease shall terminate as to théigroso taken as of the date title vests in the
condemnor, but shall remain in full force and efffes to the remaining Premises; provided, howetat,if the portion of the Premises affected
exceeds twenty percent (20%) of the rentable sqoatage thereof of if the parking available to @enis reduced below a ratio of three
(3) parking spaces for each one thousand (1,0G)l@eisquare feet, Tenant may terminate this Lessé the date title vests in the condemnor.
Landlord shall, within a reasonable period of timestore the remaining Premises as nearly as padébti to the condition existing prior to the
condemnation; provided, however, if Landlord reesiinsufficient funds from the condemnor for suahppse, Landlord may elect to termir
this Lease. If this Lease continues in effect,Ntieimum Monthly Rent shall be equitably adjustedsed upon the value of the Premises
remaining after the Condemnation compared to theevaf the Premises prior to Condemnation. Provitheavever, in the event of any such
partial condemnation, Landlord shall have the optmterminate this Lease entirely as of the délgevests in the condemnor. If all the
Premises are condemned, or such portion so theg tleees not remain a portion that is susceptiblecotipation, or if such a substantial portion
of the Project is condemned that it is no longemeemically appropriate to lease the Premises onetfmes and conditions of this Lease, as
reasonably determined by Landlord, then at thetieleof Landlord this Lease shall terminate ashef date title vests in the condemnor.

17.2Condemnation of Parking Area.If all or any portion of the parking area in theject is condemned such that the ratio of the total
square footage of parking and other Common Faslitompared to the total rentable building squaséafie of the Project is reduced to a ratic
below two to one, then at the election of Landlitrid Lease shall terminate as of the date titlésviesthe condemnor.
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17.3Condemnation Award. All compensation awarded upon any such partiabtal Condemnation shall be paid to Landlord andaf¥
shall have no claim thereto, and Tenant herebyagably assigns and transfers to Landlord any tigicompensation or damages by reason ¢
any such Condemnation. Provided, however, that fitestall have the right to claim and recover fréva ¢condemning authority, but not from
Landlord, such compensation as may be separatelydad or recoverable by Tenant in Tenant’s ownt ghaccount of any damage to
Tenant’s business by reason of the Condemnatiomamtcount of any cost that Tenant may incurinawing Tenant’s merchandise,
furniture, fixtures, leasehold improvements andigapent. If this Lease is terminated, in whole opart, in accordance with this Article as a
result of a Condemnation, Tenant shall have narcfar the value of any unexpired term of this Lease

18. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING.

18.1Landlord’s Consent Required. Tenant shall not voluntarily or involuntarily assjgublease, mortgage, encumber, or otherwise
transfer all or any portion of the Premises oiniterest in this Lease (collectively, “Transfer’jthout Landlord’s prior written consent, which
consent Landlord may withhold in its absolute détion, but Landlord will not unreasonably withhotindition or delay such consent. In
addition, Landlord may withhold its consent untdnant has complied with the provisions of SectiBi? and 18.3. Any attempted Transfer
without Landlord’s written consent shall be voiddashall constitute an Event of Default under théage. If Tenant is a corporation, any
cumulative Transfer of fifty percent (50%) or mafethe voting stock of such corporation shall cdost a Transfer requiring Landlord’s
consent hereunder; provided, however that thiseseetshall not apply to any corporation whose stoghublicly traded. If Tenant is a
partnership, limited liability company, trust ohet entity, any cumulative Transfer of fifty pert€b0%) or more of the partnership,
membership, beneficial or other ownership interdssgein shall constitute a Transfer requiring Uardls consent hereunder. Tenant shall not
have the right to consummate a Transfer or to idLendlord’s consent to any Transfer if any Ev@ribefault has occurred and is continuing
or if Tenant or any affiliate of Tenant is in deftaunder any lease in the Project.

18.2Landlord’s Election. Tenant's request for consent to any Transfer sfeadiccompanied by a written statement setting theth
details of the proposed Transfer, including the @anusiness and financial condition of the prospectransferee, financial details of the
proposed Transfer (e.g., the term and the rensaodrity deposit payable), and any other relattnimation that Landlord may reasonably
require. Landlord shall have the right: (a) to Witld consent to the Transfer, if reasonable, (Igrémt consent, (c) to terminate this Lease as t
the portion of the Premises affected by any propdsansfer, in which event Landlord may enter iatease directly with the proposed
Transferee, or (d) to consent on the condition ltlaaidlord be paid, as Additional Rent hereundéy fiercent (50%) of all subrent or other
consideration to be paid to Tenant under the terfitise Transfer in excess of the total rent duetweder (including, if such Transfer is an
assignment or if such Transfer is to occur direotlyndirectly in connection with the sale of arssats of Tenant, fifty percent (50%) of the
amount of the consideration attributable to thensfar of the Lease, as reasonably determined bgllbad) after deducting Tenant’s costs
related to marketing the space for sublease, lgasimmissions, free-rent, tenant improvements anerdeasing concessions provided by
Tenant to the Transferee. Landlord may requirepemnitted subtenant to make rental payments dyréetLandlord, in the amount of rent due
hereunder. The grounds on which Landlord may ressdgrwithhold its consent to any requested Tranisigude, without limitation, that:
(i) the proposed Transferee’s contemplated uskeoPremises following the proposed Transfer is@easonably similar to the use of the
Premises permitted hereunder, (ii) in Landlord@sanable business judgment, the proposed Trandéedeesufficient business reputation or
experience to operate a successful business ¢fpkreand quality permitted under this Lease, ifiiil.andlord’s reasonable business judgment,
the proposed Transferee lacks sufficient net wavtirking capital, anticipated cash flow and othefi¢ations of financial strength to meet all
of its obligations under this Lease, (iv) the prega Transfer would breach any covenant of Landiesgecting a radius restriction, location,
use or exclusivity in any other lease, financingeagent, or other agreement relating to the Progeet (v) in Landlord’s reasonable business
judgment, the possibility of a release of Hazarddaserials is materially increased as a resulhefTransfer or if Landlord does not rece
sufficient assurances that the proposed Transfexe¢he experience and financial ability to remadyolation of Hazardous Materials and to
fulfill its obligations under Articles 13 and 14 tonnection with any such Transfer, Landlord shalle the right to require Tenant, at Tenant’
sole cost, to cause environmental testing meetiagaquirements of an Exit Assessment describ&éation 14.8 to be performed. Landlord
need only respond to any request by Tenant herewvitlén a reasonable time of not more than ten finess days after receipt of all
information and other submission required in cotinaavith such request.

18.3Costs; Transfer FeeTenant shall pay all costs and expenses in commegtith any permitted Transfer, including any restate
brokerage commissions due with respect to the TeariBenant shall pay the reasonable attornfees and costs incurred by Landlord and
to reimburse Landlord for costs and expenses iadurr connection with any request by Tenant fordlard’s consent to a Transfer the total
sum of which will not exceed $500. Such fee shaltlblivered to Landlord concurrently with Tenamgguest for consent.

18.4Assumption; No Release of TenanfAny permitted transferee shall assume in writiigobligations of Tenant under this Lease,
utilizing a form of assumption agreement providedgpproved by Landlord, and an executed copy df sissumption agreement shall be
delivered to Landlord within fifteen (15) days aftee effective date of the Transfer. The takingpo$session of all or any part of the Premises
by any such permitted assignee or subtenant shradititute an agreement by such person or entig$ome without limitation or qualification
all of the obligations of Tenant under this Leasmswithstanding any failure by such person to ei@the assumption agreement required
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in the immediately preceding sentence. No permifteshsfer shall release or change Tersptimary liability to pay the rent and to perfoatf
other obligations of Tenant under this Lease. Lamtis acceptance of rent from any other persomisarwaiver of any provision of this Article
or a consent to Transfer. Consent to one Trank&dl 8ot constitute a consent to any subsequemtstea. If any transferee defaults under this
Lease, Landlord may proceed directly against Tewdthbut pursuing remedies against the transfdraedlord may consent to subsequent
Transfers or modifications of this Lease by Teratransferee, without notifying Tenant or obtainitsgconsent, and such action shall not
relieve Tenant of its liability under this Leaseilexcluding any increases in such liability sustircreased rent or extensions of the Term
than pursuant to an exercise of the Option).

18.5No Merger. No merger shall result from any Transfer pursuarhis Article, any surrender by Tenant of its et under this Leas
or any termination hereof in any other manner.ny such event, Landlord may either terminate angllssubleases or succeed to the intere
Tenant thereunder.

18.6Reasonable RestrictionTenant acknowledges that the restrictions on Teartgintained herein are reasonable restrictions for
purposes of Section 22.2 of this Lease and Caldo@ivil Code Section 1951.4.

19. SUBORDINATION; ATTORNMENT,; ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE.

19.1Subordination. This Lease is junior and subordinate to all grol@asges, mortgages, deeds of trust, and other semgiruments
now or hereafter affecting the real property ofethihe Premises are a part, and to all advances prathe security thereof, and to all
renewals, modifications, consolidations, replaceiand extensions thereof. If any mortgagee, beiaeji under deed of trust or ground lessor
shall elect to have this Lease prior to the lieitMmortgage, deed of trust or ground lease, aebgvritten notice thereof to Tenant, this Leas
shall be deemed prior thereto. Tenant agrees twuex@any documents required to effectuate suchrdirtaiion or to make this Lease prior to
the lien of any such mortgage, deed of trust ougddease, as the case may be, and if Tenantdails so within fifteen (15) days after written
demand, Tenant does hereby make, constitute aaaably appoint Landlord as Tenant’s attorneyaici-and in Tenant’s name, place and
stead, to do so. Any such request for subordinadi@l be accompanied or shall contain appropagteements of nondisturbance of Tenant’s
rights of occupancy in the event of foreclosurether proceeding by which the holder of any supesigrior rights in and to the Project
acquires ownership thereof.

19.2 Attornment. If Landlord sells, transfers, or conveys its ingtri@ the Premises or this Lease, or if the sanferéclosed judicially or
nonjudicially, or is otherwise acquired, by a magdge, beneficiary under deed of trust or grounsblesipon the request and at the sole ele
of Landlord’s lawful successor, Tenant shall attiarisaid successor, provided said successor adbepBremises subject to this Lease. Tenan
shall, upon request of Landlord or any such morgadeneficiary under deed of trust or ground less@cute an attornment agreement
confirming the same, in form and substance accéptatiandlord. Such agreement shall provide, anathgr things, that said successor shall
not be (a) bound by any prepayment of more than(bnhmonth’s rent, (ii) liable for the return ofyaBecurity Deposit not actually received by
said successor, or (iii) bound by any material asinggnt of this Lease made after the later of thigaireffective date of this Lease, or the date
that such successor’s lien or interest first aroaéess said successor shall have consented taasughdment.

19.3Estoppel Certificates.Within fifteen (15) days after written request frarandlord, Tenant at Tenant’s sole cost shall etescu
acknowledge and deliver to Landlord a written diegte in favor of Landlord and any prospectivedenon or purchaser of the Project or any
part thereof, (a) that this Lease is unmodified il force and effect (or, if modified, statinge nature of such modifications and certifying
that this Lease is in full force and effect as smlified), (b) the amount of any rent paid in adwgremd (c) that there are no uncured defaul
the part of Landlord, or specifying the nature wéts defaults if any are claimed. In addition to fitnegoing, such certificate shall include
Tenant’s certification to such other matters, aa@b such form, as Landlord or such prospectivéddeonr purchaser shall reasonably require.

20. SURRENDER OF PREMISES.

20.1Condition of Premises.Upon the expiration or earlier termination of thase, Tenant shall surrender the Premises to dahd|
broom clean and in the same condition and statepafir as at the commencement of the Lease Temepéfor ordinary wear and tear that
Tenant is not otherwise obligated to remedy unldemptrovisions of this Lease. Tenant shall deliviekeys to the Premises and the Project to
Landlord. Upon Tenant’s vacation of the Premisesant shall remove all portable furniture, tradéufies, machinery, equipment, signs and
other items of personal property (unless prohibiteth doing the same under Section 20.2), and skalbve any Alterations (whether or not
made with Landlord’s consent) that Landlord mayuiegyTenant to remove. Tenant shall repair all dgerta the Premises caused by such
removal and shall restore the Premises to its poadition, all at Tenant’'s expense. Such rep&iadl e performed in a manner satisfactory to
Landlord and shall include, but are not limitedtte following: capping all plumbing, capping aketrical wiring, repairing all holes in walls,
restoring damaged floor and/or ceiling tiles, amordugh cleaning of the Premises. If Tenant failssmove any items that Tenant has an
obligation to remove under this Section when regflisy Landlord or otherwise, such items shall,atdlord’s option, become the property of
Landlord and Landlord shall have the right to remamnd retain or dispose of the same in any mawmitout any obligation to account to
Tenant for the proceeds thereof. Tenant waivedailins against Landlord for any damages to Teresulting from Landlord’s retention or
disposition of such Alterations or personal propefenant shall be liable to Landlord for Landl@&dosts of removing, storing and disposing
of such items.
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20.2Removal of Certain Alterations, Fixtures and Equipnent Prohibited. All Alterations, fixtures (except trade fixturesmeved by
Tenant pursuant to Section 20.1, machinery, equipnséggns and other items of personal property) lthadlord has not required Tenant to
remove under Section 20.1 shall become Landlonaipgrty and shall be surrendered to Landlord withRremises, regardless of who paid fo
the same. In particular and without limiting theefigoing, Tenant shall not remove any of the follggumaterials or equipment without
Landlord’s prior written consent, regardless of vaid for the same and regardless of whether time sae permanently attached to the
Premises: any power wiring and power panels; coerptelephone, telecommunications wiring, lightargd lighting fixtures; wall coverings;
drapes, blinds and other window coverings; caraetsother floor coverings; and other building ofiataequipment.

20.3Holding Over. Tenant shall vacate the Premises upon the expirati@arlier termination of this Lease, and Tersduatl indemnify,
protect, hold harmless and defend Landlord agaih&abilities, damages and expenses incurred &ydlord as a result of any delay by Tenan
in vacating the Premises. If Tenant remains in @esisn of the Premises or any part thereof afeeekpiration of the Lease Term with
Landlord’s written permission, Tenant’s occupankeglsbe a tenancy from month-to-month only, andanoénewal or extension hereof. All
provisions of this Lease (other than those relatiinthe term) shall apply to such month-to-montratecy, except that the Minimum Monthly
Rent shall be increased to 150% of the Minimum MbnRent in effect during the last month of the §ederm. No acceptance of rent,
negotiation of rent checks or other act or omissibhandlord or its agents shall extend the ExpraDate of this Lease other than a writing
executed by Landlord giving Tenant permission toai in occupancy beyond the Expiration Date utldeterms of the immediately
preceding sentence.

21. DEFAULT BY TENANT.

The occurrence of any of the following shall cotugé an “Event of Default” under this Lease by Tena

(a) Failure to pay within five (5) days of the ddtee the rent or any other monetary sums requieeelumder; provided that no more
than twice in any twelve (12) month period, sudk [ayment shall not constitute an Event of Defanttl ten (10) days after written notice by
Landlord to Tenant. Landlord’s notice describecevers intended to satisfy, and is not in additionany and all legal notices required prior to
commencement of an unlawful detainer action, incdgadvithout limitation the notice requirements ddlifornia Code of Civil Procedure
Sections 116&t seq

(b) Failure to perform any other agreement or @ttian of Tenant hereunder, if such failure contsfa thirty (30) days after
written notice by Landlord to Tenant, except athtwse Events of Default that are noncurable, irctviciase no such grace period shall apply;
provided, however, that if the nature of the oltiigiais such that more than thirty (30) days amuneed for performance, then Tenant shall not
be in default if Tenant commences performance wishich thirty (30) day period, thereafter diliggmitosecutes to completion, and in fact
effectuates a cure thereof within one hundred twé€I20) days of Landlord’s notice. Landlord’s netidescribed herein is intended to satisfy,
and is not in addition to, any and all legal naticequired prior to commencement of an unlawfuhithetr action, including without limitation
the notice requirements of California Code of CRiibcedure Sections 1181 seq

(c) Abandonment or vacation of the Premises by iigrma failure to occupy the Premises for a pedbtiventy (20) consecutive
days.

(d) If any of the following occurs: (i) a petitiog filed for an order of relief under the federari&ruptcy Code or for an order or
decree of insolvency or reorganization or rearramgyg under any state or federal law, and suchigreig not dismissed within ninety (90) di
after the filing thereof; (ii) Tenant makes a gethessignment for the benefit of creditors; (iiijezeiver or trustee is appointed to take
possession of any substantial part of Tenant'ssgsseless such appointment is vacated within yi(@Q) days after the date thereof;
(iv) Tenant consents to or suffers an attachmesw@ion or other judicial seizure of any substmart of its assets or its interest under this
Lease, unless such process is released or satigifigid ninety (90) days after the occurrence tbérd a court of competent jurisdiction
determines that any of the foregoing events isaragfault under this Lease, and a trustee is apgabto take possession (or if Tenant remains
debtor in possession), and such trustee or Teragfers Tenant's interest hereunder, then Landibadl receive, as Additional Rent, the
difference between the rent (or other consideryfiand in connection with such transfer and the patyable by Tenant hereunder. Any
assignee pursuant to the provisions of any bangyuptv shall be deemed without further act to hassumed all of the obligations of the
Tenant hereunder arising on or after the date cf sissignment. Any such assignee shall, upon deneaedute and deliver to Landlord an
instrument confirming such assumption.

(e) The occurrence of any other event that is ddexmée an Event of Default under any other provisif this Lease, or any other
lease in the Project to which Tenant (or any affdliof Tenant) is a party.

22. REMEDIES.

Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default by Tenbandlord shall have the following remedies,featwhich shall be cumulative
and in addition to any other remedies now or héeeaivailable at law or in equity:

22.1Termination of Lease.Landlord can terminate this Lease and Tersarght to possession of the Premises by givingtewninotice o
termination, and then re-enter the Premises aralgaksession thereof. No act by Landlord other ¢fieing written notice to Tenant of such
termination shall terminate this Lease. Upon teation, Landlord has the right to recover all dansaigeurred by Landlord as a result of
Tenant’s default, including:

(a) The worth at the time of award of any unpart that had been earned at the time of such tetmmalus
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(b) The worth at the time of award of the amountyjch the unpaid rent that would have been eaafited the date of termination
until the time of award exceeds the amount of tiss bf rent that Tenant proves could have beeomnaaty avoided; plus

(c) The worth at the time of award of the amountbych the unpaid rent for the balance of the Leesen after the time of award
exceeds the amount of such rental loss that Tearames could have been reasonably avoided; plus

(d) Any other amount necessary to compensate Lehfido all the detriment proximately caused by Tfsadefault, including, but
not limited to (i) expenses for cleaning, repairorgestoring the Premises, (ii) expenses forialgeremodeling or otherwise improving the
Premises for the purpose of reletting, (iii) brakdees and commissions, advertising costs and ettpenses of reletting the Premises,

(iv) costs of carrying the Premises, such as tarsarance premiums, utilities and security preioast (v) expenses in retaking possession of
the Premises, (vi) attorneys’ fees and costs, wifjdafiy unearned brokerage commissions paid imeotion with this Lease; plus

(e) At Landlord’s election, such other amountsddition to or in lieu of the foregoing as may bemited from time to time under
applicable law. As used in paragraphs (a) andifbye, the “worth at the time of awardhall be computed by allowing interest at the maxn
permissible legal rate (which currently is 10% aenum). As used in paragraph (c) above, the “watrthe time of award” shall be computed
by discounting such amount at the discount ratb@federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco atriedf award plus one percent (1%).

22.2Continuation of Lease.Landlord has the remedy described in Californial@wde Section 1951.4 (Landlord may continue the
Lease in effect after Tenant’s breach and abandoharel recover rent as it becomes due, if Tenasthwaright to sublet or assign, subject
only to reasonable limitations), as follows:

(a) Landlord can continue this Lease in full foacel effect without terminating Tenant’s right ofsgession, and Landlord shall
have the right to collect rent and other monet&grges when due and to enforce all other obligatadnrenant hereunder. Landlord shall have
the right to enter the Premises to do acts of reaarice and preservation of the Premises, to mék@tbns and repairs in order to relet the
Premises, and/or to undertake other efforts td théePremises. Landlord may also remove persaonglepty from the Premises and store the
same in a public warehouse at Tenant’'s expenseasiadNo act by Landlord permitted under this paapd shall terminate this Lease unless a
written notice of termination is given by LandldaTenant or unless the termination is decreed dyuat of competent jurisdiction.

(b) In furtherance of the remedy set forth in tBétion, Landlord may relet the Premises or anythareof for Tenant's account,
for such term (which may extend beyond the Leasen],eat such rent, and on such other terms anditionsl as Landlord may deem advisable
in its sole discretion. Tenant shall be liable indiagely to Landlord for all costs Landlord incursreletting the Premises. Any rents receive
Landlord from such reletting shall be applied te gayment of: (i) any indebtedness other thandaathereunder from Tenant to Landlord,

(ii) the costs of such reletting, including brokgeaand attorneys’ fees and costs, and the costyodléerations and repairs to the Premises, anc
(iii) the payment of rent due and unpaid hereunidetuding any previously waived or abated renty Aemainder shall be held by Landlord
and applied in payment of future amounts as theeda@come due and payable hereunder. In no evahTshant be entitled to any excess ren
received by Landlord after an Event of Default lgn@nt and the exercise of Landlord’s remedies ineieu If the rent from such reletting
during any month is less than the rent payableumeter, Tenant shall pay such deficiency to Landigrdn demand.

(c) Landlord shall not, by any re-entry or othet, be deemed to have accepted any surrender bynTehtihe Premises or Tenant's
interest therein, or be deemed to have termindiisd_ease or Tenant’s right to possession of tleenies or the liability of Tenant to pay rent
accruing thereafter or Tenant'’s liability for dareaginder any of the provisions hereof, unless laaddihall have given Tenant notice in
writing that it has so elected to terminate thisge

(d) Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the téstiscon the Transfer of the Lease set forth inchetl8 of this Lease constitute
reasonable restrictions on such transfer for papo$ this Section and California Civil Code Setti®51.4.

22.3Performance By Landlord. If Tenant fails to pay any sum of money or perfany other act to be performed by Tenant hereunde
and such failure continues for fifteen (15) daytemahotice by Landlord, Landlord shall have théntifpbut not the obligation) to make such
payment or perform such other act without waivingedeasing Tenant from its obligations. All surospgid by Landlord and all necessary
incidental costs, together with interest thereothatrate specified in Section 22.4, shall be peyablLandlord on demand. Landlord shall have
the same rights and remedies in the event of nanpat/by Tenant as in the case of default by Teimathie payment of the rent.

22.4Late Charge; Interest on Overdue PaymentsThe parties acknowledge that late payment by Teofaktinimum Monthly Rent or
any Additional Rent will cause Landlord to incuist®not contemplated by this Lease, the exact atafwwhich will be extremely difficult an
impractical to determine, including, but not lindt®, processing and accounting charges, admitii@raxpenses, and additional interest
expenses or late charges that Landlord may bereztjto pay as a result of late payment on Landdootiligations. Therefore, if any installm
of Minimum Monthly Rent or Additional Rent is rewed by Landlord more than five (5) days after the date, and without regard
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to whether Landlord gives Tenant notice of suclufaior exercises any of its remedies upon an EeEDefault, Tenant shall pay a late charge
equal to the greater of five percent (5%) of therdue amount or One Hundred Dollars ($100), as thadil Rent hereunder; provided that no
more than twice in any twelve (12) month period;tsaharge shall not apply so long as the overdusuatris paid in full within ten (10) days
after written notice by Landlord to Tenant. Thetjgarhereby agree that such late charge repreadaiisand reasonable estimate of the
damages Landlord will incur by reason of late paytiy Tenant. In addition, any amount due from Tenlat is not paid when due shall bear
interest at a rate equal to one percent (1%) dweettten current Bank of America prime or refererate or ten percent (10%) per annum,
whichever is greater, but not in excess of the maxn permissible legal rate (which currently is 1086 annum), from the date such payment
is due until the date paid by Tenant. Landlord'septance of any interest or late charge shall onstitute a waiver of Tenant's default or
prevent Landlord from exercising any other rightsemedies available to Landlord.

22.5Landlord’s Right to Require Advance Payment of Rent Cashier's Checks.If Tenant is late in paying any component of rent
more than three (3) times during the Lease Termgdlaad shall have the right, upon notice to Tentmtequire that all rent be paid three
(3) months in advance. Additionally, if any of Tetia checks are returned for nonsufficient fundsf andlord at any time serves upon
Tenant a Three Day Notice to Pay Rent or Quit (pamsto California Civil Code Sections 11étlseqor any successor or similar unlawful
detainer statutes), Landlord may, at its optiogune that all future rent (including any sums deded in any subsequent three (3) day notice)
be paid exclusively by money order or cashier'scghe

23. DEFAULT BY LANDLORD.

23.1Notice to Landlord. Landlord shall not be in default under this Leaskess Landlord fails to perform an obligation reqdiof
Landlord within a reasonable time, but in no evatdr than thirty (30) days after written notice tignant to Landlord and to each Mortgage
provided in Section 23.2, specifying the natur¢hefalleged default; provided, however, that if tla¢ure of the obligation is such that more
than thirty (30) days are required for performanien Landlord shall not be in default if Landl@@mmences performance within such 30-da
period and thereafter diligently prosecutes theesemctompletion.

23.2Notice to MortgageesTenant agrees to give each mortgagee or trustlugddr on the Premises or the Project (“Mortgagd®y)
certified mail, a copy of any notice of defaultvest upon Landlord, provided that Tenant has beewigusly notified in writing of the address
of such Mortgagee. Tenant further agrees thatnidl@rd fails to cure such default within the tirm@yided for in this Lease, then the
Mortgagees shall have an additional thirty (30)sajthin which to cure such default, or if suchaléf cannot reasonably be cured within that
time, then such additional time as may be necesgamjthin said 30-day period, any Mortgagee hammenced and is diligently pursuing the
remedies necessary to cure the default (includirignbt limited to commencement of foreclosure peatiegs if necessary to affect such cure),
in which event this Lease shall not be terminatbideasuch remedies are being so diligently pursued.

23.3Limitations on Remedies Against Landlord.In the event Tenant has any claim or cause of metiminst Landlord: (a) Tenant’s
sole and exclusive remedy shall be against Landldanterest in the Project, and neither Landlord aay partner of Landlord nor any other
property of Landlord shall be liable for any deéiecy, (b) no partner of Landlord shall be suedasmed as a party in any suit or action (excep
as may be necessary to secure jurisdiction ovedlbadh), (c) no service of process shall be madénagany partner of Landlord (except as |
be necessary to secure jurisdiction over the pestiyg), and no such partner shall be required swvan or otherwise plead to any service of
process, (d) no judgment shall be taken againspartper of Landlord and any judgment taken againgtpartner of Landlord may be vacated
and set aside at any time, and (e) no writ of etx@cwvill ever be levied against the assets of pastner of Landlord. The covenants and
agreements set forth in this Section shall be esfilile by Landlord and/or by any partner of LardlldfrLandlord fails to give any consent t
a court later holds Landlord was required to gimdar the terms of this Lease, Tenant shall belett#olely to specific performance and such
other remedies as may be specifically reservecetaifit under this Lease, but in no event shall laaddbe responsible for monetary damages
(including incidental and consequential damages$tich failure to give consent unless Landlordifeen adjudged to have acted with gross
negligence or willful misconduct.

24. GENERAL PROVISIONS.

24.1Action or Defense by TenantAny claim, demand or right of any kind by Tenardttls based upon or arises in any connection witl
the Lease or negotiations prior to its executicalldbe barred unless Tenant commences an actioaah®r initiates a legal proceeding by
reason thereof within one (1) year after the dat@occurrence of the event, act or omissiontiivthe claim, demand or right relates.
Tenant acknowledges and understands that, aftémdhbed an opportunity to consult with legal coundee purpose of this paragraph is to
shorten the time period within which Tenant wouldeswise have to raise such claims, demands otsrigh

24.2Waiver of Jury Trial. Landlord and Tenant hereby waive trial by jury inyaction, proceeding or counterclaim (including afaim
of injury or damage and any emergency and othéutstg remedy in respect thereof) brought by eitigainst the other on any matter arising
out of or in any way connected with this Lease,r#iationship of Landlord and Tenant, or Tenanse ar occupancy of the Premises.

24.3Attorneys’ Fees.If either party brings any legal action or proceeglideclaratory or otherwise, arising out of thisake, including
any suit by Landlord to recover rent or possesefdhe Premises or to otherwise enforce this Leifigelosing party shall pay the prevailing
party’s costs and attorneys’ fees and costs indurrsuch proceeding.
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24.4Authority of Tenant. Tenant represents and warrants that it has fullgp@md authority to execute and fully perform idigations
under this Lease pursuant to its governing instntjavithout the need for any further action, amat the person(s) executing this Agreement
on behalf of Tenant are the duly designated ag#nignant and are authorized to do so. Prior te@eten of this Lease, Tenant shall supply
Landlord with such evidence as Landlord may reqregsrding the authority of Tenant to enter infs thease. Any actual or constructive
taking of possession of the Premises by Tenant sbastitute a ratification of this Lease by Tenant

24.5Binding Effect. Subject to the provisions of Article 18 restrictimgnsfers by Tenant and subject to Section 248@rding transfer
of Landlord’s interest, all of the provisions ofgtease shall bind and inure to the benefit ofpthdies hereto and their respective heirs, legal
representatives, successors and assigns.

24.6Brokers. Tenant warrants that it has had no dealings withraal estate broker or agent in connection withrtagotiation of this
transaction except only the broker(s) set fortBéttion 1.12 of the Basic Lease Provisions, akdatvs of no other real estate broker or agent
who is entitled to a commission in connection wiftts transaction. Tenant agrees to indemnify, ptoteld harmless and defend Landlord
from and against any obligation or liability to payy commission or compensation to any other garging from the act or agreement of
Tenant. Tenant acknowledges that certain partaffitates or members of Landlord, or their respexofficers, directors, shareholders or
employees, may hold real estate sales person keiblioenses, and additionally may be employedsaofilord and as such may have
negotiated, or may have a financial interest iis, ttansaction.

24.7Construction. The headings and captions used in this Lease amofivenience only and are not a part of the temnasprovisions ¢
this Lease. In any provision relating to the coridacts or omissions of Tenant, the term “Tenah#llsnclude Tenant, its subtenants and
assigns and their respective agents and emplofegaise in this Lease, or in any addendum, amentoresther document related hereto, of
the terms “lessor” or “lessee” to refer to a paayhis Lease shall be deemed to be referenceandlérd and Tenant, respectively.

24.8Counterparts . This Lease may be executed in multiple copiesh @ which shall be deemed an original, but allvbfch shall
constitute one Lease hinding on all parties afigraaties have signed such a counterpart.

24.9Entire Agreement. This Lease, together with any and all exhibits eskthes, riders and addenda attached or referriedréan,
constitutes the entire agreement between the partié respect to the subject matter hereof. Thezeno oral or written agreements or
representations between the parties hereto afgthia Lease, and this Lease supersedes, canckisenges any and all previous verbal or
written negotiations, arrangements, representgtimeshures, displays, models, photographs, rengeriloor plans, elevations, projections,
estimates, agreements and understandings if arde maor between Landlord and Tenant and theirtagwiith respect to the subject matter,
and none thereof shall be used to interpret, coasttupplement or contradict this Lease. This Laaskall amendments thereto is and shall be
considered to be the only agreement between thiepdereto and their representatives and ageheseTare no other representations or
warranties between the parties, and all reliantk rispect to representations is solely based thmorepresentations and agreements contain:
in this Lease.

24.10Exhibits. Any and all exhibits, schedules, riders and addextdehed or referred to herein are hereby incatpdrherein by
reference.

24.11Financial Statements.Tenant is a publicly traded company and as suchdllioad will have access to all of Tenant's publifilgd
financial statements.

24.12Force Majeure. If either party is delayed in performing any ofdtsligations hereunder due to strikes, labor proislenability to
procure utilities, materials, equipment or transgiion, governmental regulations, weather cond#jaiots, insurrection, or war, or other event:
beyond such party’s control, then the time for perfance of such obligation shall be extended te#tent reasonably necessary as a result o
such event.

24.13Governing Law. This Lease shall be governed, construed and emfancaccordance with the laws of the State of Gatif.

24.14Joint and Several Liability. If more than one person or entity executes thiskees Tenant, each of them is jointly and severally
liable for all of the obligations of Tenant hereend

24.15Modification. The provisions of this Lease may not be modifiedroended, except by a written instrument signedllgyarties.

24.16Madification for Lender. If, in connection with obtaining financing or refincing for the Premises or the Project, Landlord’s
lender requests reasonable modifications to thiségTenant will not unreasonably withhold or délagonsent thereto, provided that such
modifications do not increase the obligations ofdm hereunder or materially and adversely affectaht’s rights hereunder.

24.17Nondiscrimination. Tenant for itself and its officers, directors, sitaslders, partners, members, principals, employegnts,
representatives, and other related entities andichdhls, and their respective successors and rssagrees to comply fully with any and all
laws and other requirements prohibiting discrinioraggainst any person or group of persons on ataguace, color, religion, creed, sex,
marital status, sexual orientation, national origincestry, age, physical handicap or medical ¢mmgliin the use occupancy or patronage o
Premises and/or of Tenant’s business. Tenant isitginnify, protect, hold harmless and defend Lamtdénd Landlord’s officers, directors,
shareholders, partners, members, principals, erapgyagents, representatives, and other relatdié®and individuals, and their respective
successors and assigns, from and against all daamaljéability incurred by Landlord in the eventasfy violation of the foregoing covenant or
because of any event of
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practice of discrimination against any such perswrgroup of persons by Tenant or its officersediors, shareholders, partners, members,
principals, employees, agents, representativesptmed related entities and individuals, and thespective successors and assigns, in
accordance with the indemnification provisions ofidle 13.

24.18Notice. Any and all notices to either party shall be intimg and personally delivered, sent by recognizmdier service (such as
Federal Express or United Parcel Service), or sgeertified mail, return receipt requested, postaepaid, addressed to the party to be
notified at the address specified in Section 1lrhtsuch other address as such party may fromtbrtime designate in writing. Notice shall be
deemed delivered on the date of personal deliweryhe date of delivery by such courier serviceghoee (3) business days after deposit in the
U.S. Mail, certified, return receipt requested.\iled, however, that any notice required pursua@alifornia Code of Civil Procedure
Sections 116%&t seqmay be given as provided in such sections.

24.19Partial Invalidity. If any provision of this Lease is determined byoart of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or mf@ceable,
the remainder of this Lease shall not be affedtedeby. Each provision shall be valid and enforteetbthe fullest extent permitted by law.

24.20Intentionally Omitted.

24.21Quiet Enjoyment. Landlord agrees that Tenant, upon paying the meehip@rforming the terms, covenants and conditidrikis
Lease, may quietly have, hold and enjoy the Presfieen and after Landlord’delivery of the Premises to Tenant and untilehe of the Lea
Term; subject, however, to the lien and provisiohany mortgage or deed of trust to which this lesigsor becomes subordinate.

24.22Recording. Tenant shall not record this Lease or any memonanuereof without Landlord’s prior written consent.

24.23Relationship of the Parties Nothing contained in this Lease shall be deemearbostrued as creating a partnership, joint venture,
principal-agent, or employer-employesationship between Landlord and any other pemantity (including, without limitation, Tenant) as
causing either party hereto to be responsible yrveay for the debts or obligations of such othespe or entity.

24.24 Intentionally Omitted.

24.25Rights of Redemption Waived.Tenant hereby expressly waives any and all rightedemption under any present or future laws
in the event Tenant is evicted or dispossessedrfpicause, or in the event Landlord obtains pogses$the Premises by reason of Tenant's
violation of any of the covenants and conditionshig Lease or otherwise.

24.26Time of the EssenceTime is of the essence of each and every provisidhis Lease.

24 .27Transfer of Landlord’s Interest. In the event of any transfer or transfers of Lardilinterest in the Premises, other than a tra
for security purposes only, the transferor shalhbsmatically relieved of any and all obligatiam liabilities on the part of the Landlord
accruing from and after the date of such trangferyided, however, that any funds in the handsasfdlord at the time of such transfer in wt
Tenant has in interest shall be turned over tdrtesferee and any amount then due and payablertant by Landlord under any provisions of
this Lease shall be paid to Tenant, if being inezhldereby that the covenants and obligations auedan this Lease on the part of Landlord
shall, subject as aforesaid, be binding on Landlidsdsuccessors and assigns, only during andsjpex of their respective successive period o
ownership. Tenant agrees to look solely to Landéoedtate in the Premises (or the proceeds thefeotfie satisfaction of any remedy of
Tenant for the collection of a judgment (or othetigial process) requiring the payment of money agdlord in the event of any default by
Landlord hereunder, and no other property or aggdtandlord shall be subject to levy, executiorotiter enforcement procedure for the
satisfaction of Tenant’s remedies under or witlpees to this Lease, the relationship of Landlord @enant hereunder, or Tenant’s use or
occupancy of the Premises.

24.28Waiver. No provision of this Lease or the breach thereafldie deemed waived, except by written conseth@farty against
whom the waiver is claimed. A waiver of any suchdmh shall not be deemed a waiver of any precaatisgcceeding breach of the same or
any other provision. No delay or omission by Landlm exercising any of its remedies shall impaibe construed as a waiver thereof, unless
such waiver is expressly set forth in a writingngid by Landlord. The subsequent acceptance ohsratinder by Landlord shall not be dee
to be a waiver of any preceding breach by Tendh&rahan the failure of Tenant to pay the particuéntal so accepted, regardless of
Landlord’s knowledge of such preceding breach atithe of acceptance of such rent.

25. TENANT IMPROVEMENTS.

25.1AS IS; Construction. Tenant shall take possession of the Premises asits condition; notwithstanding the foregoingopto the
Commencement date, Landlord shall repair the camgbe Premises and replace the stained ceilieg ith the conference room area.

25.2Moving Allowance . Tenant shall be reimbursed by Landlord (withinda@s of receipt by Landlord of the documentatienfsrth
herein) up to $2.00 (the “Moving Allowance “) pentable square foot (which based on 2,741 rentahlare feet equals $5,482.00 ) to
reimburse Tenant for the expenses incurred by Tidoathe cost of Tenant to move to the PremiseBarirenant’s cost for furniture, fixtures
and equipment for the Premises; said credit or gayro be provided upon Tenant providing to Landii@asonable written documentation
showing the costs incurred by Tenant for such item.
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THE SUBMISSION OF THIS LEASE FOR EXAMINATION AND/OR SIGNATURE BY TENANT IS NOT A
COMMITMENT BY LANDLORD OR ITS AGENTS TO RESERVE THE PREMISES OR TO LEASE THE
PREMISES TO TENANT OR ANY OTHER PERSON. THIS LEASE SHALL BECOME EFFECTIVE AND
LEGALLY BINDING ONLY UPON FULL EXECUTION AND DELIVE RY BY BOTH LANDLORD AND
TENANT. UNTIL LANDLORD DELIVERS A FULLY EXECUTED CO UNTERPART HEREOF TO TENANT,
LANDLORD HAS THE RIGHT TO OFFER AND TO LEASE THE PR EMISES TO ANY OTHER PERSON TO
THE EXCLUSION OF TENANT.

EXECUTED , by Landlord and Tenant as of the date first emithbove.

TENANT:

Evoke Pharma, Inc., a Delaware Corpora
By: /s/ Matthew [’ Onofrio

Title: EVP, CBO

By:

Title:

LANDLORD:
BECKMAN/LOMAS, LLC, a California limited liabilitycompany

By: /s/ William Beckman 11/25/1
21



EXHIBIT “A”
FLOOR PLAN OF PREMISES;
DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT

(See Exhibit C)
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EXHIBIT “B”
RULES AND REGULATIONS

The following Rules and Regulations shall applyhte Project. Tenant agrees to comply with the sanaeto require its agents, employees,
contractors, customers and invitees to comply thiehsame. Landlord shall have the right from timérhe to reasonably amend or supplemer
these Rules and Regulations, and Tenant agreesrplg, and to require its agents, employees, cottrs, customers and invitees to comply,
with such amended or supplemented Rules and Ramsaprovided that (a) notice of such amendeduippkemental Rules and Regulations is
given to Tenant, and (b) such amended or supplehBotes and Regulations apply uniformly to allaets of the Project. If Tenant or its
subtenants, employees, agents, or invitees vialageof these Rules and Regulations, resulting jndamage to the Project or increased cos
maintenance of the Project, or causing Landlotid¢ar expenses to enforce the Rules and Regulafi@mant shall pay all such costs to
Landlord as Additional Rent. In the event of anpftiot between the Lease and these or any amendsapplemental Rules and Regulations,
the provisions of the Lease shall control.

1.  All garbage and refuse shall be disposed dfiénLiandlord-designated location outside of the sesy shall be placed in the kind of
container specified by Landlord, and shall be pregdor collection in the manner and at the timas places specified by Landlord. .
Tenant shall not burn any trash or garbage of amy ik or about the Premises. Landlord shall sujgtjtorial services to the Premises,
on a five days a week basis at no additional @x$enhant, Tenant shall not, without Landlord’s praitten consent, employ any person
or persons other than Landl('s janitorial service to clean the Premis

2. No aerial, satellite dish, transceiver, or othectbnic communication equipment shall be erectethe roof or exterior walls of tt
Premises, or in any other part of the Project, eith.andlord’s prior written consent, which Landlanay or may not provide in its sole
discretion. Any aerial, satellite dish, transcej\@rother electronic communication equipment sbalhed without Landlord prior writter
consent shall be subject to removal by Landlordhetit notice at any time and without liability tondiord.

3. No loudspeakers, televisions, phonographs, radiosther devices shall be used in a manner so las keeard or seen outside of
Premises without Landlord’s prior written consérgnant shall conduct its business in a quiet addrbr manner so as not to create
unnecessary or unreasonable noise. Tenant shalhose or permit any obnoxious or foul odors thstudb the public or other occupants
of the Project. If Tenant operates any machinempechanical equipment that causes noise or vilriiat is transmitted to the structure
or parts of the Project to such a degree as tdjeetionable to Landlord or to any other occupdrihe Project, Tenant shall install and
maintain, at Tena’'s expense, such vibration eliminators or otherais/sufficient to eliminate the objectionable naiseibration.

4. Tenant shall keep the outside areas immediatijbining the Premises clean and free from dittprsh, delivered items and other
materials to the satisfaction of Landlord. If Tentails to cause such outside areas to be mairdareequired within twelve (12) hours
after verbal notice that the same do not so conf@pant shall pay a fee equal to the greater ¢f Bibllars ($50.00) or the costs incur
by Landlord to clean up such outside ar

5. Tenant shall not store any merchandise, invgnemuipment, supplies, finished or semi-finisheadpicts, raw materials or other articles
of any nature outside the Premises without Lan(s prior written consen

6. Tenant and Tenant’s subtenants, employees,sgeritivitees shall park only the number of cdimsaged under the Lease and only in
those portions of the parking area designatechfatrpurpose by Landlord. Upon request by Landl@ethant shall provide the license
plate numbers of the cars of Tenant and Tenant{d@maes in order to facilitate enforcement of tieigulation. Tenant and Tenant’s
employees shall not store vehicles or equipmetitérparking areas, or park in such a manner alotk lany of the accessways serving
the Project and its occupan

7. The Premises shall not be used for lodging pshge cooking, or for any immoral or illegal purgss or for any purpose that will damage
the Premises or the reputation thereof. Landlosémees the right to expel from the Project any @ersho is intoxicated or under the
influence of liquor or drugs or who shall act imhation of any of these Rules and Regulations. fieshkall not conduct or permit any s
by auction on the Premises. No video, pinballimilar electronic game machines of any descripsball be installed, maintained or
operated upon the Premises without the prior writiensent of Landlorc
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10.

11.

12.
13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

Neither Tenant nor Tene's employees or agents shall disturb, solicit,amas any occupant of the Project, and Tenant el
reasonable steps to discourage others from dogae

Tenant shall not keep in, or allow to be brougtd, the Premises or Project any pet, bird oeptnimal, other than “seeing-eye” dogs or
other animals under the control of and specificaligisting any disabled pers:

The plumbing facilities shall not be used foy ather purpose than that for which they are coegtd, and no foreign substance of any
kind shall be disposed of therein. The expensenptmeakage, stoppage, or damage resulting froimlation of this provision shall be
borne by Tenant. Tenant shall not waste or useeaogssive or unusual amount of wa

If required by circumstances unique to Tenam&s and occupancy of the Premises, Tenant stelhtiFenant’s cost, such pest
extermination contractor as Landlord may direct ansluch intervals as Landlord may requ

Intentionally Omitted

Tenant shall notify Landlord no less than 2drean advance of its intentions to move freightnfture, fixtures, equipment, inventory or
other substantial items into or out of the Prem@esther portions of the Project. Tenant shaltdsponsible for repair of any damage
caused by the moving of freight, furniture or otbbjects into, within, or out of the Premises @ Broject. No heavy objects (such as
safes, furniture, equipment, freight, etc.) shalltaced upon any floor without Landlord’s prioritten approval as to the adequacy of the
allowable floor loading at the point where the algeare intended to be moved or stored. Landlorgl spacify the time of moving to
minimize any inconvenience to other occupants efRloject. Prior to Tenant moving any of the iteeferences in this paragraph, Tel
shall place plywood or fiberboard approved by taadlord over the full path of travel from the poafiioading/unloading to and from t
Premises. If Tenant is utilizing the elevator fhroa a portion of the moving, Tenant shall alwaye Landlord-approved elevator
blankets, elevator floor protection and elevattblpframe protectior

Without Landlord prior written consent, which will not be unreaably withheld, conditioned or delayed, no drapeswtscreens of ai
nature shall be installed in the Premises anddkhk doors, sashes, windows, glass doors, lightslarights that reflect or admit light

into the building shall not be covered or obstrdcteenant shall not mark, drive nails, screw ol drio, paint, or in any way deface any
surface or part of the Project. Notwithstandingftiregoing, Tenant may hang pictures, blackboardsimilar objects, provided Tenant
first confirms that doing so will not damage plumdpi wiring or other building systems. The experfseepairing any breakage, stoppage,
or damage resulting from a violation of this rutek be borne by Tenar

No electrical wiring, electrical apparatus, or didhial electrical outlets shall be installed in themises without Landlg’s prior written
approval. Any such installation not so approved agdlord may be removed by Landlord at Tenant'ssese. Tenant may not alter any
existing electrical outlets or overburden them lmelytheir designed capacity. Landlord reservesitité to enter the Premises, with
reasonable notice to Tenant, for the purpose d¢dliivey additional electrical wiring, plumbing ather utilities for the benefit of Tenant
or adjoining tenants. Landlord will direct electaigs as to where and how telephone and affixedsvéire to be installed in the Premises.
The location of telephones, call boxes, and othermnent affixed to the Premises shall be subpette prior written approval of
Landlord.

Tenant shall comply with all safety, fire pretten and evacuation procedures and regulatiordkstied by Landlord or any
governmental agenc

Tenant assumes any and all responsibility fotggting its Premises from theft, robbery andepdfye, which includes keeping doors
locked and other means of entry to the Premiseszdl

If Tenant occupies any -conditioned space, Tenant shall keep entry doaesiog onto corridors, lobby or courtyard closedlatimes.

Tenant shall not paint any wall of the Premigiglout Landlord’s prior written consent. Priorgarrendering the Premises upon
expiration or termination of the Lease, Tenantlsestore the wall to its original condition astbé Commencement Date, reasonable
wear and tear excepted. Tenant shall not affixfeooy covering to the floor of the Premises excaptpproved by Landlor

Any directory of the Project will be providedctusively for the display of the name and locatifrienants only, and Landlord reserves
the right to exclude any other names therefromepiéor the initial signage as described in theseed enant shall pay the costs of
having Tenar's name added or changed to any building directodoor signage

2



21. Landlord reserves the right at any time to edelor expel from the Project any person who, indlerd’s judgment, is in violation of any
of the Project Rules and Regulations. Landlordlstatlbe liable for damages for any error with melg@ the admission to or exclusion
from the Project of any persc

Tenant’s Initials

3



EXHIBIT C
PRELIMINARY SPACE PLAN
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Exhibit 10.15

THIRD AMENDMENT
TO
MASTER SERVICES AGREEMENT

T HISTHIRD A MENDMENT to theM ASTER SERVICE A GREEMENT (“Amendment”) is effective as of January 29, 20%nendment Effective
Date”), by and among voke P HARMA , | NC . (“Client”) and S YNTERACT HCR, | Nc. (“SynteractHCR").

RECITALS

W HEREAS, Client and SynteractHCR, Inc. (formally knownSteract, Inc.) entered into a Master ServicesAgrent dated
January 30, 2009 and subsequent Amendments, datedry 30, 2011 and November 25, 2013 (collectitledy*Agreement”); and

W HEREAS, Client and SynteractHCR wish to amend the terfitieoAgreement as set forth below.

N ow, T HEREFORE , the parties agree to amend the Agreement asvfsillo
1. Section 5(a), entitled Term, will be deleted anglaeed in its entirety with the followin

“This Agreement shall commence on the EffectiveeDareof (January 30, 2009) and shall continué demiuary 30, 2017, unless and
until terminated in accordance with this Section 5”

2. Except as expressly provided in this Amendmahtther terms, conditions and provisions of thgrdement shall apply and remain in
full force and effect

3. Each individual signing for a corporate entity hsr@ersonally warrants his or her legal authotypind that entity

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , this Agreement is executed as of the AmendmefecEfe Date

E VOKE P HARMA , | NC. SYNTERACT HCR, | NC.

By: /s/ David A. Gonyer By: /s/ Stewart Bieler
Name: David A. Gonye Name: Stewart Biele
Title: President and CE Title: President, U¢

Date: January 29, 20: Date: January 29, 20:



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1915&8jgining to the 2013 Equity Incentive
Award Plan, 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, and 2013kyee Stock Purchase Plan of Evoke Pharma, Inauofecord dated March 25, 2014,

with respect to the financial statements of EvokarPha, Inc. included in this Annual Report (FormKl)for the year ended December 31,
2013.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 25, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David A. Gonyer, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fkcvoke Pharma, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or enéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b. evaluated the effectiveness of the registsagisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; and

c. disclosed in this report any change in the teig's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabm® that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal tmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anaave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weads®s in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 25, 2014 /s/ David A. Gonyer
David A. Gonyel
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Matthew J. D’Onofrio, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fkcvoke Pharma, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or en#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatheg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b. evaluated the effectiveness of the registsagisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; and

c. disclosed in this report any change in the teig's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabm® that has materially affected, or is reasopdikély
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal tmhover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anaave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weads®s in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 25, 2014 /s/ Matthew J. D'Onofrio
Matthew J. [’ Onofrio
Executive Vice President, Chief Business Officer,
Treasurer and Secrete
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fkE@oke Pharma, Inc. (the “Company”) for the per@tted December 31, 2013 as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiothe date hereof (the “Reportf),David A. Gonyer, President and Chief Executiviider
of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Bect350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 od#drbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of teeusities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations
of the Company.

Date: March 25, 2014

/s/ David A. Gonyer

David A. Gonyel
President and Chief Executive Offic

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pl® accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.€35D, and is not being filed for purposes
of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of4,3% amended, and is not to be incorporated leyenete into any filing of the Company,
whether made before or after the date hereof, déggs of any general incorporation language in $ilioy. A signed original of this written
statement required by Section 906 has been provaittte Company and will be retained by the Compamy furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fkE@oke Pharma, Inc. (the “Company”) for the per@awed December 31, 2013, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiohe date hereof (the “Report”), |, Matthew J. Didrio, Executive Vice President, Chief

Business Officer, Treasurer and Secretary of thm@2my, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 120adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knogtd

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of teeusities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations
of the Company.

Date: March 25, 2014

/s/ Matthew J. D’Onofrio

Matthew J. [ Onofrio

Executive Vice President, Chief Business Officer,
Treasurer and Secrete

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pl® accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.€35D, and is not being filed for purposes
of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of4,3% amended, and is not to be incorporated leyeete into any filing of the Company,
whether made before or after the date hereof, déggs of any general incorporation language in $ilioy. A signed original of this written
statement required by Section 906 has been provaltte Company and will be retained by the Compamy furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon reqt



